ISSN: 2149-7893 E-ISSN: 2536-507X

# CALER CONTRACTOR OF MEDICAL SCIENCES

Indexed in the Web of Science

# Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## REVIEW

 Oral Health Status of Pediatric Oncology Patients Dila Özyılkan; Nicosia, North Cyprus

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- Comparison of the Complications of Knee Replacement Akdemir et al.; İzmir, Türkiye
- Sleep and Awake Bruxism During the COVID-19 Pandemic Çelebioğlu Genç and Orhan; Morphou, North Cyprus, Ankara, Türkiye
- Paroxetine is a Good Choice in Refractory Vasovagal Syncope Despite Tilt Training Dinç Asarcıklı et al.; İstanbul, Kocaeli, Ankara, İzmir, Çanakkale, Sivas, Zonguldak, Türkiye; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Probiotics and Food Protein-Induced Allergic Proctocolitis Avci et al.; Sinop, İstanbul, Türkiye
- COVID-19, Olfactory Dysfunction and Cognition Direybatoğulları et al.; Ankara, Türkiye
- Effects of Smoking, Alcohol Consumption, and Obesity on Bone Metabolism
  - Küçükçiloğlu and Tınazlı; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Optimal Treatment Modality for GERD Terry et al.; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Stroke in COVID-19 Kamiloğlu et al.; Nicosia, Lefke, Kyrenia, North Cyprus
- Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviors About Vaccination Granit Semavi et al.; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- Effects of Preoperative Information Methods on Anxiety Yurttutan et al.; Ankara, Türkiye
- Sacral Neuromodulation: A 5-Year North Cyprus Experience Necmi Bayraktar; Nicosia, North Cyprus









www.cyprusjmedsci.com

Official Journal of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## **EDITORIAL BOARD**

Editor-in-Chief Sonuç Büyük Department of Pathology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus sonucbuyuk@outlook.com https://ease.org.uk/member\_profile/sonuc-buyuk-5661/

## **Associate Editors**

## Amber Eker Bakkaloğlu

Department of Neurology, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus amber.eker@emu.edu.tr

## Aysa Ayalı

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, European University of Lefke, Faculty of Dentistry, Lefke, North Cyprus aysaayali@hotmail.com

## Ayşe Baha

Department of Chest Diseases, Dr. Akçiçek State Hospital; Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus dr\_aysedemir@hotmail.com

## Ayşe Ülgen

Department of Biostatistics, Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus ayseulgen1@gmail.com

## Cemal Gürkan

Turkish Cypriot DNA Laboratory, Nicosia, Cyprus Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus cemal.gurkan@gmail.com

## Cenk Conkbayır

Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus cenkconk@hotmail.com

## Emil Mammadov

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus dremilmammadov@gmail.com

## **Erol Dülger**

Vip Health Clinic, Nicosia, Cyprus drerold@yahoo.com

## İzgen Karakaya

Department of Restorative Dentistry, European University of Lefke, Faculty of Dentistry, Lefke, North Cyprus izgen96h@gmail.com

## Mümtaz Güran

Department of Medical Microbiology, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus mumtazguran@gmail.com



Publisher Contact Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Türkiye E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Publisher Certificate Number: 14521

Publication Date: October 2024 E-ISSN: 2536-507X ISSN: 2149-7893 International scientific journal published bi-annually.



Volume: **9** Issue: **5** October 2024

## EDITORIAL BOARD

## Nilüfer Güzoğlu

Department of Neonatalogy, Eastern Mediterranean University, Dr. Fazıl Küçük Faculty of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus nilufer.guzoglu@emu.edu.tr

## Özüm Tunçyürek

Department of Radiology, Cyprus International University Faculty of Medicine; Kolan British Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus ozum.tuncyurek@neu.edu.tr

## Pınar Tunçbilek Özmanevra

Department of Otorhinolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery, PrimeMed Clinic, Kyrenia, Cyprus pinartuncbilek@gmail.com

## Ramadan Özmanevra

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Cyprus International University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus rozmanevra@gmail.com

## **Section Editors**

Ahmet Özant Private Clinic of Orthodontics, Nicosia, Cyprus ozantahmet@gmail.com

## Ahmet Özyiğit

Universitede-Integrated Clinical Practice/Clinical Skills, University of Nicosia Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus dr.ahmet@elitenicosia.com

## Ali Cenk Özay

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drcenkozay@yahoo.com

## **Ceyhun Dalkan**

Department of Pediatrics, Division of Neonatology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus dalkanc@yahoo.com

## Ersan Berksel

Cyprus Science University Faculty of Health Sciences, Kyrenia, Cyprus ersanberksel@su.edu.tr

## Eşref Çelik

Department of Medical and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus esref.celik@neu.edu.tr

## Gökçe Savtekin

Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, University of City Island Faculty of Dentistry, Famagusta, Cyprus gokcesavtekin@gmail.com

## Gülten Sucu Dağ

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University Faculty of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus sucugulten@gmail.com

## Hülya Efetürk

Department of Nuclear Medicine, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus drhulyaefeturk@gmail.com

## Hüseyin Kaya Süer

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus kaya.suer@neu.edu.tr

## Nail Bulakbaşı

Department of Radiology, Dr. Suat Günsel University of Kyrenia Hospital, Kyrenia, Cyprus nbulakbasi@yahoo.com

## Necdet Özçay

Department of General Surgery, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye necdetozcay@gmail.com

## Nedim Sezgin İlgi

Department of Anatomy, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus sezgin.ilgi@neu.edu.tr



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## EDITORIAL BOARD

## Nerin Bahçeciler

Department of Child Health and Diseases, Division of Allergy and Immunology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus nerin74@gmail.com

## Ömer Taşargöl

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus omertasargol@yahoo.com

## Özen Aşut

Department of Public Health, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ozen.asut@neu.edu.tr

## Özlem Balcıoğlu

Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## Sinem Şığıt İkiz

Department of Radiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus sinemsigit@gmail.com

## Uğurcan Balyemez

Department of Radiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ubalyemez@gmail.com

## Umut Maraşuna Department of Endocrinology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus umutmousa@yahoo.co.uk

Zeynep Taşargöl

Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus zeynepyt84@hotmail.com

## **Biostatistical Editors**

## İlker Etikan

Department of Biostatistics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus ietikan@gmail.com

## Ayşe Ülgen

Department of Biostatistics, Girne American University Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, Cyprus

## **National Advisory Board**

Ali Ulvi Önder Department of Urology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Ayşe Gökyiğit** Department of Pharmaceutical Services of the Ministry of Health, Nicosia, Cyprus

## Beste Kamiloğlu

Department of Orthodontics, Near East University School of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

## **Bülent Haydar** Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Doğan Ceyhan** Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## Düriye Deren Oygar

Department of Nephrology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

## Ender Volkan

Cyprus International University School of Pharmacy, Nicosia, Cyprus

## **Erdem Beyoğlu** Barış Mental and Neurological Disorders State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## **EDITORIAL BOARD**

**Fatma Deniz** Department of Dermatology, Girne Akçiçek State Hospital, Girne, Cyprus

**Filiz Besim** Private Clinic of Maxillofascial Surgery, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gamze Mocan Kuzey** Department of Pathology and Cytology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gönül Küçük** Department of Pediatric Surgery, Dr.Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Gülsen Bozkurt** Private Clinic of Hematology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hanife Erçal Ezgi Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Besim Department of General Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Hasan Mete İnançlı Private Clinic of Otorhinolaryngology, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Idris Deniz** Department of Forensic Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**İsmet Başar** Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Kaan Erler

Department of Orthopaedics, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Kenan Arifoğlu** Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus Kerem Teralı

Department of Medical Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Mehmet İnan** Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

Meltem Nalça Department of Radiation Oncology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Murat Uncu Department of Biochemistry, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Mustafa Kalfaoğlu** Department of General Surgery, Magusa State Hospital, Famagusta, North Cyprus

**Mustafa Taşeli** Department of Ophthalmology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Nahide Gökçora Department of Nucleer Medicine, East Mediterranian University School of Medicine, Famagusta, Cyprus

**Ozan Emiroğlu** Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Özay Önöral** Department of Protetic Medical Therapy, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, Cyprus

Serap Soytaç İnançlı Private Clinic of Endocrinology and Metabolic Diseases and Internal Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Sevda Lafcı Department of Anatomy, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## **EDITORIAL BOARD**

## Sezgin Handan

Department of Nursing, Eastern Mediterranean University School of Health Sciences, Famagusta, Cyprus

Sibel Tozaki Department of Dermatology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Songül Acar Vaizoğlu** Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Süha Akpınar Department of Radiology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Şanda Çalı** Department of Public Health, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tarık İzbul

Department of General Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, Cyprus

Tevfik Eker

Department of General Surgery, Private Magusa Medicine Center, Famagusta, Cyprus

## Tijen Ataçağ

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

**Turgay Akalın** Private Clinic of Neurology, Nicosia, Cyprus

Ülvan Özad

Department of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery, Near East University School of Medicine, Nicosia, Cyprus

## **International Advisory Board**

**A.C. Joao Lima** Department of Radiology, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA

## Aliye Özenoğlu

Department Nutrition and Dietetics, Üsküdar University School of Health Science, İstanbul, Türkiye

Alp Usubütün

Department of Pathology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

Alper Sertçelik Department of Cardiology, Sanko University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Türkiye

**Ayla Ünsal** Department Of Nursing, Ahi Evran University School of Health, Kırşehir, Türkiye

**Ayşe Nihal Demircan** Department of Opthalmology, Çukurova University School of Medicine, Adana, Türkiye

**Aytekin Besim** Private Clinic of Radiology, Ankara, Türkiye

B**engi Semerci** Department of Psychiatrist, Institute of Bengi Semerci, İstanbul, Türkiye

**Barış Doğu Yıldız** Department of General Surgery, Ankara Numune Research and Training Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

## Çağrı Büke

Department of Enfectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Yeditepe University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Cem Ertan

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Türkiye

## Cem Terzi

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## EDITORIAL BOARD

## Coşkun Yorulmaz

Department of Forensic Medicine, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Dilek Yavuz

Department of Internal Medicine and Endocrinology Section, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Ebru Yılmaz Yalçınkaya

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Research and Training Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Elif Arı Bakır

Department of Nephrology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar Training Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Egemen İdiman

Department of Neurology, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

## Emre Canda

Department of General Surgery, Dokuz Eylül University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

## Erkan Göksu

Department of Emergency Medicine, Akdeniz University School of Medicine, Antalya, Türkiye

## **Erol Baysal**

Dubai Genetic and Thalassemia Center, Dubai Health Authority, Dubai, UAE

## Fatih Köse

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

## Fazıl Tuncay Aki

Department of Urology, Head of Transplantation Unite, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Funda Tuğcu

Department of Orthodontics, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye Gökhan Berktuğ Bahadır Department of Pediatric Surgery, Mersin University School of Medicine, Mersin, Türkiye

## Gülnur Göllü Bahadır

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Gökhan Nergizoğlu

Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Gölge Acaroğlu

Private Clinic of Opthalmology, Ankara, Türkiye

## Hür Hassoy

Department of Public Health, Ege University School of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

## Hakan Altay

Department of Cardiology, Başkent University İstanbul Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Hüseyin Bakkaloğlu

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Hüseyin Mertsoylu

Department of Oncology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

## İlhami Kuru

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Kemal Bakır

Department of Pathology, Gaziantep University School of Medicine, Gaziantep, Türkiye

## **Kemal Dolay**

Department of General Surgery, Bezmialem Vakif University, Bezmialem Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye



Volume: **9** Issue: **5** October 2024

## EDITORIAL BOARD

## Kürşad Türksen

Samuel Lunenfeld Research Institute, Mount Sinai Hospital University of Toronto, Toronto, Canada

## Lale Tokgözoğlu

Department of Cardiology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Levent Sennaroğlu

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Mazhar Tokgözoğlu

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Melih Atahan Güven

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Mustafa Camgöz

Department of Life Sciences, Imperial Collage School of Natural Sciences, London, United Kingdom

## Müfit Akyüz

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Karabük University School of Medicine, Karabük, Türkiye

## Müslime Akbaba

Department of Opthalmology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Mustafa Sertaç Yazıcı

Department of Urology, Hacettepe University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Neval Duman

Department of Internal Medicine-Nephrology, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Nihat Yavuz

Department of General Surgery, İstanbul University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Nilgün Kapucuoğlu

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Nilüfer Rahmioğlu

Department of Genetics, University of Oxford School of Medicine, Oxford, United Kingdom

## Nuray Başsüllü Kara

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Nuri Özgirgin

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Bayındır Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

## Orçun Şahin

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Başkent University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Oytun Erbaş

Department of Experimental Medicine, The Scientific and Technological Research Council (TUBITAK-Martek) of Türkiye, IL, USA

## Özgür Deren

Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Division of Maternal Fetal Medicine, Hacettepe University, Ankara, Türkiye

## Özgür Özyılkan

Department of Oncology, School of Medicine, Başkent University Adana Search and Practise Hospital, Adana, Türkiye

## Peyman Yalçın

Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Pınar Zeyneloğlu

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Başkent University, Ankara Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

## **Ralph Tufano**

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Johns Hopkins Medicine, Baltimore, USA



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## EDITORIAL BOARD

## Rahmi Kılıç

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kırıkkale University School of Medicine, Kırıkkale, Türkiye

## Salih Marangoz

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, Acıbadem Mehmet Ali Aydınlar University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Selçuk İnanlı

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Head and Neck Surgery, Marmara University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Serap Öztürkcan

Department of Dermatology, Celal Bayar University School of Medicine, Manisa, Türkiye

## Serkan Durdu

Department of CardiovascularSurgery, Cebeci Kardiac Center, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Serkan Sertel

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, University of Heidelberg Neuenheimer Feld, Heidelberg, Germany

## Serpil Altındoğan

Department of Oral Maxillofascial Surgery, Ankara University School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

## Server Serdaroğlu

Department of Dermatology, İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Şaziye Şahin

Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Gazi University Dental School of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

## Teslime Atlı

Department of Geriatrics, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Tolga Karcı

Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İzmir Şifa University İzmir, Türkiye

## Ufuk Ateş

Department of Pediatric Surgery, Ankara University School of Medicine, Ankara, Türkiye

## Ufuk Erginoğlu

Department of Neurological Surgery, University of Wisconsin, School of Medicine and Public Health, Madison, USA

## Vedat Göral

Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul Medipol University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

## Vural Fidan

Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Yunus Emre State Hospital, Eskişehir, Türkiye

## Yeşim Sağlıcan

Department of Pathology, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

Please refer to the journal's webpage (https://cyprusjmedsci.com/) for "Aims and Scope", "Instructions to Authors" and "Ethical Policy".

The editorial and publication process of the Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of ICMJE, WAME, CSE, COPE, EASE, and NISO. The journal is in conformity with the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing.

Cyprus Journal of Medical Sciences is indexed in Web of Science-Emerging Sources Citation Index, TUBITAK ULAKBIM TR Index, Embase, EBSCO, J-GATE, CABI, CNKI and Gale.

The journal is published electronically.

**Owner:** Ahmet Özant on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association **Responsible Manager:** Sonuç Büyük



Volume: 9 Issue: 5 October 2024

## CONTENTS

## REVIEW

**297 Oral and Dental Health in Pediatric Oncology Patients** Dila Özyılkan; Nicosia, North Cyprus

## **ORIGINAL ARTICLES**

- **302** Comparison of the Complications of Knee Replacement Using Fixed or Mobile Inserts Mehmet Akdemir, Erol Kaya, Ali İhsan Kılıç, Cengizhan Kurt, Sercan Çapkın; İzmir, Türkiye
- **307** Investigation of the Sleep-Awake Bruxism Habit Experienced by People Who Quarantined Different Places During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Bedriye Gizem Çelebioğlu Genç, Kaan Orhan; Nicosia, North Cyprus, Ankara, Türkiye

- **316 Refractory Vasovagal Syncope Despite Tilt Training: Should Paroxetine be Included in the Treatment?** Lale Dinç Asarcıklı, Osman Beton, Burak Acar, Nur Beton, Hasan Birtan, Güzin Zekican, Nuryıl Yılmaz, Hakkı Kaya, Recep Kurt, Yeşim Akın, Mehmet Birhan Yılmaz; İstanbul, Kocaeli, Ankara, İzmir, Çanakkale, Sivas, Zonguldak, Türkiye; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- **323** The Effect of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG in Infants with Food Protein-Induced Allergic Proctocolitis Özgecan Avcı, Merve Usta, Ayşenur Kaya, Nesrin Kaya, Nafiye Urgancı; Sinop, İstanbul, Türkiye
- **332** Olfactory Dysfunction and Cognitive Impairment After COVID-19 Cem Direybatoğulları, Fatma Avşar Ertürk, Bülent Güven, Aycan Cemil Ülker, Hayat Güven; Ankara, Türkiye
- 340 Effect of Smoking, Alcohol Consumption, and Obesity on Bone Metabolism: A Study on Post-Menopausal North-Cypriot Women

Yasemin Küçükçiloğlu, Mehtap Tınazlı; Nicosia, North Cyprus

- **346** Different Perspectives for Determining the Optimal Treatment Modality for Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease: Application of the Fuzzy Technique for Ordering Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution Method Alvin F. Terry, İlker Etikan, Nuriye Sancar; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- **355 Stroke in Patients with Active COVID-19 Infection: Case Series in a Single Center** Belin Kamiloğlu, Ferda Selçuk, Senem Ertuğrul Mut; Nicosia, Lefke, Kyrenia, North Cyprus
- **359** Awareness, Attitudes, and Behaviors of Adults About Vaccination in the North Cyprus Deniz Granit Semavi, Gaukhar Bakhtiyarova, Mehtap Tınazlı, Nafiye Direktör Özmen; Nicosia, North Cyprus
- **366 Effects of Preoperative Information Methods on Anxiety in Patients Scheduled for Impacted Third Molar Surgery** Mehmet Emre Yurttutan, Mert Özlü, Elif Polat Balkan; Ankara, Türkiye

## 375 Efficacy and Safety of Sacral Neuromodulation in Patients with Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction: A Five-Year Experience in North Cyprus

Necmi Bayraktar; Nicosia, North Cyprus

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2024-24 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):297-301

# **Oral and Dental Health in Pediatric Oncology Patients**

## 🛯 Dila Özyılkan

Department of Pediatric Dentistry, Near East University Faculty of Dentistry, Nicosia, North Cyprus

## Abstract

This study aimed to underline the importance of recognizing that pediatric cancer patients should be referred to pediatric dentists to establish preventive and restorative treatment plans before starting cancer therapy, as they are highly susceptible to oral health issues. Oral complications are three times more common in pediatric oncology patients than in adults and constitute the primary non-hematologic side effects of cytotoxic chemotherapy and radiotherapy. Children undergoing immunosuppressive oncology treatments are at risk of acute and long-term oral and dental complications. Current guidelines recommend that children undergo an oral examination before commencing cancer therapy. Pretreatment examination helps in forming a dentist-child relationship prior to the emergence of oral complications associated with cancer treatment. According to the American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, these patients are considered high-risk patients and they should visit the dentist every 3 months. Fluoride is a preventive measure against dental caries, and the literature extensively documents the anticariogenic advantages of fluoride therapy. The primary objective of pediatric dentists is to educate pediatric patients and their families on the prevention of oral health problems.

Keywords: Cancer, children, healthcare

## INTRODUCTION

According to definitions, cancer is the leading cause of death in affluent countries and the second leading cause in developing countries.<sup>1</sup> Approximately 1 in 285 children under the age of 20 receive a cancer diagnosis, or 150 out of every million.<sup>2</sup> According to cancer incidence studies conducted in the Turkish Republic of North Cyprus (TRNC), the increase in the number of new cases highlights the need for some measures to be taken in this regard. Pervaiz et al.3 reported in their article published in 2017 that there was an increase in the number of new cases between 2007 and 2012 compared with previous years. Although no specific results were announced for children in the study, the increase in the number of cases suggests that precautions should be taken in terms of oral health before, during, or after treatment. Djamgoz et al.4 compared the incidence of cancer in patients with National Centre for Truth and Reconciliation (NCTR) with those in Northern and Southern European countries. Although the cancer cases in NCTR are in a similar line with those in European countries, they suggested that programs should be prepared to raise cancer awareness.

Sancar et al.<sup>5</sup> reported cancer incidence in individuals aged 15 years and older in their article published in 2017. The cancer types and incidences of the patients who applied to the Near East University hospitals between 2010-14 were reported, and since there was no pediatric cancer unit, the age group was reported as 15 years and older.

The Ministry of Health of the TRNC reported a survey in 2019 in which the case distribution was based on age groups.<sup>5</sup> In the study, new cases diagnosed between 2012 and 2016 were evaluated. The ratio of cases in the 0-14 age group to total cases was 2.3%. The distribution of this age group according to the population was 36%.

Nevertheless, in Cyprus, where more than 1.26 million people live, the first population-based descriptive epidemiology study of childhood and adolescent cancer discovered that the country has one of the highest age-standardized incidence rates per million children and adolescents worldwide for all pediatric malignancies combined.6,7

According to the American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry (AAPD), pediatric dentists play an important role in the diagnosis, prevention,

To cite this article: Özyılkan D. Oral and Dental Health in Pediatric Oncology Patients. Cyprus | Med Sci. 2024;9(5):297-301

ORCID ID of the author: D.Ö. 0000-0003-4583-0799.



Address for Correspondence: Dila Özyılkan E-mail: dila.ozvilkan @neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4583-0799

Received: 08.04.2024 Accepted: 19.04.2024

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. stabilization, and management of oral and dental conditions that can impair a child's quality of life before, during, and after immunosuppressive treatments and/or head and neck radiation.<sup>8</sup> Children receiving cancer therapy may have problems with their teeth and oral hygiene during and after treatment. Pediatric patients with cancer may have dental caries that are not treated, periodontal disease, and/or pathological lesions in the oral hard and soft tissues. In addition, patients may experience oral side effects from cancer treatments, show oral cancer symptoms, and experience long-term dental and orofacial problems following cancer therapy.<sup>9</sup> For these reasons, a team consisting of doctors, nurses, dentists, social workers, dietitians, and other medical specialists should work together for children who will receive immunosuppressive therapy and/or head and neck radiation.

## **Oral Manifestations**

A pediatric cancer patient's quality of life is severely impacted by their diagnosis, and their oral hygiene regimen must be customized based on their disease's stage.<sup>10</sup>

The type of cancer, features of the treatment received, age at diagnosis, type of chemotherapy, dosage, and location of the radiation treatment all affect the potential complications that might arise in the mouth. Oral complications can be increased by factors such as pre-existing caries, gingivitis, and poor hygiene.<sup>11,12</sup>

Special short- and long-term complications, including specific and nonspecific oral tissue symptoms, may occur in childhood cancers. Specific symptoms are seen in the mucosa, salivary gland, muscle and bone tissue, taste sensation/disfunction, teeth, and gums. Oral mucositis (OM) and related pain, neurotoxicity, mucosal fibrosis, gingival hypertrophy, osteoradionecrosis (ORN), medication-related osteonecrosis, soft tissue necrosis, trismus, secondary tumors, post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders, dental anomalies and craniofacial changes, dental caries, dry mouth (e.g., salivary gland dysfunction, xerostomia), and dental caries are among the complications.<sup>2,8,10,12,13</sup>

Although bleeding in the mouth is considered an early symptom in some types of cancer (such as acute lymphocytic leukemia, it can be more serious with the direct effect of chemotherapy and radiotherapy.<sup>14</sup> These drugs can cause thrombocytopenia, anemia, and granulocytopenia, increasing the probability of bleeding and susceptibility to infections.<sup>15</sup>

OM generally, mucositis occurs between 3 and 5 months after cancer treatment. It occurs between days after radiotherapy and before chemotherapy. Clinically, the buccal mucosa may initially take on a whitish color, but subsequently, this condition progresses to erythema and a few days later results in a patchy appearance that also contains fibrinous exudate. If high-dose radiation is administered over a short period, ulceration of the covering fibrinous membrane begins earlier.<sup>16</sup>

**Opportunistic infections:** Candidiasis and herpes simplex virus infections are the most common opportunistic infections. As a result of cancer therapies that cause dryness in the mouth, candida species that are normally inactive in the oral soft tissues become active and develop tiny, sticky lesions on the oral mucosa, tongue, and palate.

Members of the herpesviridae family, such as varicella zoster and herpes simplex, can potentially infect people by causing dry mouth. Herpes simplex manifests as ulcerated sores on the palate, gums, corners of the mouth, and lips. Varicella zoster can cause severe morbidity not only from blister lesions on the lips but also from effects on the lungs, central nervous system, and liver.  $^{\rm 16,17}$ 

**Dental caries:** Neither illness nor therapy directly causes tooth decay. Diseases and treatments do not directly cause tooth decay. Tooth decay develops due to decreased saliva production and flow due to treatments that reduce salivary gland function, children's tendency to eat soft and cariogenic foods, changes in oral flora, and an inability to maintain oral hygiene due to gingivitis.<sup>18</sup> Saliva becomes more acidic due to damage to the salivary glands caused by radiation, which also increases the presence of highly cariogenic oral microbiota, including *Lactobacillus* and *Streptococcus mutans*.<sup>19</sup>

**Dry mouth:** Hyposalivation (decreased salivation) and/or xerostomia (feeling of dry mouth due to decreased salivation) develop due to salivary gland dysfunction, especially after radiotherapy or chemotherapy.<sup>20</sup> The second most common adverse effect of chemotherapy is xerostomia. Additionally, it has been demonstrated that there is a clear correlation between radiation dosage and salivary gland decrease. As saliva preserves dental health by shielding the teeth and oral mucosa, malfunction of the salivary gland is a significant and sometimes disregarded late consequence that can have a detrimental influence on general health.<sup>21,22</sup> Increased viscosity and slowed flow in saliva make it difficult to chew, swallow, and talk. It also stops taste buds from working, which weakens one's perception of taste.<sup>23,24</sup>

**Mucosal fibrosis:** Oral submucosal fibrosis is a chronic insidious disease that occurs mainly in the oral cavity and is associated with vesicle formation. Pallor, burning sensations, and ulceration of the oral mucosa are the initial signs of this condition, followed by recurring stomatitis, xerostomia, and, on rare occasions, leukoplakia, as well as difficulties swallowing or phonating. Fibrosis and hardness develop in the buccal mucosa and tongue, leading to trismus and dysphagia.<sup>25</sup>

**Gingival hypertrophy:** Gingival enlargement and ulcerations cause thickening and pseudopocket formation in the gingiva due to treatment-related neutropenia or infiltration due to an increase in blast leukocytes.<sup>26</sup> Inflamed gum tissues are the main entry route for bacteria and bacterial products, causing sepsis.<sup>27</sup>

**Osteoradionecrosis:** One of radiation therapy's most dangerous consequences is ORN. It is more common in the mandible than in the maxilla. It is characterized by trauma-induced or spontaneous mucosal degradation leading to a succession of radiation, hypovascular, hypocellular, and hypoxic tissue development, and a non-healing wound.<sup>28</sup>

**Medication-related osteonecrosis:** In patients without a history of radiation therapy or metastatic disease, it appears as exposed bone in the craniofacial area for >8 weeks. The most significant protective factors against MRONJ include the biological and physiological conditions involved in bone production and growth, as well as the proper dental and oral environment.<sup>29</sup>

**Trismus:** It is a complication characterized by the inability to completely open the mouth, and it has the potential to cause major morbidity and death.<sup>30</sup> According to reports, 5-38% of individuals with head and neck cancer experience trismus following radiation. Radiotherapy can induce muscular fibrosis, loss of bone growth due to radionecrosis, and inadequate development, culminating in jaw dysfunction.<sup>31</sup>

**Craniofacial and dental developmental anomalies:** Morphogenesis and calcification of teeth begin in the 5<sup>th</sup> week of IU life and continues for 14-15 years. During this period, with cancer treatment lasting 1-2 years, complications such as hypodontia, microdontia, regression in root development, hypoplasia, hypomineralization, and premature tooth eruption develop.<sup>32</sup>

## **Dental Protocols**

All patients receiving chemotherapy (immunosuppressive) treatment and/or patients who will receive head and neck radiation should be referred to a pedodontist for condition assessment and precaution planning before starting treatment.<sup>33,34</sup>

The following parameters can be used to guide decisions regarding the need for antibiotic prophylaxis (Table 1).<sup>8,35-39</sup>

Patients receiving cancer therapy are at risk of thrombocytopenia. The following factors can be used to identify the requirement for pre- and post-operative interventions (Table 2).<sup>8,38,39</sup>

Pediatric dentists should evaluate patients' oral health after determining their general health. They keep track of dental hygiene practices, dietary patterns, trauma history, and fluoride exposure through fluoridated water/salt or fluoride supplements (pills, gel, or varnish). Extra-oral and intra-oral examinations are performed, and necessary radiography is performed. According to examination results, pediatric dentists decide

Table 1. Antibiotic prophylaxis according to absolute neutrophil counts								
ANC*	Antibiotic prophylaxis							
— >2,000 per cubic millimeter/mm <sup>3</sup>	No requirement for antibiotic prophylaxis							
1,000-2,000/mm <sup>3</sup>	Apply clinical judgment based on the patient's health and scheduled operations							
<1,000/mm <sup>3</sup>	Defer elective dental treatment. Before initiating treatment in a dental emergency, consult with the medical team about whether to administer a course of antibiotics or just one dose for preventive purposes.							

ANC: Absolute neutrophil count.

## Table 2. Suggestions as per platelet count

Platelet count	Suggestion
>75,000/mm <sup>3</sup>	Does not require any further assistance to carry out the dental procedure.
40,000-75,000/mm <sup>3</sup>	Platelet transfusion is necessary before and 24 hours after dental treatment. If the therapy involves bleeding, hemostatic measures such as local hemostatic drugs, sutures, sterile gauze to compress the bleeding location, and/or microfibrillar collagen sponges will be necessary.
— <40,000/mm³	Dental treatment must be postponed in the event of an emergency. The medical team must also determine whether to treat the patient in a hospital with platelet transfusion, additional bleeding control medication, and bleeding control measures (sutures, sterile compression gauzes, microfibrillar collagen sponges, and local hemostatic agents like topical thrombin).
	Before beginning dental treatment, the dentist should speak with the hematologist about the necessity of a post- transfusion platelet count if platelet transfusions are used. It would be preferable to have extra transfusions in case of severe and protracted intraoperative or postoperative bleeding.

preventive and restorative treatment plans. When possible, dental care should be completed before initiating cancer therapy.

Ferrández-Pujante et al.<sup>10</sup> reported a review after searching 114 scientific articles in the databases. They used 29 articles to obtain protocols for pediatric patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy and/or radiation therapy.

The protocols determined the applications in 3 phases.<sup>10</sup>

Phase 1: From the diagnosis of cancer initiate chemo/radiotherapy.

Phase 2: Initial chemotherapy or radiotherapy until 30-45 days posttherapy.

Phase 3: Begins after cancer treatment and may last from 1-2 years to the whole life.

AAPD also made a similar classification and listed recommendations.8

In the initial phase, both the AAPD and Ferrández-Pujante et al.<sup>10</sup> noted that the primary priority should be identifying and eradicating potential causes of infection and local irritants in the oral cavity to avoid delaying cancer therapy or causing additional issues. Another goal should be to educate patients and parents about the need for good dental care to avoid issues that might jeopardize the cancer treatment process. It should not be overlooked that communication with an appropriate medical team regarding the patient's oral health status, treatment plan, and timing is critical. To inform patients/parents about the oral cavity and craniofacial complex.<sup>8,10</sup>

In general, the preventive program should include teaching brushing methods, using dental floss, recommending mouthwashes, diet analysis and recommendations, topical fluoride applications, use of lip protectors, use of preventive agents against fungal infections, recommendations for preventing trismus, ensuring that protective measures are taken in radiotherapy to be applied in the head and neck region, and education.<sup>7,9</sup>

Dental procedures must be finished within 7 to 10 days before beginning chemotherapy or radiation therapy. If this is not possible or is delayed, non-acute teeth should receive temporary restoration and therapy. When deciding on dental treatments, more radical decisions like extraction should be made for teeth that pose a risk during cancer treatment. Appliances that can cause mouth injury should not be used. Impacted and persistent primary teeth should be eliminated before treatment initiation. It is recommended to extract teeth with a poor prognosis for at least two weeks or at least seven to ten days prior to the start of cancer treatment.<sup>8,10</sup>

To avoid potential side effects of cancer therapy, patients should be instructed to consume a minimum of two liters of water daily. Lip protective agents should be applied to the lips regularly, chewing sugar-free gum should be recommended to stimulate saliva flow, artificial saliva or pharmacological stimulants should be prescribed, and regular dentist checkups should be recommended.<sup>8,10</sup>

The second phase focuses on where chemotherapy or radiotherapy has begun and lasts until 30-45 days after treatment. This phase should focus on maintaining good oral health throughout cancer treatment, addressing any oral side effects or complications, and educating patients and parents about the value of maintaining good oral hygiene to reduce discomfort from oral issues both during and after cancer treatment.<sup>8,10</sup>

In this phase, the dentist should contribute to the multidisciplinary treatment plan. It should be checked whether the patient maintains oral hygiene practices, and the presence of secondary acute injuries should be checked 1-2 weeks after the start of cancer treatment. To ensure the continuation of oral health, it should be assessed whether all the preventive practices recommended in the first phase are continued, and if pediatric dentists meet with the patient at this stage, these suggestions and practices should be implemented.<sup>8,10</sup>

At this stage, the specific symptoms of the oral mucosa should be examined. In the presence of mucositis, it is recommended that pet owners stay away from acidic, spicy, hard, hot, and irritating foods. Because mucositis causes pain, cryotherapy (ice chips), saline 0.9% rinses, topical anesthetics, or mucous rinses containing anesthetics such as benzocaine (aerosol, gel), lidocaine 2% (viscose, ointment, or aerosol), diphenhydramine, and dyclonine hydrochloride 0.5 or 1.0% solution-dyclonine) should be recommended. In cases of severe mucositis, non-opioid and opioid analgesics as well as low-power laser therapy are preferred. To treat secondary infections, your dentist may prescribe allopurinol, leucovorin, or nystatin.

If particular musculoskeletal difficulties emerge that limit mouth opening, regular stretching of the masticatory muscles, muscle relaxants, and analgesics should be administered. If local bleeding is detected in the gums, tamponade with sterile gauze and topical hemostatic agents should be recommended. In case of systemic bleeding problems, surgical procedures and blockage of local anesthesia should be avoided.

In this stage, if a patient requires dental care, only procedures for emergencies should be performed in-hospital following a collaborative evaluation with the cancer team to determine the best time to administer the treatment (during the intervals between cancer treatment cycles, when the patient's hemoglobin level is more constant, or by utilizing local or systemic hemostatic procedures and antibiotic prophylaxis).<sup>8,10,39</sup>

"Begins after cancer treatment and may last from 1-2 years to the whole life" is the definition of the third phase. The goal of this phase is to preserve ideal oral health following cancer treatment, manage oral problems or long-term oral side effects caused by cancer therapy, and improve patient and parent education regarding the need for lifelong excellent oral hygiene.<sup>8,10</sup>

To maintain preventive strategies, dentists should continue with patient/parent training and general oral maintenance and prevention measures. The use of topical fluoride applications, mouthwash recommendations, and bicarbonate solution should be continued. The patient should maintain regulated dietary habits and continue trismus-preventing exercises.

Non-invasive dental treatments should be initiated in the first year, and orthodontic treatment should be started at least 2 years later. Maintaining proper hydration requires the application of lip lubricants.

## CONCLUSION

Using standard protocols that prioritize prevention from the early stages to prevent or minimize complications that cancer treatments may cause in the mouth can improve children's quality of life.

For this reason, the importance of teamwork in cancer treatment should be frequently emphasized among healthcare professionals, and the contribution of pedodontists who will be part of this team should be considered. To contribute to the quality of life of children who undergo a difficult treatment process, relevant specialist organizations need to work together to develop protocols that can be applied as standard in all pediatric oncology centers.

## MAIN POINTS

- Main point of review is to underline the importance of coordinated work of pediatric oncology and pedodontics at early stages of cancer treatment, in order to prevent further complications.
- Most common oral manifestations that can occur during cancer treatment.
- To form standardized dental prevention protocol for pediatric patients to be followed.

## **ETHICS**

#### DISCLOSURES

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Meshki R, Ghahramani N, Veisi MS, Jaseb K. Evaluation of Awareness and Performance of Parents of Children with Cancer Regarding Oral and Dental Health. Journal of Health Reports and Technology.2023; 9(4): e140178.
- Seremidi K, Kavvadia K, Kattamis A, Polychronopoulou A. Dental caries and dental developmental defects as adverse effects of antineoplastic treatment in childhood cancer survivors. Eur Arch Paediatr Dent. 2023; 24(3): 357-65.
- 3. Pervaiz R, Tulay P, Faisal F, Serakinci N. Incidence of cancer in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. Turk J Med Sci. 2017; 47(2): 523-30.
- 4. Djamgoz MB, Akun E, Arslan B, Nazif S, Besler HT, Rizaner N. Cancer in North Cyprus: 1. Current status, an overview. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2017; 2(1): 9-12.
- Sancar N, Nalca Andrieu M, Hinçal E, Granit D. Cancer Incidence 2010-2014 Among the North Cyprus Population of Adults Aged 15 and Over. Turk J Oncol. 2017; 32(2): 43-54.
- Loizou L, Demetriou A, Erdmann F, Borkhardt A, Brozou T, Sharp L, et al. Patterns and temporal trends in the incidence of childhood and adolescence cancer in Cyprus 1998-2017: A population-based study from the Cyprus Paediatric Oncology Registry. Cancer Epidemiol. 2022; 80:102239.
- 7. Das M. Measures to improve cancer situation in Cyprus. Lancet Oncol. 2024; 25(1): e4.
- American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Dental management of pediatric patients receiving immunosuppressive therapy and/or head and neck radiation. The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry. Chicago, III.: American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry; 2023: 549-58.
- 9. Ritwik P. Dental Care for Patients with Childhood Cancers. Ochsner J. 2018; 18(4): 351-57.
- Ferrández-Pujante A, Pérez-Silva A, Serna-Muñoz C, Fuster-Soler JL, Galera-Miñarro A M, Cabello I, et al. Prevention and Treatment of Oral Complications in Hematologic Childhood Cancer Patients: An Update. Children. 2022; 9(4): 566.
- 11. Sampaio MEA, Bezerra PMM, Santos FGD, Ribeiro ILA, Sousa SAD, Santiago BM, et al. A hospital-based oral health education program impacts in pediatric cancer patients-A pilot study. Spec Care Dentist. 2024; 44(1): 196-205.

- 12. Ergül R., Çalışkan S, Özdemir, C. Çocuklarda Radyoterapi İlişkili Oral Komplikasyonlar. Osmangazi Tıp Dergisi. 2020; 42(5): 275-79.
- 13. Scully C, Sonis S, Diz PD. Oral mucositis. Oral diseases. 2006; 12(3): 229-41.
- Madhusoodhan PP, Carroll WL, Bhatla T. Progress and Prospects in Pediatric Leukemia. Curr. Probl. Pediatr. Adolescant Health Care. 2016; 46(7): 229-41.
- Soares SC, Roux LJD, Castro AR, Silva CC, Rodrigues R, Macho VMP, et al. Oral Manifestations: A Warning-Sign in Children with Hematological Disease Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia. Hematology Reports. 2023; 15(3): 491-502.
- Korkut E, Esen A, Demiray F, Şener Y. Pediatrik Onkoloji Hastalarında Dental Yaklaşım. Selçuk Tıp Dergisi. 2017; 33(2): 39-44.
- Kerbage C, Macari AT, Kerbage A, Chedid N. Comparison of oral health characteristics in pediatric cancer and cancer free patients: A multicenter study. Pediatr Dent. 2023; 33(2): 139-46.
- Shayani A, Aravena PC, Rodríguez- Salinas C, Silva- Escobar, Monsalvez Diocares, Gutierrez Angula et al. Chemotherapy as a riskfactor for caries and gingivitis in children with acutelymphoblastic leukemia: A retrospective cohortstudy. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2022; 32(4): 538-45.
- Gawade PL, Hudson MM, Kaste SC, Neglia JP, Constine LS, Robison LL et al. A systematic review of dental late effects in survivors of childhood cancer. Pediatric Blood Cancer. 2014; 61(3): 407-16.
- Stolze J, Vlaanderen KCE, Holtbach FCED, Teepen JC, Kremer LCM, Loonen JJ, et al. Long-Term Effects of Childhood Cancer Treatment on Dentition and Oral Health: A Dentist Survey Study from the DCCSS LATER 2 Study. Cancers (Basel). 2021; 13(21): 5264.
- 21. Jensen S, Pedersen A, Reibel J, Nauntofte B. Xerostomia and hypofunction of the salivary glands in cancer therapy. Support Care Cancer. 2003; 11(4): 207-25.
- Stolze J, Teepen JC, Raber-Durlacher JE, Loonen JJ, Kok JL, Tissing WJ et al. Prevalence and risk factors for hyposalivation and xerostomia in childhood cancer survivors following different treatment modalities—A Dutch Childhood Cancer Survivor Study Late Effects 2 Clinical Study (DCCSS LATER 2). Cancers. 2022; 14(14): 3379.
- Jensen SB, Vissink A, Limesand KH, Reyland ME. Salivary gland hypofunction and xerostomia in head and neck radiation patients. J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr. 2019; (53): lgz016.
- Silva IM, Donaduzzi LC, Perini CC, Couto S A, Werneck RI, de Araújo et al. Association of xerostomia and taste alterations of patients receiving antineoplastic chemotherapy: A cause for nutritional concern. Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2021; 43: 532-35.

- 25. Jain A, Taneja S. Oral submucous fibrosis in pediatric patients: a systematic review and protocol for management. Int J Surg Oncol. 2019: 3497136.
- 26. Reenesh M, Munishwar S, Rath SK. Generalised leukaemic gingival enlargement: a case report. J Oral Maxillofac Res. 2012; 3(3): e5.
- 27. Cammarata-Scalisi F, Girardi K, Strocchio L, Merli P, Bernardin AG, Galeotti A et al. Oral manifestations and complications in childhood acute myeloid leukemia. Cancers. 2020; 12(6): 1634.
- Curi MM, Lauria L. Osteoradionecrosis of the jaws: a retrospective study of the background factors and treatment in 104 cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg.1997; 55(6): 540-44.
- Rosales HD, Garcia Guevara H, Requejo S, Jensen MD, Acero J, Olate S. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws (MRONJ) in children and young patients—a systematic review. J Clin Med. 2023; 12(4): 1416.
- 30. Shires PM, Chow G. Trismus in the paediatric population. Trismus in the paediatric population. Dev Med Child Neurol. 2015; 57(4): 339-43.
- 31. Wong HM. Oral complications and management strategies for patients undergoing cancer therapy. ScientificWorldJournal. 2014; 581795.
- Halperson E, Matalon V, Goldstein G, Saieg Spilberg S, Herzog K, Fux-Noy et al. The prevalence of dental developmental anomalies among childhood cancer survivors according to types of anticancer treatment. Sci Rep. 2022; 12(1): 4485.
- Supportive PDQ, Board PCE. Oral Complications of Chemotherapy and Head/ Neck Radiation (PDQ<sup>®</sup>). In PDQ Cancer Information Summaries [Internet]. National Cancer Institute (US). 2022.
- 34. National Institutes of Health. Dental management of the organ or stem cell transplant patient. 2016.
- Oral Complications of Chemotherapy and Head/Neck Radiation (PDQ<sup>®</sup>): Supportive care-Health Professional Information [NCI]. 2023.
- 36. Miller M, Kearney N. Oral care for patients with cancer: a review of the literature. Cancer Nurs. 2001; 24(4): 241-54.
- 37. Levi LE, & Lalla RV. Dental treatment planning for the patient with oral cancer. Dent Clin North Am. 2018; 62(1): 121-30.
- Padmini C, & Bai KY. Oral and dental considerations in pediatric leukemic patient. ISRN Hematol. 2014; 895721.
- Zimmermann C, Meurer MI, Grando LJ, Gonzaga Del Moral JÂ, da Silva Rath IB, Schaefer Tavares S. Dental treatment in patients with leukemia. J Oncol. 2015: 571739.



# **Comparison of the Complications of Knee Replacement Using Fixed or Mobile Inserts**

## 🕲 Mehmet Akdemir<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Erol Kaya<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Ali İhsan Kılıç<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Cengizhan Kurt<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Sercan Çapkın<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Private İzmir Ekol International Hospital, İzmir, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Medicana International İzmir Hospital, İzmir, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

## Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Knee replacement surgery or total knee arthroplasty is a widely performed procedure to alleviate pain and improve function in patients with severe knee joint degeneration or injury. The choice between fixed and mobile inserts for knee replacement implants remains critical. Fixed-bearing implants provide stability, whereas mobile-bearing implants offer increased conformity and potential for improved range of motion. This study aimed to compare the complications of knee replacement using fixed and mobile inserts.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: A retrospective analysis was conducted on 412 knee replacement patients who underwent surgery between 2011 and 2021 using either the Smith & Nephew GENESIS-II fixed insert knee prosthesis or Zimmer-Mobile insert knee prosthesis. Data collection involved rigorous evaluation of patient files, radiographs, and postoperative outcomes. Data on age, gender, side of the knee prosthesis, preoperative and postoperative tibiofemoral angle, proximal tibia angle, osteolysis around the prosthesis, and complications, such as instability, infection, extensor mechanism problems, aseptic loosening, and radiological osteolysis, were recorded. Complications requiring surgical intervention were also noted.

**RESULTS:** The mean age of patients was 65.18 years, and 88.5% were female. The mobile insert group included younger patients with a higher incidence of bilateral knee arthroplasties. Radiological evaluation revealed a higher incidence of patella changes and subsequent patella replacement in the mobile insert group. However, the overall complication rate was not significantly different between the two groups. Although postoperative joint alignment did not significantly differ between the groups, the postoperative proximal tibial angles were higher in the mobile insert group. Specific complications, including instability, infection, extensor mechanism problems, aseptic loosening, and radiological osteolysis, did not significantly differ between the two groups.

**CONCLUSION:** The choice of fixed or mobile insert during knee replacement did not significantly affect the incidence of specific complications. Surgeons should consider individual patient factors, surgeon preference, and technical expertise when selecting the appropriate implant type for knee replacement surgery.

Keywords: Fixed insert, knee arthroplasty, mobile insert

To cite this article: Akdemir M, Kaya E, Kılıc Aİ, Kurt C, Capkın S. Comparison of the Complications of Knee Replacement Using Fixed or Mobile Inserts. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):302-306

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.A. 0000-0001-9638-4907; E.K. 0000-0002-1774-0537; A.İ.K. 0000-0001-7491-6044; C.K. 0000-0001-6395-5443; S.C. 0000-0001-6957-5927.



Address for Correspondence: Mehmet Akdemir E-mail: akdemir mehmet@vahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9638-4907

Received: 24.08.2023 Accepted: 24.12.2023

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License.

## INTRODUCTION

Knee replacement surgery, also known as total knee arthroplasty (TKA), is commonly performed in individuals with severe knee joint degeneration or injury. This treatment aims to alleviate pain, improve function, and enhance the overall quality of life of patients.<sup>1</sup> Over the years, advancements in implant design and surgical techniques have led to improved outcomes and long-term success rates in knee replacement surgery.<sup>2</sup>

One crucial aspect of knee replacement surgery is the choice between fixed and mobile inserts, which are components of the implant that facilitate joint movement.<sup>3</sup> Fixed-bearing implants have been traditionally used in TKA, providing stable articulation between the femoral and tibial components. In contrast, mobile-bearing implants offer increased conformity and potential for improved range of motion because of their ability to rotate within the tibial tray.<sup>4</sup>

Although both fixed and mobile-bearing implants have demonstrated satisfactory clinical outcomes, there is an ongoing debate regarding the incidence and nature of complications associated with each type. Complications following knee replacement surgery can include a range of issues, such as infection, implant loosening, instability, wear, and revision surgery, among others.<sup>5</sup> Understanding the comparative risks and complications of fixed and mobile inserts is crucial for optimizing patient outcomes and informing surgical decision-making.

To address this knowledge gap, the current study aimed to compare the complications encountered in patients undergoing knee replacement using fixed and mobile inserts. By examining a large cohort of patients who underwent knee replacement surgery and analyzing their postoperative complications, this study aims to provide valuable insights into the relative advantages and disadvantages of these two implant types. The findings of this investigation may help guide surgeons in selecting the most appropriate implant option based on individual patient needs, ultimately leading to improved surgical outcomes and patient satisfaction.

In conclusion, this study investigated and compared the complications associated with fixed and mobile inserts in patients undergoing knee replacement. The results are expected to contribute to the existing literature and inform clinical decision-making in the field of knee arthroplasty.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

Knee prostheses applied by the authors between 2011 and 2021 were retrospectively scanned. Approval was obtained from the İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 1122, date: 20.07.2023). Patients who underwent the Smith & Nephew GENESIS-II fixed and Zimmer-Mobile knee prostheses were included in the study. The tibiofemoral and proximal tibial angles were measured as described in Kim et al.'s<sup>6</sup> study. A valgus angulation of 3-7.5 degrees in the evaluation of femorotibial anatomic alignment as a neutral alignment. Valgus angulation 3° was evaluated as varus angulation, and >7.5° angulation was evaluated as values.<sup>6</sup> Postoperative radiographs showed osteolysis loosening and periprocetic fracture.<sup>7</sup> Measurements were made by 2 different orthopedic specialists, and the intraclass correlation coefficient was >90%.

Patients who underwent revision knee prosthesis, those who did not undergo adequate preoperative and postoperative knee radiography and follow-up, and those who underwent surgery due to tumor were excluded from the study.

Infection and revision status were checked in the patient files. The complications were instability, infection, extensor mechanism problems, aseptic loosening, and radiological osteolysis. Complications that were surgically treated were also noted.

A tourniquet was used in all knee arthroplasty procedures. At 30 minutes before the operation, prophylactic 1gr cephazolin sodium i.v. Done. 200 mg ciprofloxacin i.v. in patients with allergies Done. An anterior incision was made in all patients. The joint was reached by medial parapatellar intervention. Incisions were made with intramedullary and extramedullary guidance to the femur and an extramedullary guide to the tibia. After appropriate incisions, the prosthesis was fixed to the bone with cement. Patellar component placement was performed in some patients according to the surgeon's preference. Patellar denervation was performed after osteophyte excision in patients without a patellar component. A hemovac drain was placed from the suprapatellar region in all patients.

After surgery, low-molecular-weight heparin was administered for 1 month. (clexan or oxapar 0.4 cc 1x1 or clexan 0.6 cc 2x1 in patients using anticoagulants). The hemovac drain was removed at 12 hours postoperatively. The next day, full load mobilization and controlled passive motion were started. Active knee flexion was initiated as tolerated by the patient. Postoperative film controls were followed up on the 1<sup>st</sup> day, 1<sup>st</sup> month, 3<sup>rd</sup> month, 6<sup>th</sup> month, 1<sup>st</sup> year, and 2<sup>nd</sup> year.

The data obtained from the patients were uploaded into Microsoft Excel. Age, gender, side, bilaterality, preoperative and postoperative tibiofemoral angle, proximal tibia angle, osteolysis around prosthesis, instability (lateral-medial collateral ligament failure, anterior-posterior knee dislocation), extensor mechanism problems [(patella-quadriceps tendon) tear, patella fracture], deep infection requiring prosthesis removal, aseptic loosening, and osteolysis (tibia-femur) around the components that did not show clinical signs were noted.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Means, medians, and standard deviations were used in the statistical evaluation of numerical data, and percentage values were used in the evaluation of cross-sectional data. The conformity of the numerical data of the groups to the normal distribution was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Parametric tests were used when it was suitable for the normal distribution, and nonparametric tests were used when it did not. The chi-square test was used for the evaluation of cross-sectional data. Pearson's correlation test was used as the correlation test. statistical significance was set as 95% confidence interval and p<0.05.

## RESULTS

In the scan, 354 patients had the knee prosthesis applied. However, 412 series of 287 patients with adequate follow-up were included in the study. The mean age of the patients was  $65.18\pm9,267$ . Other demographic data about the patients are given in Table 1. In the statistical evaluation, gender distributions were similar between the two

groups. There was a significant difference between age and bilaterality. but the distribution of control times was similar (Table 1).

In the radiological evaluation, there was a statistically significant difference between the patella replacement rates and the average postoperative proximal tibial angles between the two groups. There were no statistically significant differences between the average preoperative tibiofemoral angle, postoperative tibiofemoral angle, and preoperative proximal tibial angle (Table 2).

Complications were detected in a total of 22 patients (5.3%). There was a significant difference in the total complication rates between the two groups. however, there was no significant difference between specific complications (Table 3).

## DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to compare the complications of knee replacement using fixed and mobile inserts. The analysis of a large

Table 1. General demographic data of patients

cohort of patients who underwent knee replacement provided valuable insights into the relative advantages and disadvantages of these two types of implants.

In terms of patient demographics, the study included a total of 412 knee replacement patients, with a mean age of 65.18 years. The majority of patients were female (88.5%), which is consistent with the higher prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in women.<sup>8</sup> In the analysis of general demographic data, patients who received the mobile insert application were found to be younger than those who received the fixed insert application (63.93 and 66.53, p=0.017). In the patient group with mobile insert application, a higher percentage of bilateral knee arthroplasties were performed (51.7%, 34.8%, p=0.004). More total complications were observed in younger patients who underwent bilateral knee prostheses. Similar studies have also reported more complications in older patients undergoing bilateral knee arthroplasty.<sup>9.10</sup> In this patient group, we recommend using a fixed insert instead of a mobile one.

Table 1. General demographic	uata of patients						
		Mobile insert	Fix insert	All patients	р	Statistical test	
Number of patients, (%)		149 (48.1%)	138 (51.9%)	287	-	-	
Number of knees, (%)		226 (54.9%)	186 (45.1%)	412	-	-	
Age, (mean $\pm$ SD)		63.93±9,941	66.53±8,305	65.18±9,267	0.017	T-test	
Condox (9/)	Male	22 (14.8%)	11 (8.0%)	33 (11.5%)	0.071 Pears	Pearson chi-square	
Genuer, (%)	Female	127 (85.2%)	127 (92%)	254 (88.5%)	0.071		
	Right	28 (18.8%)	49 (35.5%)	77 (26.8%)			
Side, (%)	Left	Mobile insert         Fix insert           149 (48.1%)         138 (51.9%)           226 (54.9%)         186 (45.1%)           63.93±9,941         66.53±8,3           22 (14.8%)         11 (8.0%)           127 (85.2%)         127 (92%)           28 (18.8%)         49 (35.5%)           44 (29.5%)         41 (29.7%)           77 (51.7%)         48 (34.8%)           72 (48.3%)         90 (65.2%)           15.97±7,411         17.88±11	41 (29.7%)	85 (29.6%)	0.002	Pearson chi-square	
	Bilateral	77 (51.7%)	48 (34.8%)	125 (43.6%)	]		
Dilatara (0/)	Yes	77 (51.7%)	48 (34.8%)	125 (43.6%)	0.004	Desware shi sausan	
Bilateral (%)	No	72 (48.3%)	90 (65.2%)	162 (56.4%)	0.004	Pearson chi-square	
Follw up (months), (mean $\pm$ SD)	·	15.97±7,411	17.88±11,717	16.89±9,752	0.098	T-test	
CD. Chandrad deviation		·				·	

SD: Standard deviation.

Table 2. Radiological results												
Radiological evaluation		Mobile insert	Fix insert	All patients	р	Statistical test						
Patella change (9/)	Yes	138 (61.1%)	24 (12.9%)	162 (39.3%)	<0.001	Pearson chi-						
Fatella Change (%)	No	88 (38.9%)	162 (87.1%)	250 (60.7%)	<pre></pre>	square						
Preoperative tibiofemoral angle, (mean $\pm$ S	ofemoral angle, (mean $\pm$ SD)		4.05±6,056	3.71±6,817	0.366	T-test						
Postoperative tibiofemoral angle, (mean $\pm$	SD)	-5.90±3,031	-5.75±2,312	-5.83±2,727	0.590	T-test						
Preoperative proximal tibial angle, (mean $\pm$	: SD)	82.51±3,951	82.09±2,955	82.32±3,538	±3,538 0.229 T-test							
Postoperative proximal tibial angle, (mean	perative proximal tibial angle, (mean $\pm$ SD)		89.41±1,112	89.96±1,829	<0.001	T-test						
SD: Standard deviation.												

Table 3. Complication

Table 5. Complications					
Complications	Mobile insert	Fix insert	All patients	-	Chartiestical test
Complications	Number (%)	Number (%)	Number (%)	þ	Statistical test
Total complications	17 (7.5%)	5 (2.7%)	22 (5.3%)	0.030	Pearson chi-square
Complications leading to revision	11 (4.9%)	4 (2.2%)	15 (3.6%)	0.143	Pearson chi-square
instability	3 (1.3%)	1 (0.5%)	4 (1.0%)	0.630	Fisher's exact test
Infection	3 (1.3%)	1 (0.5%)	4 (1.0%)	0.630	Fisher's exact test
Aseptic loosening	4 (1.8%)	0 (0.0%)	4 (1.0%)	0.130	Fisher's exact test
Periprocetic osteolysis	5 (2.2%)	1 (0.5%)	6 (1.5%)	0.229	Fisher's exact test
Extensor mechanism problem	4 (1.8%)	2 (1.1%)	6 (1.5%)	0.694	Fisher's exact test

Radiological evaluation revealed differences in patella changes between the two groups. The mobile insert group exhibited a higher incidence of patella changes, leading to a significantly higher rate of patella replacement (61.1%, 12.9% p<0.001). This finding is consistent with those of previous studies reporting increased rates of patella-related complications in mobile-bearing knee prostheses.<sup>11</sup> Some complications observed in patients undergoing patella replacement may be due to implant-related issues.<sup>12</sup> However, it is important to note that patella changes did not translate into a higher overall complication rate in the mobile insert group.

There were no significant differences in preoperative and postoperative tibiofemoral angle values between the two groups. However, the postoperative proximal tibial angles differed significantly, with the mobile insert group showing higher values (90.41°, 89.41° p<0.001). This difference may be attributed to the unique design characteristics of the mobile-bearing inserts, which allow for greater conformity and potential for improved range of motion.<sup>13</sup> There are publications reporting that neutral varus alignment is more advantageous than valgus alignment.<sup>14</sup> Further studies are suggested to investigate the relationship between postoperative valgus angulation and insert use.

The overall complication rate was statistically significant, with a higher rate observed in the mobile insert group. However, when examining specific complications, such as instability, infection, extensor mechanism problems, aseptic loosening, and radiological osteolysis, there were no statistically significant differences between the two groups. These findings suggest that although the overall risk of complications may differ between fixed and mobile inserts, the incidence of specific complications remains comparable.<sup>15,16</sup>

The results of this study are consistent with those of previous studies reporting similar clinical outcomes and complication rates between fixed- and mobile-bearing knee prostheses.<sup>17</sup> It is important to note that the choice of implant type should be based on individual patient factors, including age, activity level, and surgeon preference. Factors such as surgeon experience and technical expertise in implantation may also influence the choice of implant type.

#### Study Limitations

It is worth mentioning that the present study has some limitations. First, the study design was retrospective, which may have introduced inherent biases and limitations associated with data collection and analysis. Prospective studies with longer follow-up periods could provide further insights into the long-term outcomes and complications associated with fixed and mobile inserts. Additionally, the current study focused on short-term complications and did not evaluate functional outcomes or patient-reported outcomes, which are important considerations in assessing the success of knee replacement surgery.

## CONCLUSION

The present study compared the complications of knee replacement using fixed and mobile inserts. While specific complications, such as patella changes, may differ between the two groups, the overall risk of experiencing complications is similar regardless of the insert type. Surgeons and orthopedic specialists can use these findings to inform their decision-making when selecting the appropriate insert type for knee replacement, taking into account patient-specific characteristics and functional requirements.

## MAIN POINTS

- The use of mobile inserts may increase the incidence of total complications in young patients who have undergone patella replacement and bilateral application.
- Postoperative proximal tibial angle remaining at the valgus may increase the overall complication rate.
- However, since the general results of mobile and fixed inserts are similar, a patient-specific decision on which insert to use should be made.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Approval was obtained from the İzmir Bakırçay University Faculty of Medicine Non-interventional Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 1122, date: 20.07.2023).

#### Informed Consent: Retrospective study.

## **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.A., Concept: M.A., A.İ.K., C.K., S.Ç., Design: M.A., E.K., A.İ.K., C.K., S.Ç., Data Collection and/or Processing: M.A., E.K., A.İ.K., C.K., S.Ç., Analysis and/or Interpretation: M.A., E.K., A.İ.K., C.K., S.Ç., Literature Search: M.A., E.K., A.İ.K., C.K., S.Ç., Writing: M.A.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Ferket BS, Feldman Z, Zhou J, Oei EH, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Mazumdar M. Impact of total knee replacement practice: cost effectiveness analysis of data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. BMJ. 2017; 356: j1131.
- Hantouly AT, Ahmed AF, Alzobi O, Toubasi A, Salameh M, Elmhiregh A, et al. Mobile-bearing versus fixed-bearing total knee arthroplasty: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2022; 32(3): 481-95.
- 3. Daines BK, Dennis DA. Gap balancing vs. measured resection technique in total knee arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Surg. 2014; 6(1): 1-8.
- Bellemans J, Colyn W, Vandenneucker H, Victor J. The Chitranjan Ranawat award: is neutral mechanical alignment normal for all patients? The concept of constitutional varus. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2012; 470(1): 45-53.
- Kurtz S, Ong K, Lau E, Mowat F, Halpern M. Projections of primary and revision hip and knee arthroplasty in the United States from 2005 to 2030. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2007; 89(4): 780-5.
- Kim YH, Park JW, Kim JS, Park SD. The relationship between the survival of total knee arthroplasty and postoperative coronal, sagittal and rotational alignment of knee prosthesis. Int Orthop. 2014; 38(2): 379-85.
- 7. Dalling JG, Math K, Scuderi GR. Evaluating the progression of osteolysis after total knee arthroplasty. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2015; 23(3): 173-80.
- Litwic A, Edwards MH, Dennison EM, Cooper C. Epidemiology and burden of osteoarthritis. Br Med Bull. 2013; 105: 185-99.
- Murphy BPD, Dowsey MM, Spelman T, Choong PFM. The impact of older age on patient outcomes following primary total knee arthroplasty. Bone Joint J. 2018; 100(11): 1463-70.

- Warren JA, Siddiqi A, Krebs VE, Molloy R, Higuera CA, Piuzzi NS. Bilateral Simultaneous Total Knee Arthroplasty May Not Be Safe Even in the Healthiest Patients. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2021; 103(4): 303-11.
- Putman S, Boureau F, Girard J, Migaud H, Pasquier G. Patellar complications after total knee arthroplasty. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res. 2019; 105(1 Suppl): 43-51.
- 12. Matz J, Lanting BA, Howard JL. Understanding the patellofemoral joint in total knee arthroplasty. Can J Surg. 2019; 62(1): 57-65.
- Bellemans J, Banks S, Victor J, Vandenneucker H, Moemans A. Fluoroscopic analysis of the kinematics of deep flexion in total knee arthroplasty. Influence of posterior condylar offset. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 2002; 84(1): 50-3.
- 14. Takahashi T, Ansari J, Pandit HG. Kinematically Aligned Total Knee Arthroplasty or Mechanically Aligned Total Knee Arthroplasty. J Knee Surg. 2018; 31(10): 999-1006.
- 15. Bates MD, Springer BD. Extensor mechanism disruption after total knee arthroplasty. J Am Acad Orthop Surg. 2015; 23(2): 95-106.
- Assiotis A, To K, Morgan-Jones R, Pengas IP, Khan W. Patellar complications following total knee arthroplasty: a review of the current literature. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2019; 29(8): 1605-15.
- 17. Kim YH, Park JW, Kim JS. Comparison of High-Flexion Fixed-Bearing and High-Flexion Mobile-Bearing Total Knee Arthroplasties-A Prospective Randomized Study. J Arthroplasty. 2018;33(1): 130-5.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

## Investigation of the Sleep-Awake Bruxism Habit Experienced by People Who Quarantined Different Places During the **COVID-19** Pandemic

## Bedrive Gizem Çelebioğlu Genç<sup>1,2</sup>, Kaan Orhan<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Cyprus University of Health and Social Sciences, Morphou, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>3</sup>Department of Dentomaxillofacial Radiology, Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

## Abstract

**BACKGROUND/AIMS:** This study aimed to investigate the sleep and awake bruxism habits experienced by people who were guarantined in different places during the coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic in the North Cyprus.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: A 25-question self-reported questionnaire was sent to the patients' mobile phones to measure their demographic information and the level of bruxism they experienced before and during their quarantine period while sleeping and awake. The answers were evaluated statistically using percentage and chi-square tests.

**RESULTS:** A total of 241 people participated in our research. During the quarantine period, there was an increase in awake bruxism and a slight decrease in sleep bruxism. The feelings of worry, fear, panic, and hopelessness felt by the participants in the first days of the quarantine decreased in the last days of the quarantine, regardless of place and length of stay in the quarantine. Teeth clenching, teeth grinding, and earache were mostly observed in those who stayed in dormitory guarantine.

CONCLUSION: People's anxiety is increasing during the COVID-19 pandemic, and there is a positive correlation between anxiety and both sleep and awake bruxism. Dentists should pay more attention to the signs of bruxism during examinations, especially in people who say that they are in quarantine during anamnesis. Although the reason for a patient's visit to the doctor may seem like a simple toothache, underlying factors, such as clenching, should not be forgotten with a holistic approach, and awareness should be created for the patient.

Keywords: Awake bruxism, coronavirus, COVID-19, quarantine, sleep bruxism

## INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus is a disease that causes severe acute respiratory syndrome. The outbreak started in Wuhan in 2019, and a few months later, the World Health Organization (WHO) labeled the virus spread across the globe as a pandemic. The risk assessment according to the WHO guidelines for coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) is extremely high, with a global impact. As of April 12, 2020, there were 1,696,588 confirmed cases of COVID-19, including 105,952 deaths, reported by the WHO.<sup>1</sup>

To date, all countries that have suffered from COVID-19 have taken measures, as stated by health authorities, to prevent further spread of the virus and ensure infection control. Some of these strategies include the provision of virus tests, extreme social isolation, localized quarantine, and monitoring of the most vulnerable populations; the measures taken are largely guided by the official WHO website based on the number of cases in each country.<sup>2</sup>

To cite this article: Celebioğlu Genc BG, Orhan K. Investigation of the Sleep-Awake Bruxism Habit Experienced by People Who Quarantined Different Places During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Cyprus | Med Sci. 2024;9(5):307-315

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.G.C.G. 0000 0003 4276 3121; K.O. 0000 0001 6768 0176.



Address for Correspondence: Bedriye Gizem Çelebioğlu Genç **E-mail:** gizemcelebioglu@hotmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-4276-3121

Received: 24.08.2023 Accepted: 23.05.2024



Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. With the first Coronavirus case in North Cyprus, the Turkish Republic of North Cyprus (TRNC) government implemented stricter measures than other countries because Cyprus is an island. Because of uncertainty about the ways of virus spread, appropriate modes of treatment, insufficient availability of health services, and no existing vaccine or efficient drug for treatment, all entrances and exits to the island by sea, air, and land were closed, and the country was lockdown.<sup>3</sup>

A filiation team was formed in TRNC to prevent the spread of the disease. The filiation team uses a contact tracking algorithm published by the Republic of Türkiye (TR) and the TRNC health ministries. This algorithm allows users to determine whether they are at high or low risk of COVID-19. People who did not take protective measures (without a mask or wore an inappropriate mask) and were in contact with a patient with COVID-19 in the situations presented in Table 1 were considered at high risk.

The main duty of the filiation team is to contact COVID-19-positive individuals and/or their close contacts. Close contact, in this case, would mean anyone who had been in contact with the positive person within the last 48 hours after being tested positive.<sup>4</sup>

The filiation team called the people they considered as close contacts by phone and placed them in dorms or hotels or left them at home. To stay in quarantine at home, people had to either live alone or have rooms for themselves at home, and they had to have bathrooms and toilets in the room. Otherwise, people were randomly placed in dorms and hotels. In these centers, patients were isolated until two negative polymerase chain reaction (PCR) results were obtained. The average duration was 7 to 21 days.

Bruxism is characterized by the clenching and/or grinding of teeth, bracing, or thrusting of jaw muscles. There are 2 different types of bruxism; sleep and awake. Awake bruxism is a form that is seen during the waking period, and it is usually conscious of the person. Sleep bruxism occurs while the person is sleeping. In sleep bruxism, patients either complain of jaw pain when they wake up in the morning or are observed to clench their teeth during the night. While the diagnosis of bruxism is obtained by asking questions that give the person the

#### Table 1. Increased COVID-19 risk conditions

The increasing risk of COVID-19

Face and talk to a patient with COVID-19 at a distance of less than 1 m for 15 minutes at a time.

Provide direct care to patients with COVID-19.

Teachers or students who share the classroom with students or teachers who have COVID-19.

Come into physical contact with a patient with COVID-19 (kissing, hugs, etc.).

Unprotected contact with secretions (saliva, sputum, etc.) of patients with COVID-19, such as sneezing and coughing.

The same closed environment as the COVID-19 patient (hospital or bank standby halls, title deed, tax office, those waiting in official institutions such as municipality, bus, shuttle, etc. persons with means of transport).

Passengers traveling on the same plane with a patient with COVID-19 (sitting two fronts, two back and two side seats).

Living in the same house with a patient with COVID-19.

Work in the same office as a patient with COVID-19.

Sharing the same room with a patient with COVID-19 in a dormitory or hotel.

Traveling on the same bus with a patient with COVID-19.

possible diagnosis, a dental examination is essential for a definitive diagnosis.<sup>5-8</sup>

Many studies have shown that one of the most important reasons for bruxism is psychosocial stress. The quarantine process has caused many changes in people's social lives, which has affected the habit of bruxism.<sup>3,5,6,9-12</sup> During the quarantine period, people have different problems such as; losing their jobs, decreased income level, starting to have marital problems, being away from their children, thinking that their health will deteriorate, getting bad news from social media, immobility, deterioration of their appearance (weight gain, hair growth, hair dye coming in, etc.), being dissatisfied with their stay, not being social, learning that they have lost their relatives or been hospitalized during their stay in. They experienced varied emotional states like worry, fear, panic, hopelessness, and calmness in their lives.<sup>2,9,13</sup>

With this research, which is conducted for the first time in TRNC, we aim to evaluate the bruxism habits of people who were in contact due to the COVID-19 pandemic and who remained in quarantine while they were asleep and awake, as well as the effect of differences in the quarantine environment on bruxism.

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

This was a retrospective, descriptive study. The sample of the study consists of people who were accepted as close contacts between July 1 and 31, 2021, and who remained in quarantine. Information about the patients was obtained from the sources of the filiation team.

The messages were sent to 2,528 participants. The message could not be delivered to 160 of them because their phones were switched off or could not be reached. To obtain information from the respondents, a questionnaire consisting of 25 questions prepared by the researcher in light of the literature was used. The questionnaire was designed to determine 6 questions to obtain demographic information and then 19 questions to measure bruxism habits before and during the quarantine period.

Our inclusion criteria were as follows: staying in quarantine between July 1 and 31, 2021, being in close contact with a person infected with coronavirus, being 18 years old and over, speaking Turkish, and using a mobile phone. Since the study was based on volunteerism, the survey was sent to individuals, and those who responded within a week were included in the study. The questionnaire was sent to a total of 2,368 people, and 241 of them responded.

The study protocol was approved by Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 38/21, date:12.07.2021). All procedures in studies involving human participants were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the hospital and/or hospital research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration. Written informed consent to publish this paper was obtained from the patients.

## Statistical Analysis

The data obtained in this study were analyzed using the SPSS 22 package. The relationship between categorical data was examined using chi-square analysis. The method to be used may vary depending on the theoretical frequency calculated for each cell. When the smallest theoretical frequency was <5, "Fisher's exact test" was used and when the frequency was >20, "Monte Carlo Simulation" was used. The

confidence interval was set at 95%, and significance was set at 0.05. It is stated that there is a significant difference/relationship if p<0.05 and that there is no significant difference/relationship if p>0.05.

## RESULTS

Participants were 152 females (63.1%) and 89 males (36.9%) in our study with a sample size of 241. 103 (42.8%) were between the ages of 18-29, 79 (32.8%) were between the ages of 30-39, 43 (17.8%) were between the ages of 40-49 and 16 (6.6%) were between the ages of 50 and up. The participants were at 151 (62.7%) university level, 45 (18.7%) high school level, 12 (5%) master's level, and 10 (4.1%) doctoral level.

The answer to the question of relationship status was 123 (51%) married, 62 (25.7%) single, 28 (11.6%) I have a relationship,16 (6.6%) engaged, 9 (3.7%) divorced-separated, and 3 (1.4%) widow. 121 (50.2%) of the study participants had children, and 97 of them were younger than 18 years old.

When asked the participants "Have you ever been to a dental checkup?" 215 (89.2%) answered "Yes" to the question, and 75 (31.1%) told their dentist that they had clenched or ground their teeth. After the quarantine period, 85 (35.3%) participants went to the dentist control, and 26 (10.8%) said that the dentist clenched or grinded their teeth.

Before the quarantine period, 67 (27.8%) of the participants said "Yes" to the question "Did you notice that you were clenching your teeth while awake or did someone tell you", this rate increased to 68 (28.8%) during the quarantine period. Before the quarantine period, 69 (28.6%) of the participants said "Yes" to the question "Did you notice that you were clenching your teeth in sleep or did someone tell you", this rate decreased to 67 (27.8%) during the quarantine period (Table 2).

When you woke up in the morning before the quarantine period, 70 (29%) of the participants answered yes to the question of whether they had fatigue, tension, or jaw pain, while this rate increased to 72 (29.8%) participants during the quarantine period.

51.9% of the participants stated that they stayed under home quarantine, 37.8% under hotel quarantine, and 10.4% under dorm

quarantine. It was found that 78.8% of the participants answered once, 16.2% two times, 3% three times, and 2% four or more times to the question of how many times they stayed in quarantine. To the question "How many days did you stay in quarantine," 61.4% of the participants answered 8-14 days, 20.7% 1-7 days, 12% 15-21 days, and 5.8% answered 22 days and above.

In the first days of the quarantine, 28% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 31.9% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 33.6% of those staying in home quarantine felt much or too worried. 24% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 18.7% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 21.6% of those staying in home quarantine felt much or too scared. 24% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the hotel quarantine felt much or too much hopelessness. 28% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 34.1% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 25.6% of those staying in home quarantine felt much or too calm (Table 3).

In the last days of the quarantine, 12% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 14.3% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 12.8% of those staying in the home quarantine felt much or too worried. 16% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 8.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 11.2% of those staying in the home quarantine felt much or too scared. 12% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 7.7% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 8.8% of those staying in home quarantine felt much or too much in panic. 20% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 12.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine felt much or too much in panic. 20% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 5.5% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 12.8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 40.7% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 38.4% of those staying in home quarantine felt much or too calm (Table 4).

The factors that affected you during your quarantine were asked. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 3.3% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 5.6% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option to lose their job. 36% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 23.1% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 19.2% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option to decrease their

Table 2. Difference analysis table between the varia	Table 2. Difference analysis table between the variable of "teeth grinding" variable and the answers to the questions												
		Teeth gr	inding							Chi anuana a	molusia		
		Nothing	-less	Moderate		Much-too much		Total		Chi-square analysis			
		n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р		
Have you noticed or asked someone to grind your teeth	Yes	51	76.1	10	14.9	6	9.0	67	100.0				
while awake?	No	164	94.3	4	2.3	6	3.4	174	100.0	*	0.0001		
	Total	215	89.2	14	5.8	12	5.0	241	100.0				
	Yes	47	69.1	10	14.7	11	16.2	68	100.0	*	0.0001		
During quarantine, have you noticed or someone told you that you are grinding your teeth while awake?	No	168	97.1	4	2.3	1	0.6	173	100.0				
/	Total	215	89.2	14	5.8	12	5.0	241	100.0				
Before the guarantine period, have you noticed or	Yes	33	47.8	20	29.0	16	23.2	69	100.0				
someone told you that you were grinding your teeth	No	160	93.0	3	1.7	9	5.2	172	100.0	66,159	0.0001		
in sleep?	Total	193	80.1	23	9.5	25	10.4	241	100.0				
	Yes	29	43.3	19	28.4	19	28.4	67	100.0				
you that you are grinding your teeth while sleeping?	No	164	94.3	4	2.3	6	3.4	174	100.0	79,049	0.0001		
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Total	193	80.1	23	9.5	25	10.4	241	100.0				

		Wher	e did you st	tay in q	uarantine?						
Which emotional	states did you experience	Dorm	1	Hote	I	Home		Total		Chi-square analysi	S
during the mst h	en aujs of quarantine.	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р
	Nothing-less	10	40.0	43	47.3	52	41.6	105	43.6		0.702
14/	Moderate	8	32.0	19	20.9	31	24.8	58	24.1	1 747	
worried	Much-too much	7	28.0	29	31.9	42	33.6	78	32.4	1,/4/	0.782
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	13	52.0	59	64.8	75	60.0	147	61.0		
Scared	Moderate	6	24.0	15	16.5	23	18.4	44	18.3	1 54	0.810
	Much-too much	6	24.0	17	18.7	27	21.6	50	20.7	1.54	0.819
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	16	64.0	64	70.3	89	71.2	169	70.1		0.845
In papie	Moderate	4	16.0	8	8.8	11	8.8	23	9.5	1 205	
in panic	Much-too much	5	20.0	19	20.9	25	20.0	49	20.3	1,595	
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	15	60.0	68	74.7	79	63.2	162	67.2		
Hanalass	Moderate	4	16.0	7	7.7	22	17.6	33	13.7	*	0.21
Hopeless	Much-too much	6	24.0	16	17.6	24	19.2	46	19.1		0.21
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	13	52.0	38	41.8	60	48.0	111	46.1		
Colm	Moderate	5	20.0	22	24.2	33	26.4	60	24.9	2 2 4 2	0.670
Califf	Much-too much	7	28.0	31	34.1	32	25.6	70	29.0	2,342	0.075
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		

Table 3. Describes the answers given	to the question of where	you were in guarantine and how	w emotional they felt during the first few days
	and the second sec		<b>0</b>

Table 4. Describes the answers given to the question of where you were in quarantine and how they felt in the last few days												
		Wher	e did you s	tay in o	quarantine	?				Chi anuana analusia		
Which emotional states have last few days of your stay in	ve you experienced in the	Dorm	1	Hote	Hotel		Home			Chi-square analys	IS	
lust lew duys of your stay in	r quarantine.	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р	
	Nothing-less	16	64.0	69	75.8	76	60.8	161	66.8		0.026	
Worried	Moderate	6	24.0	9	9.9	33	26.4	48	19.9	*		
	Much-too much	3	12.0	13	14.3	16	12.8	32	13.3		0.056	
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0			
Scared	Nothing-less	16	64.0	76	83.5	94	75.2	186	77.2			
	Moderate	5	20.0	7	7.7	17	13.6	29	12.0	*	0.234	
	Much-too much	4	16.0	8	8.8	14	11.2	26	10.8			
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0			
	Nothing-less	19	76.0	79	86.8	103	82.4	201	83.4		0.649	
In mania	Moderate	3	12.0	5	5.5	11	8.8	19	7.9	*		
in panic	Much-too much	3	12.0	7	7.7	11	8.8	21	8.7			
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0			
	Nothing-less	18	72.0	79	86.8	94	75.2	191	79.3			
Userslass	Moderate	2	8.0	7	7.7	15	12.0	24	10.0	*	0.12	
Hopeless	Much-too much	5	20.0	5	5.5	16	12.8	26	10.8		0.12	
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0			
	Nothing-less	12	48.0	34	37.4	50	40.0	96	39.8			
c.l.	Moderate	5	20.0	20	22.0	27	21.6	52	21.6	0.070		
Calm	Much-too much	8	32.0	37	40.7	48	38.4	93	38.6	0.978	0.913	
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0			

income level. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 7.7% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 0.8% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option to start to have marital problems. 28% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 15.2% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of being away from my children. 32% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 23.1% of those staying at the hotel quarantine, and 22.4% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option thinking that their health would deteriorate. 12% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 13.2% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 15.2% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of getting bad news from social media. 44% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 33.6% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 16% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 16% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 16% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine chose the option of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 41.8% of those staying in the hotel quarantine chose the option of immobility.

those staying in the dorm quarantine, 6.6% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 3.2% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of deterioration of my appearance. 24% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 20.9% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 3.2% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of being dissatisfied with my stay. 36% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 24.2% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 35.2% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 35.2% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 35.2% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 35.2% of those staying in home quarantine, 4.4% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 10.4% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of learning that I have lost a relative or being hospitalized during my stay (Table 5).

Table 5. Describe the answers given to the question of where you will stay in quarantine and which of the following will be effective for you as long as you stay

		Where	e did you s	tay in	quarantin	e?				Chi anuana analusia	
During the quarantine period, which of the f	ollowing	Dorm		Hote	:1	Home		Total		Chi-square analy	515
things have been creetive for you.		n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р
	Yes	2	8.0	3	3.3	7	5.6	12	5.0		
I lost my job	No	23	92.0	88	96.7	118	94.4	229	95.0	*	0.42
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	9	36.0	21	23.1	24	19.2	54	22.4		
Decreased income levels	No	16	64.0	70	76.9	101	80.8	187	77.6	3.42	0.181
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	2	8.0	7	7.7	1	0.8	10	4.1		
Starting to have marital problems	No	23	92.0	84	92.3	124	99.2	231	95.9	*	0.014
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	7	28.0	16	17.6	19	15.2	42	17.4		
Being away from my children	No	18	72.0	75	82.4	106	84.8	199	82.6	2,374	0.305
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	8	32.0	21	23.1	28	22.4	57	23.7		
Thinking that your health will deteriorate	No	17	68.0	70	76.9	97	77.6	184	76.3	1,09	0.58
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	3	12.0	12	13.2	19	15.2	34	14.1		
Bad news from social media	No	22	88.0	79	86.8	106	84.8	207	85.9	0.278	0.87
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	11	44.0	38	41.8	42	33.6	91	37.8		
Immobility	No	14	56.0	53	58.2	83	66.4	150	62.2	1,954	0.377
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	4	16.0	6	6.6	4	3.2	14	5.8		
Deterioration in my appearance	No	21	84.0	85	93.4	121	96.8	227	94.2	6,403	0.041
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	6	24.0	19	20.9	4	3.2	29	12.0		
Dissatisfied with my stay	No	19	76.0	72	79.1	121	96.8	212	88.0	19,323	0.0001
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	9	36.0	22	24.2	44	35.2	75	31.1		
Not being social	No	16	64.0	69	75.8	81	64.8	166	68.9	3,296	0.192
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Yes	1	4.0	4	4.4	13	10.4	18	7.5		
Learning that I have lost a relative or have been hospitalized during my stay	No	24	96.0	87	95.6	112	89.6	223	92.5	3,233	0.199
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		

During your stay in quarantine, you were asked which of the following(s) you experienced. 16% of those staying at the dorm quarantine, 7.7% of those staying at the hotel quarantine, and 4% of those staying at home quarantine chose the option pain in my jaw as much or too much. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 2.2% of those staying at the hotel quarantine, and 1.6% of those staying at home quarantine chose the option earache as much or too much. 32% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 12.1% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 4.1% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of clenching teeth as much or too much. 28% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 3.3% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 1.6% of those staying at home quarantine chose the option of grinding teeth as much or too much. 16% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the dorm quarantine chose the option for those staying at home quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 17.6% of those staying in the dorm quarantine chose the option for too much. 4% of

those staying in the dorm quarantine, 7.7% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 5.6% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option noise from the jaw when opening and closing the mouth as much or too much. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 4.4% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 0.8% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option difficulty in mouth opening as much or too much. 4% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 1.1% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 0.8% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of locking their jaw as much or too much. 4% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, 3.3% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, 3.3% of those staying in the hotel quarantine, and 4% of those staying as much or too much. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 4% of those staying in home quarantine, 3.3% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 4% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of locking the staying in the dorm quarantine, and 4% of those staying as much or too much. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 4% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of facial swelling as much or too much. 8% of those staying in the dorm quarantine, and 4% of those staying in home quarantine chose the option of eating difficulty as much or too much (Table 6).

Table 6. Describe the answers given to the questions regarding where you stayed in quarantine and which of the following experiences did you experience
during your stay in quarantine

		Where	did you sta	ay in qua	arantine?					Chi-square analysis	
Which of the follo	owing experiences did you stay in quarantine?	Dorm		Hotel		Home		Total		Chi-square analys	15
nave during your	stay in quarantine.	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р
	Nothing-less	19	76.0	74	81.3	105	84.0	198	82.2		
Data in mutani	Moderate	2	8.0	10	11.0	15	12.0	27	11.2	*	0.272
Pain in my jaw	Much-too much	4	16.0	7	7.7	5	4.0	16	6.6		0.272
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	20	80.0	77	84.6	119	95.2	216	89.6		
Earache	Moderate	3	12.0	12	13.2	4	3.2	19	7.9	*	0.012
Earache	Much-too much	2	8.0	2	2.2	2	1.6	6	2.5		0.012
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	17	68.0	72	79.1	104	83.2	193	80.1		
Clenching teeth	Moderate	0	0.0	8	8.8	15	12.0	23	9.5	*	0.002
Clenching teeth	Much-too much	8	32.0	11	12.1	6	4.8	25	10.4		0.002
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	16	64.0	84	92.3	115	92.0	215	89.2		
Teeth grinding	Moderate	2	8.0	4	4.4	8	6.4	14	5.8	*	0.001
	Much-too much	7	28.0	3	3.3	2	1.6	12	5.0		0.001
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	10	40.0	50	54.9	66	52.8	126	52.3		
Headache	Moderate	11	44.0	25	27.5	35	28.0	71	29.5	2 011	0.556
fieddache	Much-too much	4	16.0	16	17.6	24	19.2	44	18.3	5,011	
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	19	76.0	77	84.6	111	88.8	207	85.9		
Noise from the	Moderate	5	20.0	7	7.7	7	5.6	19	7.9	*	0 105
and closing	Much-too much	1	4.0	7	7.7	7	5.6	15	6.2		0.195
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	21	84.0	83	91.2	115	92.0	219	90.9		
Difficulty in	Moderate	2	8.0	4	4.4	9	7.2	15	6.2	*	0 132
mouth opening	Much-too much	2	8.0	4	4.4	1	0.8	7	2.9		0.152
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
	Nothing-less	23	92.0	89	97.8	124	99.2	236	97.9		
Locking the jaw	Moderate	1	4.0	1	1.1	0	0.0	2	0.8	*	0.096
LOCKING UIC JAW	Much-too much	1	4.0	1	1.1	1	0.8	3	1.2		
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		

Table 6. Continued											
Which of the following experiences did you have during your stay in quarantine?		Where did you stay in quarantine?							Chi anuana analuria		
		Dorm		Hotel		Home		Total		Chi-square analysis	
		n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	Chi-square	р
Facial swelling	Nothing-less	23	92.0	86	94.5	120	96.0	229	95.0	- *	0.605
	Moderate	1	4.0	2	2.2	3	2.4	6	2.5		
	Much-too much	1	4.0	3	3.3	2	1.6	6	2.5		
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		
Eating difficulty	Nothing-less	21	84.0	78	85.7	112	89.6	211	87.6	- *	0.538
	Moderate	2	8.0	10	11.0	8	6.4	20	8.3		
	Much-too much	2	8.0	3	3.3	5	4.0	10	4.1		
	Total	25	100.0	91	100.0	125	100.0	241	100.0		

DISCUSSION

COVID-19 has interfered with global and socioeconomic activities such as travel plans, work, and normal life activities, causing unexpected deaths and illnesses. Studies have reported that moderate and severe anxiety occurs in a high percentage of COVID-19 cases. Suspicious and even inaccurate information about the disease, the lack of information on the affected areas, the number of infected people, and the actual death rate have led to fear and distrust among the public. People and states preferred social isolation, which is the safest method of protection, to fully understand what the existing disease is and to prevent its spread. Social isolation is associated with physical and mental health. Many factors such as were dismissed, decreased income level, marital problems, staying away from children, thinking that their health would deteriorate, getting bad news from social media, immobilization, deterioration of appearance, dissatisfaction with the living environment, not being able to socialize, hospitalization, or death of a relative caused increased stress levels in people who were in guarantine.<sup>11,13,14</sup> In our study, we asked the participants to answer these questions. Receiving bad news from social media and learning that a relative's condition deteriorated and was hospitalized or died was higher among those who remained in home quarantine. In all other questions, those who remained in dorm quarantine were observed to be affected at a higher rate.

There is a positive correlation between bruxism and stress. It has been observed that the frequency of bruxism increases in populations with high stress levels.<sup>7-9,11,12</sup> Bruxism during sleep and awake states are recognized as different entities with different etiologies. Awake bruxism is associated with psychological factors such as anxiety, stress, and negative emotions. It has been reported that the frequency of awake bruxism is 5-6 times higher than normal in individuals experiencing high stress, but the role of psychology in sleep bruxism remains controversial.<sup>2,9</sup> According to a researcher, stress impairs sleep quality and increases the transition between REM and non-REM sleep periods, thus increasing micro-stimulation in the jaw muscles.<sup>7</sup> In our study, it was observed that the frequency of those who stated that they had a higher level of teeth-grinding problems while awake increased during the quarantine period compared to before. An increase was also reported during the quarantine for those who responded excessively to the clenching problem while sleeping before the quarantine period.

In awake bruxism, possible bruxism can be identified using selfreport questionnaires. However, diagnosing bruxism while sleeping is difficult in people who live alone and when no measurement (polysomnographic measurement) is made. To give a definitive diagnosis in both types of bruxism, the patient should be examined and diagnosed by a dentist.<sup>5,7</sup> In our study, most of the participants gave importance to oral and dental health and visited the dentist. It was observed that of those participating in the study, one-third had a habit of clenching, which the dentist detected and informed the patient before the quarantine. It was found that one-third of those who went to the dentist before the quarantine period went to the dentist again after the quarantine period due to dental problems.

It has been observed that there was a slight increase in the quarantine period among people who noticed that they were clenching their teeth while awake, or someone told them this before the quarantine period. On the other hand, there has been a decrease in the proportion of people who noticed that they were grinding their teeth while sleeping, or someone else told them before the quarantine period. In self-reported approaches, pain or fatigue in the masticatory muscles of patients can be considered as bruxism. However, in clinical evaluation, pain in the masticatory muscles is used to diagnose both TMD and bruxism.<sup>8</sup> In our study, when the participants were asked about fatigue, tension, and jaw pain when they woke up in the morning, no significant difference was observed between what they felt before and during the quarantine period.

In the study by Cotrin et al.<sup>14</sup>, participants were aware of the seriousness of the coronavirus, and high anxiety levels were observed in those who remained in quarantine. Studies have observed that home quarantine is usually applied to people during pandemics. Unlike other studies, our study consisted of people who were considered contacts who stayed under hotel and dorm guarantine apart from home guarantine. Participants in our study were asked about their emotional states (worried, scared, in a panic, hopeless, and calm) they felt in the first and last days of quarantine, how many times they had been in quarantine, and how long they had been in quarantine. The length and frequency of the guarantine period did not affect the mood of the groups. Those who stayed at home during the first few days of quarantine showed more worry than those who stayed in dorms and hotels. It can be thought that the reason for this is the possibility of infection of the disease by other people at home. On the other hand, the feelings of fear, panic, and hopelessness were most common among those staying in the dorm quarantine. The reason for this may be that they are far from their relatives and live in dormitories. Hotel stayers were found to be the calmest during the first days of quarantine. The reason for

this may be that they feel like they are in a holiday environment. In the last days of the quarantine, regardless of place, length, and frequency of stay, worry, fear, panic, and hopelessness decreased, whereas calm increased in all groups. Psychological and somatic reactions experienced by people may be relieved within hours. For this reason, time is spent in the same place, and the person adapts to the situation.<sup>2,3,6,9,11,14-16</sup>

One of the common causes of ear pain in the temporomandibular region is bruxism, which is often accompanied by stress and anxiety.<sup>17</sup> Those who stayed in quarantined dorms experienced statistically significant complaints of earache, clenching, and grinding teeth compared with other hotel and home quarantined groups.

Relationship status can also affect stress, anxiety, and depression. Married people have more anxiety during quarantine.<sup>18</sup> In our study, more than half of the participants were married; however, it was observed that those who stayed at the dorm quarantine and the hotel quarantine started to experience marital problems in a statistically significant way compared with those who stayed at home quarantine.

In our study, most of those who were married had children under the age of 18, which means they needed parental care and family support. Being away from their homes and children due to quarantine causes more stress for parents, and they may not receive sufficient support from the people with whom they are together.

Self-reported questionnaires are a reliable tool for measuring possible bruxism habits.<sup>5,8</sup> This method provides an advantage in terms of seeing the problem quickly, but it is difficult to get people to answer the questionnaire because it is voluntary.<sup>14</sup> Because of this, this research does not include the entire country but only individuals who remain in contact with other individuals under quarantine within 1 month.

#### Study Limitations

As criteria for exclusion from the study, those whose PCR results were positive during the quarantine process were classified as foreign nationals and people under the age of 18 who remained in quarantine. Moreover, if the phone numbers were the same for a family, only one participant participated in the study.

## CONCLUSION

Regardless of the source, anxiety has a serious and positive relationship between anxiety and dental health. For this reason, especially in a highstress situation like a pandemic; dentists should perform a detailed anamnesis to evaluate the patient's situation well and make a diagnosis and treatment accordingly.

Although the reason for the patient's visit to the doctor may appear to be a simple toothache, underlying factors, such as clenching, should not be forgotten, and the possible etiologies of the patient should be investigated with a holistic approach. It is possible to prevent bruxism habits by increasing awareness among people. Tooth erosion, jaw pain, and locking can be reduced in the following years for these people.

In our research group, it was determined that the awareness of clenching was low. Considering the temporomandibular joint problems and muscle spasms that clenching may cause in the future, it is important to increase this awareness.

## MAIN POINTS

- The worry, scared, panic, and hopelessness felt in the first days of the quarantine period gave way to calmness in the following days. This shows how people adapt to adverse situations.
- Clenching, grinding of teeth, and earache were mostly seen in those whose quarantine place was dormitory.
- The COVID-19 pandemic, which affects the whole world and health, has been effective in the increase of awake bruxism.

## ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study protocol was approved by Dr. Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital Ethics Committee (approval number: 38/21, date:12.07.2021).

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent to publish this paper was obtained from the patients.

## **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.G.Ç.G., Concept: B.G.Ç.G., K.O., Design: B.G.Ç.G., K.O., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.G.Ç.G., Analysis and/ or Interpretation: B.G.Ç.G., Literature Search: B.G.Ç.G., Writing: B.G.Ç.G.

## DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- World Health Organization WHO. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): situation report – 83. 2020 Apr 12 [access 2020 Apr 12]. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situationreports/20200412-sitrep-83-covid-19. pdf?sfvrsn=697ce98d\_4.
- 2. Peloso RM, Pini NIP, Sundfeld Neto D, Mori AA, Oliveira RCG, Valarelli FP, et al. How does the quarantine resulting from COVID-19 Impact dental appointments and patient anxiety levels? Braz Oral Res. 2020;34: e84.
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate Psychological Responses and Associated Factors during the Initial Stage of the 2019 Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Epidemic among the General Population in China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020; 17(5): 1729.
- 4. Republic of Turkey Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Public Health; COVID-19 (SARS-CoV-2 infection) Contact Tracking, Output Management, Patient at Home Follow-up and Filiation file:///C:/Us-ers/pc/Desktop/pdf/ covid19rehberi%20temasli%20takibi%20evdehastaizlemivefilyasyonpdf.pdf (accessed on 18/06/2021).
- Câmara-Souza MB, Carvalho AG, Figueredo OMC, Bracci A, Manfredini D, Rodrigues Garcia RCM. Awake bruxism frequency and psychosocial factors in college preparatory students. Cranio. 2023; 41: 178-84.
- 6. Emodi-Perlman A, Eli I, Smardz J, Uziel N, Wieckiewicz G, Gilon E, et al. Temporomandibular Disorders and Bruxism Outbreak as a Possible Factor of Orofacial Pain Worsening during the COVID-19 Pandemic-Concomitant Research in Two Countries. J Clin Med. 2020; 9(10): 3250.
- Winocur E, Uziel N, Lisha T, Goldsmith C, Eli I. Self-reported bruxism associations with perceived stress, motivation for control, dental anxiety and gagging. J Oral Rehabil. 2011; 38(1): 3-11.

- Paesani DA, Lobbezoo F, Gelos C, Guarda-Nardini L, Ahlberg J, Manfredini D. Correlation between self-reported and clinically based diagnoses of bruxism in temporomandibular disorders patients. J Oral Rehabil. 2013; 40(11): 803-9.
- Almeida-Leite CM, Stuginski-Barbosa J, Conti PCR. How psychosocial and economic impacts of COVID-19 pandemic can interfere on bruxism and temporomandibular disorders? J Appl Oral Sci. 2020; 28: e20200263.
- Vrbanović E, Alajbeg IZ, Alajbeg I. COVID-19 pandemic and Zagreb earthquakes as stressors in patients with temporomandibular disorders. Oral Dis. 2020; 27(Suppl 3): 688-93.
- Carrillo-Diaz M, Ortega-Martínez AR, Romero-Maroto M, González-Olmo MJ. Lockdown impact on lifestyle and its association with oral parafunctional habits and bruxism in a Spanish adolescent population. Int J Paediatr Dent. 2022; 32(2): 185-93.
- Chung J, Lobbezoo F, van Selms MKA, Chattrattrai T, Aarab G, Mitrirattanakul S. Physical, psychological and socio-demographic predictors related to patients' self-belief of their temporomandibular disorders' aetiology. J Oral Rehabil. 2021; 48(2): 109-23.
- Shah SMA, Mohammad D, Qureshi MFH, Abbas MZ, Aleem S. Prevalence, Psychological Responses and Associated Correlates of Depression, Anxiety and Stress in a Global Population, During the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pandemic. Community Ment Health J. 2021; 57(1): 101-10.

- 14. Cotrin P, Peloso RM, Oliveira RC, de Oliveira RCG, Pini NIP, Valarelli FP, et al. Impact of coronavirus pandemic in appointments and anxiety/concerns of patients regarding orthodontic treatment. Orthod Craniofac Res. 2020; 23(4): 455-61.
- Hou WK, Lee TM, Liang L, Li TW, Liu H, Ettman CK, et al. Civil unrest, COVID-19 stressors, anxiety, and depression in the acute phase of the pandemic: a population-based study in Hong Kong. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2021; 56(8): 1499-508.
- Bergiannaki JD, Psarros C, Varsou E, Paparrigopoulos T, Soldatos CR. Protracted acute stress reaction following an earthquake. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 2003; 107(1): 18-24.
- 17. Yosunkaya MT. Is Otalgia a symptom of anxiety in children? Am J Otolaryngol. 2020; 41(4): 102534.
- Kasalova P, Prasko J, Holubova M, Vrbova K, Zmeskalova D, Slepecky M, et al. Anxiety disorders and marital satisfaction. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2018; 38(8): 555-64.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2023-66 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):316-322



# **Refractory Vasovagal Syncope Despite Tilt Training: Should** Paroxetine be Included in the Treatment?

🕲 Lale Dinç Asarcıklı<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Osman Beton<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Burak Acar<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Nur Beton<sup>4</sup>, 🕲 Hasan Birtan<sup>5</sup>, 🕲 Güzin Zekican<sup>6</sup>, 🕲 Nuryıl Yılmaz<sup>7</sup>, Hakkı Kaya<sup>8</sup>, Recep Kurt<sup>9</sup>, Yeşim Akın<sup>10</sup>, Mehmet Birhan Yılmaz<sup>11</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Cardiology, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dr. Siyami Ersek Thoracic and Cardiovascular and Surgery Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup>Department of Cardiology, Cyprus International University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus

<sup>3</sup>Department of Cardiology, Kocaeli University Faculty of Medicine, Kocaeli, Türkiye

<sup>4</sup>Clinic of Cardiology, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

<sup>5</sup>Clinic of Cardiovascular Surgery, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus

<sup>6</sup>Department of Cardiology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus

<sup>7</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, İzmir Tepecik Training and Research Hospital, İzmir, Türkiye

<sup>8</sup>Department of Cardiology, Onsekiz Mart University Faculty of Medicine, Canakkale, Türkiye

<sup>9</sup>Department of Cardiology, Cumhuriyet University Faculty of Medicine, Sivas, Türkiye

<sup>10</sup>Department of Cardiology, Karabük University Faculty of Medicine, Zonguldak, Türkiye

<sup>11</sup>Department of Cardiology, Dokuz Eylül University Faculty of Medicine, İzmir, Türkiye

## Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: To investigate the efficacy of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRI) for preventing spontaneous vasovagal syncope (VVS) in patients with refractory VVS despite home-based tilt training (TT).

MATERIALS AND METHODS: We included 111 consecutive patients with VVS. All patients were instructed to increase salt and fluid intake. perform counterpressure maneuvers, and perform TT. The first control visit was scheduled within 2 months of the initial treatment. Paroxetine 20 mg was added to TT in patients with refractory VVS despite TT (TT plus SSRI group) at the first control visit, and patients without refractory VVS who continued TT (TT group). The clinical features of the patients, spontaneous VVS attacks before and after treatment, and follow-up data were recorded.

**RESULTS:** A total of 111 consecutive patients (67 females; age: 32±12 years) were treated with TT (64 patients) or TT plus SSRI (47 patients). The mean follow-up was 8.9±3.3 months after the first control visit. During follow-up, 38 (80.9%) patients in the TT + SSRI group and 30 (46.9%) in the TT group were asymptomatic (p<0.001). In the univariate analyses, TT plus SSRI treatment and TT treatment during follow-up were predictors of an asymptomatic course. Multivariate analysis showed that TT plus SSRI therapy (odds ratio: 4,785, 95% confidence interval: 4,784-11,501, p<0.001) as the sole predictor of asymptomatic course at follow-up.

CONCLUSION: The addition of paroxetine to the treatment of patients with recurrent VVS who do not respond to TT and conventional treatment is an effective and well-tolerated treatment method for preventing vasovagal attacks.

Keywords: Refractory vasovagal syncope, tilt training, drug treatment, selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor, paroxetine

To cite this article: Dinc Asarcıklı L, Beton O, Acar B, Beton N, Birtan H, Zekican G, Yılmaz N, Kaya H, Kurt R, Akın Y, Yılmaz MB. Refractory Vasovagal Syncope Despite Tilt Training: Should Paroxetine be Included in the Treatment?. Cyprus | Med Sci. 2024;9(5):316-322

ORCID IDs of the authors: L.D.A. 0000-0002-7828-9487; O.B. 0000-0001-8540-428X; B.A. 0000-0003-3217-5000; N.B. 0009-0002-0066-2840; H.B. 0000-0002-4952-9402; G.Z. 0009-0004-6935-8454; N.Y. 0000-0002-6229-9197; H.K. 0000-0001-5230-635X; R.K. 0000-0001-6237-1585; Y.A. 0000-0002-1238-7439; M.B.Y. 0000-0002-8169-8628.



Address for Correspondence: Lale Dinç Asarcıklı **E-mail:** mdlaledinc@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-7828-9487

Received: 20.07.2023 Accepted: 27.05.2024

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License.

## INTRODUCTION

Recurrent vasovagal (neurocardiogenic) syncope (VVS) is a common and important clinical presentation, accounting for 66% of syncope cases presenting to the emergency department.<sup>1,2</sup> The diagnosis of VVS, which causes deterioration in quality of life, limitation and inadequacy, increased hospital admissions, and serious health expenditures in many young patients, started to be made more frequently after the application of the head-up tilt test (HUTT).<sup>3,4</sup>

Although many randomized and non-randomized clinical trials have investigated various treatments for VVS, an effective treatment for VVS has not yet been identified.<sup>3-7</sup> Various pharmacological and nonpharmacological approaches are available for the treatment of VVS.<sup>4-7</sup> VVS treatment includes a multi-layered approach consisting of lifestyle changes, physical maneuvers, drug treatments, and, if necessary, pacemaker implantation. HUTT is greatly helpful in identifying younger patients but has also been shown to be beneficial in prophylactic treatment.<sup>6,8,9</sup> Tilt training (TT), or passive standing, is a nonpharmacological VVS treatment that involves repeated and prolonged exposure of the cardiovascular system to an orthostatic stimulus. However, there are inconsistencies in subsequent studies that vary according to the training protocol and patient compliance. Previous studies have shown that TT is a promising treatment for VVS.<sup>9-12</sup>

Non-invasive treatment of VVS includes both pharmacological and non-pharmacological interventions. Conversely, studies have been conducted on various drugs with different mechanisms of action for the treatment of VVS.<sup>13</sup> The central serotonergic system, which appears to be associated with the pathogenesis of VVS, has been investigated in several clinical studies.<sup>13-15</sup> In these studies, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs), such as fluoxetine, sertraline, and paroxetine, were shown to be effective in preventing vasovagal events.<sup>15</sup> In a placebocontrolled study involving severely symptomatic patients, paroxetine was found to be effective in preventing syncope attacks; however, this finding has not been supported by a small number of subsequent studies.<sup>16</sup> In this study, in patients with resistant VVS despite TT, the effectiveness of adding paroxetine to existing non-pharmacological therapy in preventing syncope attacks.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **The Study Group**

This was a multicenter prospective observational study including 632 consecutive patients who were admitted to or referred to 3 different state hospital cardiology clinics with a diagnosis of transient loss of consciousness (TLoC) over a 1-year period. VVS was found in 183 (29.0%) patients, situational syncope in 38 (6.0%), carotid sinus syncope in 6 (0.9%), and orthostatic hypotension in 92 (14.6%) (including primary or secondary autonomic failure, postural orthostatic tachycardia syndrome and drug-induced), cardiac arrhythmia in 104 (16.5%), structural cardiovascular disease or pulmonary diseases in 27 (4.3%), neurological disorders (epilepsy, transient ischemic attack, non-epileptic drop attack) in 66 (10.4%), psychogenic disorders in 17 (2.7%), metabolic disorders (diabetic patients with or without hypoglycemia), in 34 (5.4%), inner ear-related vertigo in 5 (0.8%), and uncertain or unknown diagnosis (idiopathic) in 60 (9.5%) patients as the cause of TLoC.

Of the 183 patients with a diagnosis of VVS, 56 were excluded due to a history of syncope for 6 months (n=37), antidepressants, or anxiolytics

use [(n=19) (12 of them using non-SSRI and 3 of them using SSRI antidepressants, and 4 of them using anxiolytics] (Figure 1). Of the remaining 127 patients with a diagnosis of VVS, those who attended at least 2 follow-up visits (provided that the first control visit was in the outpatient clinic) were included in the study. Patients who did not attend the second control visit were contacted via telephone, and a telephone-mediated control visit was conducted. Patients were advised to measure their own pulse and blood pressure, and if they could not measure it, they were advised to apply to the nearest health institution, and the obtained data were recorded. After treatment, 10 patients who did not come to the first control visit and 6 patients who could not be reached by telephone for the second control visit were excluded from the study. The remaining 111 patients constituted the study group (Figure 1). This study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The Institutional Ethical Committee of Türkiye's Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital approved the study (approval number: 091023-310-EPK). All patients enrolled in the study provided informed consent to participate in the study.

## **VVS Diagnosis**

In the study group, patients with no pathological findings in the results of 12-lead electrocardiography (ECG), 72-hour Holter ECG followup, exercise ECG test, transthoracic echocardiography, and HUTT examinations were diagnosed with VVS. The HUTT (for 10 minutes in an upright position) was performed by an experienced nurse; previously it had been explained in a detailed version.<sup>17</sup>

#### **Treatment and Follow-up**

Patients were informed about the etiology of VVS, prodrome, and physical counterpressure maneuvers and how to avoid possible triggers. Adequate water and fluid intake, targeting 2-3 liters of fluid and 10 g of sodium chloride per day was recommended for the patients. In addition, the patients were educated about a strict daily TT program at home and additional flexible exercise training (ET) programs.

**1. TT program:** Patients were educated to practice TT at home while leaning against a wall (20 cm away from the wall with their ankles). The sessions were planned to be conducted in a safe and comfortable environment to prevent physical trauma and to be completed under the supervision of a family member. Patients were educated with sustained standing training and were encouraged to quit early if symptoms of presyncope developed; otherwise, TT was terminated at 30 minutes. Patients were informed that they would start the training with 5 min sessions twice a day, morning, and evening, increasing the session duration up to 30 min. Two months later, patients were instructed to perform the alternate-day TT program.

**2. ET program:** Patients were educated about the flexible ET program consisting of 45-60 minutes exercise sessions three times a week. Each exercise session was planned to consist of stretching and relaxation exercises, such as 5 min stretching, 30-40 minutes cycling or brisk walking, 2-10 minutes local strengthening (sitting, pushing, and pulling), and 5 min stretching. In cases of symptoms, it was recommended to interrupt training and switch to a horizontal position.

The first control visit was planned within the first 2 months after the start of treatment. In the event of spontaneous syncope between the initiation of therapy and the first control visit, patients were considered symptomatic, and 20 mg of paroxetine (at the first control visit) was added to the existing therapy. Patients without spontaneous syncope between the first treatment and the first control visit were considered asymptomatic, and their current treatment was continued. Asymptomatic patients who visited the first control visit were named the TT group, whereas symptomatic patients who were administered paroxetine were named the TT plus SSRI group.

## **Definitions and Data Collection**

Side effects related to paroxetine or reasons for discontinuing paroxetine treatment were recorded at the control visits. The expected side effects are drowsiness, headache, transient sexual dysfunction, constipation, dry mouth, nausea, and diarrhea. The patients were examined by a psychiatrist. The psychiatrist applied the Beck Depression Inventory (Symptom Checklist-90) during the examination. Minor psychiatric disorders (MPD) diagnosed according to the DSM-IV-TR criteria<sup>18</sup> were included in the study. However, patients with dysthymia, major depressive episodes, or chronic psychiatric disorders were excluded from the study group by inclusion in the psychogenic syncope group (Figure 1). Routinely, each patient was asked to record the number of training sessions per day and their duration. In addition, each patient was asked to record their spontaneous and presyncope episodes. The efficacy of paroxetine treatment was evaluated by comparing the symptomatic status of patients in the TT and TT plus SSRI groups between the first and last control visits.

#### Statistical Analysis

Continuous variables were expressed as mean ± standard deviation in the presence of a normal distribution, as median (minimummaximum) in the presence of an abnormal distribution, and categorical variables were expressed as percentages. For comparisons between patient groups, ( $\chi^2$  test was used for categorical variables, the t-test for independent groups for normally distributed continuous variables, and the Mann-Whitney U test for abnormally distributed variables. The paired t-test was used for normally distributed values, and McNemar test was used for categorical variables (percentages and ratios) to compare changes in the first and last control visit values. Univariate regression analysis was used to measure the relationship of variables with the asymptomatic (absence of syncope) condition during the first and last control visits. Variables with a p value of <0.1 in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariate analysis. The TT program, TT program plus SSRI, adequate ET program, average daily TT duration, and average daily TT number were included in the multivariate logistic regression analysis using the forward stepwise method to identify independent indicators of asymptomatic status during follow-up. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 18.0 software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

#### Study Population

The characteristics of the study population are shown in Table 1. A total of 111 consecutive patients were included in the study. Of these patients, 44 were male and 67 were female. The mean age was  $32\pm12$  years. The median numbers of syncopes and presyncope per year were 4 and 10, respectively. Twenty (15%) patients had a history of severe trauma due to a previous syncope attack. The median duration of VVS history was 2.5 years (Table 1). The first control visit was made to all

patients in the cardiology outpatient clinic  $28\pm5$  days after the first treatment. During the period between the start of treatment and the first visit, 47 patients were symptomatic, whereas 64 (57.7%) patients were asymptomatic (Table 1, Figure 1).

The baseline characteristics of patients who were asymptomatic and symptomatic at the first control visit were similar (Table 1). Symptomatic patients presented to the first control visit earlier than asymptomatic patients ( $30\pm4$  days versus  $27\pm5$  days; p=0.001). The mean duration and number of daily TTs were statistically higher in the asymptomatic group than in the symptomatic group ( $609\pm172$  min compared to  $54\pm7$  min, p<0.001 and  $421\pm187$  min,  $40\pm10$  min, respectively; p<0.001). However, the mean duration and number of daily TT were statistically greater in the asymptomatic group than in the symptomatic group than in the symptomatic group than in the symptomatic group than in the symptomatic group ( $20.0\pm3.0$  min vs.  $15.0\pm4.9$  min and  $1.8\pm0.1$  vs.  $1.5\pm0.3$ , respectively, p<0.001 for both). Compliance with an adequate ET program was statistically higher in the asymptomatic group than in the symptomatic group (73.4% compared to 42.6%; p=0.001), whereas there were no differences between the groups in compliance with adequate salt and fluid intake treatment (p=0.445) (Table 1).

## Follow-up Data After the First Control Visit

Additional paroxetine was added to TT (TT + SSRI group) for treating symptomatic patients (n=47) at the first control visit, and TT treatment was continued in asymptomatic patients (n=64) (TT group) (Figure 1). Patients were followed for 8.9 $\pm$ 3.3 months after the first control visit (Table 2). During follow-up, 30 patients (46.9%) in the TT group and 38 (80.9%) in the TT plus SSRI group were asymptomatic (p<0.001). However, the mean number and duration of daily TT were statistically higher in the asymptomatic group than in the symptomatic group (12.6 $\pm$ 2.0 min vs. 9.6 $\pm$ 3.1 min and 1.1 $\pm$ 0.1 vs. 0.9 $\pm$ 0.2, respectively, p<0.001 for both). Compliance with an adequate ET program was higher in the asymptomatic group than in the symptomatic group (59.4% vs. 36.2%; p=0.016), whereas adequate salt and water intake levels were similar between the groups (p=0.487) (Table 2).

In the TT group, the mean daily TT duration, mean daily TT number, and adequate compliance with the ET program during follow-up were significantly decreased compared with the values at the first control visit (p<0.001, p<0.001, and p=0.004, respectively). Similarly, the mean daily TT duration and mean daily TT number during follow-up were significantly decreased in the TT plus SSRI group (p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively). However, in the TT plus SSRI group, there was no significant difference in compliance with the ET program during follow-up up compared with the value at the first control visit (p=0.250).

In 7 patients (14.9%) in the TT plus SSRI group, paroxetine-related side effects (drowsiness, transient sexual dysfunction, constipation, dry mouth, nausea, and diarrhea) were observed; however, treatment was continued in these patients. Paroxetine treatment was discontinued in one patient at the fifth month of follow-up because of weight gain (according to the patient, this was related to paroxetine). The patient was asymptomatic during the follow-up, and no syncope attacks were recorded after treatment was discontinued.

#### Independent Predictors of Asymptomatic Patients at Follow-up

The results of univariate and multivariate analyses performed to determine the predictors of asymptomatic status (absence of VVS attacks) during follow-up (the time between the first control visit and

Table 1. Characteristics of the study group								
Variables	All patients, (n=111)	Asymptomatic during the first visit, (n=64)	Symptomatic during the first visit, (n =47)	р				
Basal parameters								
Age	32±12	32±12	33±12	0.589				
Female gender, n (%)	67 (60.4)	41 (64.1)	26 (55.3)	0.352				
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	23.6±4.6	23.2±3.9	24.2±5.3	0.266				
Smokers, n (%)	45 (40.5)	27 (42.2)	18 (38.3)	0.680				
Number of syncopes per year	4 (1-54)	4 (1-30)	4 (1-54)	0.388				
Number of presyncope annually	10 (3-54)	8.5(13-50)	12 (3-54)	0.103				
Number of syncopes per year >2, n (%)	99 (89.2)	57 (89.1)	42 (89.4)	1.0				
Syncope causing severe trauma, n (%)	20 (15.0)	9 (14.1)	11 (23.4)	0.310				
Prodromal symptoms, n (%)	78 (70.3)	49 (76.6)	29 (61.7)	0.138				
History of positive HUTT, n (%)	75 (67.6)	43 (67.2)	32 (68.1)	0.920				
VVS history duration (years)	2.5 (1-11)	2.5 (1-11)	2.5 (1-10)	0.507				
History of head trauma, n (%)	16 (14.4)	8 (12.5)	8 (17.0)	0.692				
Minor psychiatric disorders, n (%)	42 (37.8)	22 (34.4)	20 (42.6)	0.380				
Parameters of the first control visit								
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	123±14	123±12	124±15	0.899				
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71±10	73±10	72±10	0.590				
Heart rate, beats per minute	75±11	76±10	75±12	0.687				
Days of the first visit	28±5	30±4	27±5	0.001				
Total number of TTs	48±11	54±7	40±10	<0.001				
Total TT time (minute)	529±200	609±172	421±187	<0.001				
Average daily TT time, minute	18.0±4.6	20.0±3.0	15.0±4.9	<0.001				
Average number of daily TTs	1.7±0.3	1.8±0.1	1.5±0.3	<0.001				
Adequate treatment adherence								
Salt and fluid intake, n (%)	92 (82.9)	55 (85.9)	37 (78.7)	0.445				
ET program, n (%)	67 (60.4)	47 (73.4)	20 (42.6)	0.001				
ET: Everying training, HUTT: Head up tilt test. TT: Tilt training, PMI: Pody mass index, WS: Vasevagal sunsene								

ET: Exercise training, HUTT: Head-up tilt test, TT: Tilt training, BMI: Body mass index, VVS: Vasovagal syncope

the last follow-up visit) are presented in Table 3. Univariate analysis revealed that TT plus SSRI [odds ratio (OR): 4,785, 95% confidence interval (CI): 4,784-11,501, p<0.001)] and TT (OR: 0.209, 95% CI: 0.087-0.502, p<0.001) were predictors of asymptomatic patients at follow-up. Multivariate analysis revealed that only TT plus SSRI treatment (OR: 4,785, 95% CI: 4,784-11,501, p<0.001) was an independent predictor of asymptomatic patients at follow-up.

## DISCUSSION

The main findings of this study, which investigated the effect of adding paroxetine (SSRI) to the treatment of resistant VVS despite TT, are as follows: 1) TT treatment initially seemed effective in preventing syncope attacks; however, loss of efficacy was observed during follow-up, probably due to decreased compliance of patients with TT programs; 2) the addition of paroxetine to TT treatment resulted in a reduction in syncope attacks in patients with resistant syncope attacks despite TT; 3) paroxetine has been shown to have a lasting effect on preventing syncope attacks in patients with TT-resistant VVS, as long as it is used; 4) paroxetine was observed to be well-tolerated in patients with VVS; 5) TT plus SSRI treatment was found to be the only independent predictor of being asymptomatic during follow-up.

To date, few pathophysiological suggestions have been made regarding the underlying mechanisms of VVS.<sup>3,4,6</sup> Susceptibility to VVS has been associated with insufficient sympathetic activation, resulting in sympathetically mediated peripheral vascular resistance reduction.<sup>10,18</sup> Upright posture induces gravity-induced pooling of venous blood in the lower extremities. This pooling and displacement of intravascular volume decreases cardiac output, activates arterial baroreceptor reflexes, and increases sympathetic stimulation. The activation of ventricular mechanoreceptors produces a strong afferent signal in the brainstem and inhibits sympathetic stimulation.<sup>16</sup> Another possible mechanism is stimulation of the Bezold-Jarisch reflex because of strong contraction of the myocardium against insufficient filling of the heart chamber, resulting in paradoxical hypotension and bradycardia; this may also be responsible for VVS. In general, VVS is caused by three main mechanisms: low vasoconstrictor reserve variability, increased autonomic tone, and changes in baroreflex sensitivity. Most triggers consist of prolonged sitting or standing in an upright position, or muscle activation with a reduction in cardiac preload.6

VVS has different treatment options, and it continues to be an important health problem. Various non-pharmacological approaches are effective for treating VVS.<sup>6</sup> The initial strategy is patient education, which is very helpful and necessary. Patients should be advised to avoid heat



Figure 1. Flow chart showing patients who participated in the treatment-based study at follow-up and the distribution of patients into subgroups according to drug therapy.

TLoC: Transient loss of consciousness; CV: Cardiovascular, TT: Tilt training, OH: Orthostatic hypotension, SSRI: Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, VVS: Vasovagal syncope.

Table 2. Follow-up data of the study group after the first control visit							
Variables	All patients, (n=111)	TT group, (n=64)	The TT + SSRI group, (n=47)	р			
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	123±14	124±14	122±14	0.276			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	71±8	70±9	73±8	0.134			
Heart rate, beats per minute	74±11	73±12	76±9	0.259			
Duration until last visit (months)	8.9 ±3.3	9.0±3.3	8.8±3.2	0.717			
Asymptomatic at follow-up, n (%)	68 (61.3)	30 (46.9)	38 (80.9)	<0.001			
Syncope during follow-up, n (%)	43 (37.8)	34 (53.1)	9 (19.1)	<0.001			
Syncope causing severe trauma, n (%)	11 (9.9)	10 (15.6)	1 (2.1)	0.023			
Average TT time per day, minute	11.4±2.9	12.6±2.0	9.6±3.1	<0.001			
Average number of daily TTs	1.1 ±0.2	1.1±0.1	0.9±0.2	<0.001			
Adequate treatment adherence							
Salt and fluid intake, n (%)	97 (84.7)	56 (87.5)	38 (80.9)	0.487			
ET program, n (%)	55 (49.5)	38 (59.4)	17 (36.2)	0.016			
ET: Exercise training, TT: Tilt training, SSRI: Selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitor.							

and beware of early prodromal symptoms. Aydin et al.<sup>19</sup> showed that a significant reduction in syncope frequency could be achieved using the standard training protocol. Isometric muscle contractions increase cardiac output and arterial blood pressure while reducing syncope in non-randomized and randomized studies.<sup>20,21</sup> Communication with the patient is important during treatment because treatment is usually tailored to the patient's response. TT was developed after repeated HUTT observations. It has been suggested that repetitive HUTTs gradually increase peripheral sympathetic nervous system function and may decrease positive test results.<sup>8,22</sup> Several studies have shown that training for continuous exposure to orthostatic stress effectively reduces the risk of syncope recurrence.<sup>9,22</sup> Ector et al.<sup>8</sup> found that patients could tolerate all HUTTs after 3-6 sessions, if they repeated daily HUTTs to hospitalized patients until the patients developed a vasovagal response and tolerated the entire test period. Therefore, many researchers have prescribed TT at home, which involves standing against a wall for 30 minutes twice a day; however, it was reported that outpatient TT has no beneficial effect on spontaneous episodes of syncope during follow-up.<sup>10,23</sup> It has been reported that patient compliance is necessary for a continuous TT program, and it may be difficult to achieve a high rate of patient compliance in each patient

Table 3. Univariate and multivariate predictors of asymptomatic at follow-up								
	Univariate		Multivariate					
Variables	OR	95% CI	р	OR	95% CI	р		
TT + SSRI	4,785	4,784-11,501	< 0.001	4,785	4,784-11,501	<0.001		
TT program	0.209	0.087-0.502	< 0.001					
ET program	0.489	0.223-1,058	0.069					
Number of presyncope annually	1,026	0.987-1,067	0.199					
TT duration per day	0.862	0.746-0.997	0.045					
TT per day	0.116	0.009-1,430	0.093					
CI: Confidence interval, ET: Exercise training, TT: Tilt training, OR: Odds ratio, SSRI: Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor.								

group.<sup>24</sup> A study conducted by Foglia-Manzillo et al.<sup>25</sup> revealed that only 34% of patients fulfilled all the requirements of the TT session, even at short-term follow-up. In our study, it was found that patient compliance with TT was better at the beginning and decreased significantly over time. In our study, 53.1% of the patients who were asymptomatic at the first follow-up visit became symptomatic during follow-up, in parallel with a decrease in compliance with TT. Numerous physical therapy strategies and maneuvers have been tried for the treatment of VVS.<sup>6</sup> The ET program was formerly widely used because it increases blood volume and improves or modulates baroreceptor function.<sup>25,26</sup> Aerobic and core strengthening exercises were also included in these studies.<sup>26,27</sup>

Serotonin is a neurotransmitter known to affect blood pressure and heart rate by modulating the central nervous system. Several studies have investigated the use of SSRIs for treating VVS.<sup>13,15,16</sup> In a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, Di Girolamo et al.<sup>16</sup> showed that compared with placebo, paroxetine significantly reduced episodes of syncope in patients with refractory VVS who did not respond to conventional therapy during a 2-year follow-up. Theodorakis et al.<sup>13</sup> published the results of a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind study showing that fluoxetine and propranolol were not superior to placebo for the treatment of VVS. Paroxetine has high selectivity and low affinity for adrenergic, cholinergic, and histamine receptors.<sup>16</sup> Therefore, not all SSRIs are equally effective against recurrent VVS. In this case, the group effect of SSRIs for treating VVS can be misinterpreted.

A high rate of MPD has been reported in patients with VVS.<sup>28,29</sup> These disorders are associated with increased vasovagal reflex excitability and relatively high rates of VVS attack.<sup>30</sup> Leftheriotis et al.<sup>30</sup> showed that psychiatric drug therapy can improve VVS attacks and psychiatric symptoms in MPD patients.

Several pathophysiologic mechanisms similar to the vasovagal reflex are believed to be mediated by changes in central serotonin levels.<sup>31</sup> Grubb<sup>32</sup> proposed that SSRIs downregulate postsynaptic serotonin receptors by promoting neuronal transmission. This reduction in receptor density is thought to blunt the response to rapid changes in central serotonin levels.<sup>14,15,32</sup>

## Study Limitations

This study has a few limitations. First, this was a prospective observational study and did not have a randomized placebo-controlled design. Second, the sample size was relatively small. Third, patients from three health centers followed by different healthcare providers were included in the study. Fourth, it would have been more beneficial for all patients to undergo a psychiatric evaluation to better understand the response

to the SSRI. Fifth, to better understand the pathophysiological impact of SSRIs, patients could be evaluated using pre- and post-treatment quality of life and psychiatric measures. Sixth, quantitative methods can be used to assess patient adherence to TT and ET. Last but not least, the follow-up period of our study was relatively short compared with that of other randomized studies on SSRIs. Therefore, large-scale, multicenter, randomized, and prospective studies are needed to determine the efficacy of paroxetine in VVS.

## CONCLUSION

TT is an acceptable treatment for VVS for motivated patients who are willing to follow the program. However, the effectiveness of TT in preventing VVS attacks decreased during the follow-up period, probably due to decreased compliance of patients with the TT program. In patients with recurrent VVS who do not respond to conventional treatments, the addition of paroxetine appears to be an effective and well-tolerated treatment modality for preventing vasovagal attacks.

## MAIN POINTS

- TT treatment initially appeared effective in preventing syncope; however, a loss of efficacy was observed during follow-up.
- Paroxetine has a lasting effect on preventing syncope attacks in patients with TT-resistant VVS.
- · Paroxetine was well tolerated in patients with VVS.
- Tilt training plus paroxetine treatment was the only independent predictor of asymptomatic patients during follow-up.

## ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The Institutional Ethical Committee of Türkiye's Yüksek İhtisas Training and Research Hospital approved the study (approval number: 091023-310-EPK).

**Informed Consent:** All patients enrolled in the study provided informed consent to participate in the study.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Concept: L.D.A., O.B., Y.A., M.B.Y., Design: L.D.A., O.B., Y.A., M.B.Y., Data Collection and/or Processing: L.D.A., O.B., B.A., N.B., H.B., G.Z., N.Y., H.K., R.K., Y.A., Analysis and/or Interpretation: L.D.A., O.B., B.A., N.B., H.B., G.Z., N.Y., H.K., R.K., M.B.Y., Literature Search: B.A., N.B., H.B., G.Z., N.Y., H.K., R.K., Y.A., Writing: L.D.A., O.B., B.A., N.B., H.B., G.Z., N.Y., M.S.Y.

## DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Disertori M, Brignole M, Menozzi C, Raviele A, Rizzon P, Santini M, et al. Management of patients with syncope referred urgently to general hospitals. Europace. 2003; 5(3): 283-91.
- Brignole M, Menozzi C, Bartoletti A, Giada F, Lagi A, Ungar A, et al. A new management of syncope: prospective systematic guideline-based evaluation of patients referred urgently to general hospitals. Eur Heart J. 2006; 27(1): 76-82.
- Kułakowski P. Syncope update 2013: diagnosis and treatment. Kardiol Pol. 2013; 71(3): 215-23.
- Brignole M, Moya A, de Lange FJ, Deharo JC, Elliott PM, Fanciulli A, et al. 2018 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of syncope. Eur Heart J. 2018; 39(21): 1883-948.
- Vyas A, Swaminathan PD, Zimmerman MB, Olshansky B. Are treatments for vasovagal syncope effective? A meta-analysis. Int J Cardiol. 2013; 167(5): 1906-11.
- 6. Coffin ST, Raj SR. Non-invasive management of vasovagal syncope. Auton Neurosci. 2014; 184: 27-32.
- Kuriachan V, Sheldon RS, Platonov M. Evidence-based treatment for vasovagal syncope. Heart Rhythm. 2008; 5(11): 1609-14.
- Ector H, Reybrouck T, Heidbüchel H, Gewillig M, Van de Werf F. Tilt training: a new treatment for recurrent neurocardiogenic syncope and severe orthostatic intolerance. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 1998; 21(1 Pt 2): 193-6.
- Reybrouck T, Heidbüchel H, Van de Werf F, Ector H. Tilt training: a treatment for malignant and recurrent neurocardiogenic syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2000; 23(4 Pt 1): 493-8.
- Raj SR, Coffin ST. Medical therapy and physical maneuvers in the treatment of the vasovagal syncope and orthostatic hypotension. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2013; 55(4): 425-33.
- Duygu H, Zoghi M, Turk U, Akyuz S, Ozerkan F, Akilli A, et al. The role of tilt training in preventing recurrent syncope in patients with vasovagal syncope: a prospective and randomized study. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2008; 31(5): 592-6.
- Gurevitz O, Barsheshet A, Bar-Lev D, Zimlichman E, Rosenfeld GF, Benderly M, et al. Tilt training: does it have a role in preventing vasovagal syncope? Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2007; 30(12): 1499-505.
- Theodorakis GN, Leftheriotis D, Livanis EG, Flevari P, Karabela G, Aggelopoulou N, et al. Fluoxetine vs. propranolol in the treatment of vasovagal syncope: a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled study. Europace. 2006; 8(3): 193-8.
- 14. Grubb BP, Samoil D, Kosinski D, Kip K, Brewster P. Use of sertraline hydrochloride in the treatment of refractory neurocardiogenic syncope in children and adolescents. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1994; 24(2): 490-4.
- Grubb BP, Wolfe DA, Samoil D, Temesy-Armos P, Hahn H, Elliott L. Usefulness of fluoxetine hydrochloride for prevention of resistant upright tilt induced syncope. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 1993; 16(3 Pt 1): 458-64.
- Di Girolamo E, Di Iorio C, Sabatini P, Leonzio L, Barbone C, Barsotti A. Effects of paroxetine hydrochloride, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor, on refractory vasovagal syncope: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999; 33(5): 1227-30.

- 17. Fitzpatrick AP, Theodorakis G, Vardas P, Sutton R. Methodology of head-up tilt testing in patients with unexplained syncope. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1991; 17(1): 125-30.
- Béchir M, Binggeli C, Corti R, Chenevard R, Spieker L, Ruschitzka F, et al. Dysfunctional baroreflex regulation of sympathetic nerve activity in patients with vasovagal syncope. Circulation. 2003; 107(12): 1620-5.
- Aydin MA, Mortensen K, Salukhe TV, Wilke I, Ortak M, Drewitz I, et al. A standardized education protocol significantly reduces traumatic injuries and syncope recurrence: an observational study in 316 patients with vasovagal syncope. Europace. 2012; 14(3): 410-5.
- Krediet CT, de Bruin IG, Ganzeboom KS, Linzer M, van Lieshout JJ, Wieling W. Leg crossing, muscle tensing, squatting, and the crash position are effective against vasovagal reactions solely through increases in cardiac output. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2005; 99(5): 1697-703.
- van Dijk N, de Bruin IG, Gisolf J, de Bruin-Bon HA, Linzer M, van Lieshout JJ, et al. Hemodynamic effects of leg crossing and skeletal muscle tensing during free standing in patients with vasovagal syncope. J Appl Physiol (1985). 2005; 98(2): 584-90.
- 22. Di Girolamo E, Di Iorio C, Leonzio L, Sabatini P, Barsotti A. Usefulness of a tilt training program for the prevention of refractory neurocardiogenic syncope in adolescents: A controlled study. Circulation. 1999; 100(17): 1798-801.
- On YK, Park J, Huh J, Kim JS. Is home orthostatic self-training effective in preventing neurally mediated syncope? Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2007; 30(5): 638-43.
- 24. Kinay O, Yazici M, Nazli C, Acar G, Gedikli O, Altinbas A, et al. Tilt training for recurrent neurocardiogenic syncope: effectiveness, patient compliance, and scheduling the frequency of training sessions. Jpn Heart J. 2004; 45(5): 833-43.
- Foglia-Manzillo G, Giada F, Gaggioli G, Bartoletti A, Lolli G, Dinelli M, et al. Efficacy of tilt training in the treatment of neurally mediated syncope. A randomized study. Europace. 2004; 6(3): 199-204.
- Mtinangi BL, Hainsworth R. Effects of moderate exercise training on plasma volume, baroreceptor sensitivity and orthostatic tolerance in healthy subjects. Exp Physiol. 1999; 84(1): 121-30.
- Mtinangi BL, Hainsworth R. Increased orthostatic tolerance following moderate exercise training in patients with unexplained syncope. Heart. 1998; 80(6): 596-600.
- Gracie J, Newton JL, Norton M, Baker C, Freeston M. The role of psychological factors in response to treatment in neurocardiogenic (vasovagal) syncope. Europace. 2006; 8(8): 636-43.
- Linzer M, Varia I, Pontinen M, Divine GW, Grubb BP, Estes NA 3rd. Medically unexplained syncope: relationship to psychiatric illness. Am J Med. 1992; 92(1A): 18-25.
- Leftheriotis D, Michopoulos I, Flevari P, Douzenis A, Koborozos C, Kostopoulou A, et al. Minor psychiatric disorders and syncope: the role of psychopathology in the expression of vasovagal reflex. Psychother Psychosom. 2008; 77(6): 372-6.
- 31. Kosinski D, Grubb BP. Neurally mediated syncope with an update on indications and usefulness of head-upright tilt table testing and pharmacologic therapy. Curr Opin Cardiol. 1994; 9: 53-64.
- Grubb BP. Neurocardiogenic Syncope: What Role for Serotonin?. In: Raviele A (ed). Cardiac Arrhythmias 1997. Springer, Milano, 1998, pp. 411-21. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-88-470-2288-1\_54


# The Effect of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG in Infants with **Food Protein-Induced Allergic Proctocolitis**

# 🕲 Özgecan Avcı<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Merve Usta<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Ayşenur Kaya<sup>3</sup>, 🕲 Nesrin Kaya<sup>4</sup>, 🕲 Nafiye Urgancı<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Clinic of Pediatrics, Atatürk State Hospital, Sinop, Türkiye

<sup>2</sup>Clinic of Pediatric Gastroenterology, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Sisli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital, İstanbul, Türkiye <sup>3</sup>Department of Pediatric Allergy and Immunology, İstinye University Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye <sup>4</sup>Department of Neonatology, İstanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Cerrahpasa Faculty of Medicine, İstanbul, Türkiye

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Most infants with food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis (FPIAP) achieve clinical tolerance between 1 and 3 years of age. The aim of this study was to investigate the effect of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG on the development of tolerance in infants who are exclusively breastfed and diagnosed with FPIAP.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Sixty infants with FPIAP were divided into two groups: group 1 (study); who received probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG for 3 months, and group 2 (control); who did not. Clinical characteristics, allergy tests, and tolerance development were examined. Randomized controlled study.

**RESULTS:** Thirty patients [mean age: 3.9±1.3, range: 2-6 months, male/female (M/F): 1.7] in group 1 and 30 patients (mean age: 4.1±1.3, range: 1.4-6 months, M/F: 0.7) in group 2 were included in the study. The reintroduction of trigger foods into the mothers' diet at 9 months was significantly higher in group 1 than in group 2 (63.3% versus 26.7% of the patients, respectively, p=0.004). No significant difference was observed in terms of the resolution time of symptoms and time of tolerance development between groups and subgroups.

CONCLUSION: A significant difference was observed in the mean time to reintroduce trigger foods into the maternal diet, the number of mothers who first reintroduced trigger foods back into their diet at 9 months, and the resolution of symptoms at 9 and 12 months in infants with multiple food allergies.

Keywords: Food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis, Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG, probiotics, tolerance, treatment

# INTRODUCTION

Food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis (FPIAP) is usually characterized by fresh rectal bleeding and stool mucus in otherwise healthy, well-appearing infants during the first months of life. A definitive diagnosis is made by eliminating the trigger foods thought to be responsible from the diet and reintroduceing the foods after the symptoms improve.1

It has been reported that the deterioration of the gut microbiota may play a role in the development of food allergy by negatively affecting immune system development in the early stages of life.<sup>2</sup> Therefore, the gut microbiota may be a potential target for preventing food allergy and its treatment. It has been suggested that the relationship between diet, probiotics, the immune system, and gut microbiota determines the susceptibility to allergy.<sup>3</sup>

To cite this article: Avci Ö, Usta M, Kaya A, Kaya N, Urganci N. The Effect of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG in Infants with Food Protein-Induced Allergic Proctocolitis. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):323-331

ORCID IDs of the authors: Ö.A. 0000-0002-7978-4930: M.U. 0000-0002-5086-6270; A.K. 0000-0002-8183-0190; N.K. 0000-0002-1504-0406; N.U. 0000-0003-4854-507X.



OPEN ACCESS

Address for Correspondence: Merve Usta E-mail: mervekesim@vahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5086-6270

Received: 01.03.2024 Accepted: 06.08.2024

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG is a preferred probiotic for the prevention and treatment of intestinal microbiota degradation by strengthening intestinal epithelial barriers, binding to mucous surfaces stronger due to its surface exopolysaccharide and piles, preventing the attachment of pathogenic bacteria, and contributing to the regulation of the immune system.<sup>4,5</sup>

Although there are studies about the addition of probiotics such as *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG or *Bifidobacterium breve* to formula feed in formula-fed infants,<sup>6-10</sup> there are few studies about the addition of probiotics exclusively in breastfed infants. The aim of this study was to determine whether *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG has an effect on the development of tolerance in exclusively breastfed infants with FPIAP.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sixty infants who were exclusively breastfed and followed up for diagnosis of FPIAP at the departments of pediatric gastroenterology and pediatric allergy between 2018 and 2019 were enrolled in this single-center, prospective, randomized, controlled clinical study.

The diagnosis of FPIAP was based on detailed history and physical examination findings according to the food allergy and anaphylaxis guidelines recommended by The European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology Hepatology and Nutrition and European Academy of Allergy and Clinical Immunology (EAACI).<sup>11,12</sup>

The exclusion criteria were; the patients younger than 1 month and older than 6 months, those fed with formula, those given prebiotics or probiotics during the 4 weeks before enrollment, those with known allergies to probiotics, patients with chronic diseases, immunodeficiency, a central venous catheter, and other diseases causing gastrointestinal findings or bleeding.

The patients were divided into two groups: Group 1 (study); exclusively breastfed infants whose mothers were on an elimination diet and received probiotic *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG (Maflor<sup>\*</sup> 1x5 drops once a day) for 3 months, and group 2 (control); whose mothers were on only milk and dairy products elimination diet. The control group did not receive any placebo. These groups were divided into two separate subgroups: Those diagnosed in the first 3 months (groups 1a and 2a) and those diagnosed in the last 3 months (groups 1b and 2b). Our aim in dividing the patients into two subgroups was to homogenize both groups as we switched to complementary foods in both groups at 6 months.

Infants were followed up monthly for the first 3 months after diagnosis and every 3 months thereafter until 1 year of age at outpatient clinics of pediatric gastroenterology. Allergy tests were performed by the same trained allergist during the follow-up period after six months of age. Allergy tests were performed in those with non-IgE symptoms, family history of atopy, and who accepted the allergy tests.

#### Food-Specific Immunoglobulin E and Skin Prick Test

Sensitization in patients with a preliminary diagnosis of FPIAP, especially those with concomitant atopic diseases such as atopic dermatitis and recurrent wheezing, was evaluated by serum food-specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) and/or skin prick test (SPT). SPT was performed on the forearm by microneedling method using commercial extracts for common offending food proteins, including cow's milk, soy, egg, wheat,

324

fish, sesame, and peanut (Stallargenes SA. Antony, France). The prick-toprick method was used for the other suspected foods, particularly those reported by the parents. Histamine (10 mg/mL) was used as the positive control, and physiological saline was used as the negative control. Skin reactions were evaluated after 20 min, and a wheal >3 mm was considered positive SPT.

Serum-specific IgE concentrations in suspected foods were measured using the ImmunoCAP system (PHADIA AB, Uppsala, Sweden). A serum specific IgE concentration >0.10 kU/L was considered sensitization.

#### **Atopy Patch Test**

One drop (50  $\mu$ L) of milk, scrambled eggs, soy milk, and 1 g of flour dissolved in 10 mL of water and physiological saline as a negative control were adsorbed with filter paper and placed in 12 mm diameter aluminum chambers ("Finn chamber") on adhesive tapes. The patch adhered to the patient's back. Reactions were evaluated at 48 and 72 h according to the European Task Force for atopic Dermatitis Consensus Report.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Diagnostic Food Elimination**

A maternal elimination diet was started with the most common offending triggers, milk and dairy products. Food elimination was explained in detail to the mothers and caregivers. In patients with persistent symptoms, other foods such as egg and wheat were also excluded from the diet, based on frequency, parent's suspicion, and symptoms. The occult blood test was not performed, and the evaluation was performed with the resolution of bloody stool.

#### **Oral Food Challenge Test**

After a food elimination diet for 2-4 weeks and the disappearance of the complaints, the patients underwent oral food challenge test (OFC) at home or in the hospital, depending on the severity of the patient's symptoms. Provocation tests and protocols were performed according to the recommendations of the World Allergy Organization Food Allergy Working Group and EAACI.<sup>11,14,15</sup> An open food challenge test was performed in all patients. The dosing intervals of the given foods were 15 minutes and were given gradually increasing doses as; peanut and walnut 6, 12, 48, 240, 480, 1200, and 2000 mg; hazelnut 12, 25, 100, 500, 860, 2500, and 4000 mg; cow's milk 0.1,0.5, 1, 3, 10, 30, 50, 100, and 200 mL; egg 0.5, 1, 3, 6, 10, 15, 16, and 32 g. If symptoms appeared at any stage of the test, the test was considered positive. When no reaction developed, the diet was opened to trigger food and was given daily as cooked. Each child was observed for 4 hours after provocation. The families contacted by telephone at 24, 48, and 72 hours and 1 week after the provocation to ask whether any symptoms had occurred. The mothers were also asked to keep an allergy diary at home.

#### **Tolerance Development**

All patients on the elimination diet were reevaluated at 3-6 months intervals. OFC was performed in patients who had resolved their symptoms and healthy growth and development. No symptoms were observed after OFC, which was considered as tolerance achieved.

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 911, date: 08/07/2018). Written informed consent was obtained from all parents.

#### Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 15.0 package program (SPSS Inc, Chicago, Illinois, U.S.A.). The descriptive statistics; were given as mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum for numerical variables, and numbers and percentages for categorical variables. Comparisons of the ratios between the groups were made using the chi-square test. Because the normal distribution condition was not met, numerical variables in the groups were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test. P values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

# RESULTS

Thirty patients [mean age:  $3.9\pm1.3$ , range: 2-6 months, male/female (M/F): 1.7] in group 1 and 30 patients (mean age:  $4.1\pm1.3$ , range: 1.4-6 months, M/F: 0.7) in group 2 were included in the study. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1.

22.7% (n=5) of the patients in group 1 and 44.8% (n=13) in group 2 had food-specific IgE positivity (p=0.10). SPT was performed in 22 (73.3%) patients in group 1 and 23 (79.3%) patients in group 2. Approximately 13.6% of the patients in group 1 and 8.7% in group 2 had positive SPT (p=0.66). Atopy patch test (APT) was positive in 7 of 13 (53.8%) patients in group 1 and 3 of 13 (23.1%) of 13 patients in group 2 (p=0.10). No significant difference was observed in the APT and SPT results according to the food allergens between the groups and subgroups (Table 1).

Eleven (36.7%) patients with multiple food allergies in group 1 and 11 (36.7%) patients in group 2 reacted to egg, cow's milk, and dairy products (p=1.00). Six common food allergens (nuts, wheat, fish/seafood, chicken, and veal) were restricted from the diet of 8 (26.7%) patients in group 1 and 6 (20%) in group 2 (p=0.54). Six (54.5%) patients in group 1a, 2 (40%) in group 2a, 5 (26.3%) in group 1b, and 9 (36%) in group 2b reacted to both egg, cow's milk, and dairy products (p>0.05). Six food allergens were restricted from diet in 2 (18.2%) patients in group 1a, 2 (40%) in group 2a, 6 (31.6%) in group 1b, and 4 (16%) in group 2b (p>0.05).

No significant difference was observed in the resolution time of the first symptom (bloody stool) between groups (p=0.78) (Table 2). A statistically significant difference was observed in the mean time from the reintroduction of trigger food into the maternal diet between groups ( $9.1\pm2.1$  months in group 1, and  $10.3\pm1.5$  in group 2, p=0.041).

The reintroduction of trigger foods into the mothers' diet at 9 months was significantly higher in group 1 than in group 2 (63.3% versus 26.7% of the patients, respectively, p=0.004), whereas it was observed higher in group 1b than in group 2b (p<0.001) (Tables 2, 3). The distribution of patients according to the reintroduction of trigger foods into the maternal diet and tolerance development is shown in Figure 1.

When the mothers who only had egg and milk elimination diet were evaluated, no significant difference was observed in terms of the resolution time of all symptoms and the reintroduction of trigger food

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients							
	<3 months at diagnosis			≥3 months at diagnosis			
	Group 1a	Group 2a		Group 1b	Group 2b		
	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	р	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	р	
	(n=11)	(n=5)		(n=19)	(n=25)		
Age at diagnosis (mean $\pm$ SD, months)	2.5±0.3 (2-2.9)	2.0±0.6 (1.4-2.8)	0.12	4.7±0.8 (3.3-6)	4.5±1.0 (3-6)	0.61	
Gender (M/F)	1.2 (6/5)	0.6 (2/3)	1.00	2.1 (13/6)	0.78 (11/14)	0.10	
Type of birth							
Normal spontaneous vaginal	4 (36.4%)	1 (20%)	1.00	11 (57.9%)	11 (44%)	0.36	
Cesarean	7 (63.6%)	4 (80%)		8 (42.1%)	14 (56%)		
Duration of symptoms (mo)	1.1±0.5 (0.5-2)	1.1±0.7 (0.5-2)	0.81	2.2±1.1 (0.5-4.5)	2.0±1.0 (0.5-4)	0.53	
Gestational age		·					
Term	10 (90.9%)	5 (100%)	1.00	19 (100%)	25 (100%)	1.00	
Post-term	1 (9.1%)	-		-	-		
Birth weight	3502±466.8 (2760-4380)	3420±255 (3000-3680)	0.73	3288.4±452 (2540-3990)	3380.6±372 (2800-4200)	0.48	
Birth weight classification							
Normal	9 (81.8%)	5 (100%)	1.00	19 (100%)	24 (96%)	1.00	
LGA	2 (18.2%)	-		-	1 (4%)		
SGA	-	-		-	-		
Smoking	1 (9.1%)	1 (20%)	1.00	3 (15.8%)	5 (20%)	1.00	
Antibiotics	4 (36.4%)	1 (20%)	1.00	2 (10.5%)	8 (32%)	0.14	
Consanguineous marriage	-	-		1 (5.3%)	2 (8%)	1.00	
Family history of atopy	11 (100%)	3 (60%)	0.08	15 (78.9%)	17 (68%)	0.41	
Mother	6 (54.5%)	3 (60%)	1.00	8 (42.1%)	10 (40%)	0.83	
Father	5 (45.5%)	2 (40%)	0.24	11 (57.9%)	15 (60%)	0.57	
Symptoms on admission							

Table 1. Continued						
	<3 months at diagnos	is		≥3 months at diagnosis		
	Group 1a	Group 2a	1_	Group 1b Group 2b		
	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	p	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	р
	(n=11)	(n=5)		(n=19)	(n=25)	
Vomiting	3 (27.3%)	2 (40%)	1.00	7 (36.8%)	10 (40%)	0.83
Diarrhea	4 (36.4%)	3 (60%)	0.59	11 (57.9%)	13 (52%)	0.69
Constipation	1 (9.1%)	1 (20%)	1.00	2 (10%)	3 (12%)	1.00
Bloody stool	6 (54.5%)	1 (20%)	0.30	10 (52.6%)	14 (56%)	0.82
Stool with mucus	10 (90.9%)	4 (80%)	1.00	18 (94.7%)	24 (96%)	1.00
Colic	10 (90.9%)	4 (80%)	1.00	13 (68.4%)	13 (52%)	0.27
Breastfeeding refusal	4 (36.4%)	1 (20%)	1.00	10 (52.6%)	7 (28%)	0.09
Skin rash	6 (54.5%)	3 (60%)	1.00	11 (57.9%)	7 (28%)	0.04
Diaper dermatitis	8 (72.7%)	4 (80%)	1.00	7 (36.8%)	13 (52%)	0.31
Persistent cough/wheezing	2 (18.2%)	1 (20%)	1.00	5 (26.3%)	3 (12%)	0.26
Low weight gain	1 (9.1%)	-	1.00	2 (10.5%)	8 (32%)	0.14
Physical examination	1	-				
Atopic dermatitis	6 (54.5%)	3 (60%)	1.00	5 (26.3%)	9 (36%)	0.49
Seborrheic dermatitis/eczema	8 (72.7%)	3 (60%)	1.00	14 (73.7%)	13 (52%)	0.14
Failure to thrive	-	-		-	-	
Laboratory examinations						
Anemia	-	-		3 (15.8%)	1 (4.2%)	0.30
Eosinophilia (n, %)	4 (36.4%)	3 (60%)	0.59	7 (36.8%)	15 (60%)	0.12
Eosinophil count (μ/L)	360.9±238 (330)	624±556.7 (300)	0.61	325±179.8 (270)	450.8±277 (320)	0.11
Total IgE positivity	6 (54.5%)	-	0.09	2 (10.5%)	5 (20%)	0.68
Serum total IgE (U/L)	108±309.4 (16)	7.1±4.4 (6.2)	0.39	20.7±55.3 (4.4)	14.5±23.6 (6.4)	0.61
Skin prick test positivity	1 (12.5%)	-	1.00	2 (14.3%)	2 (10.5%)	1.00
Cow's milk	-	-	-	1 (7.1%)	1 (5.3%)	1.00
Egg	1 (12.5%)	-	1.00	1 (7.1%)	1 (5.3%)	1.00
Soy	-	-		-	-	
Wheat	-	-		-	-	
Nuts	-	-		1 (8.3%)	-	0.42
Sea food/chicken	-	-		-	-	
Specific IgE positivity	2 (22.2%)	2 (40%)	0.58	3 (23.1%)	11 (45.8%)	0.28
Cow's milk	1 (11.1%)	1 (20%)	1.00	2 (15.4%)	8 (34.8%)	0.27
Egg	1 (12.5%)	1 (20%)	1.00	1 (8.3%)	8 (40%)	0.10
Soy	-	-		-	-	
Wheat	-	-		-	-	
Nuts	-	-		1 (50%)	-	1.00
Sea food/chicken	-	-		-	-	
Atopy patch test positivity	3 (50%)	1 (33.3%)	1.00	4 (57.1%)	2 (20%)	0.16
Cow's milk	1 (16.7%)	-	1.00	1 (14.3%)	2 (20%)	1.00
Egg	2 (40%)	1 (33.3%)	1.00	4 (57.1%)	1 (11.1%)	0.10
Soy	-	-		-	-	
Wheat	1 (20%)	-	1.00	-	-	
Nuts	-	-		-	-	
Sea food/chicken	-	-		-	-	
P<0.05 is statistically significant. LGA: Large for gestati	onal age, SGA: Small for gest	ational age.				

back into the maternal and infant diets at 9 and 12 months between groups (p>0.05). Five (100%) mothers in group 1b versus 2 (22.2%) mothers in group 2b who were on egg and milk elimination diet only had the first reintroduction of trigger food back into their diet at 9 months (p=0.021). The resolution of all symptoms at 12 months was achieved in 5 (100%) patients in group 1b and 2 (22.2%) patients in group 2b who were on egg and milk elimination diet (p=0.021). Three patients (60%) in group 1b who received egg and milk elimination diet switched to normal diet at 12 months, but none of the patients in group 2b achieved tolerance (p=0.02).

When patients who were on elimination diet with six trigger food allergens in groups and subgroups were compared, no statistically significant difference was observed in the first time of reintroducing trigger foods back into the maternal diet, resolution of all symptoms, and time of tolerance development. No probiotic-related adverse effects were observed.

Table 2. Comparison of tolerance development between groups					
	Group 1, (n=30)	Group 2, (n=30)	р		
Resolution time of first symptom <sup>*</sup>	22.7±16.3 (21)	22±17.3 (17.5)	0.78		
First resolved symptom					
Vomiting	3 (10%)	2 (6.7%)	0.2		
Diarrhea	1 (3.3%)	6 (20%)			
Bloody stool	13 (43.3%)	8 (26.7%)			
Stools with mucus	3 (10%)	6 (20%)			
Colic	2 (6.7%)	4 (13.3%)			
Breastfeeding refusal	2 (6.7%)	-			
Skin rash	5 (16.7%)	4 (13.3%)			
Diaper dermatitis	1 (3.3%)	-			
Introduction of trigger foods back into maternal diet*	9.1±2.1 (9)	10.3±1.5 (10)	0.04		
At 9 months	19 (63.3%)	8 (26.7%)	0.004		
At 12 months	28 (93.3%)	24 (80%)	0.25		
Resolution of all symptoms*	10.1±2.1 (10)	10.8±1.6 (12)	0.42		
At 9 months	5 (16.7%)	4 (13.3%)	1.00		
At 12 months	15 (50%)	12 (40%)	0.43		
Time for free diet*	11.1±1.4 (12)	11.9±0.4 (12)	0.24		
At 9 months	2 (6.7%)	-	0.49		
At 12 months	14 (46.7%)	7 (23.3%)	0.05		
Multiple food allergies	(n=19)	(n=17)			
Introduction of trigger foods back into maternal diet*	9.0±1.8 (9)	10.3±1.7 (10)	0.05		
At 9 months	13 (68.4%)	5 (29.4%)	0.01		
At 12 months	17 (89.5%)	14 (82.4%)	0.65		
Resolution of all symptoms*	9.6±2.2 (10)	11.8±0.5 (12)	0.09		
At 9 months	5 (26.3%)	-	0.04		
At 12 months	11 (57.9%)	4 (23.5%)	0.03		
Time for free diet*	10.7±1.5 (11)	12 (1)	0.008		
At 9 months	2 (10.5%)	-	0.48		
At 12 months	9 (47.4%)	1 (5.9%)	0.008		
*Mean $\pm$ standard deviation (mean) P<0.05 is statistically significant					

#### DISCUSSION

In breastfed children with FPIAP, no significant difference was detected in the time to resolution of bloody stools or the first symptoms between the groups in terms of probiotic use. Bloody stools were not the only symptoms in the babies, and other accompanying digestive system symptoms, such as sucking refusal, vomiting, and colic, could occur even if there was no bloody defecation when a trigger food was added. Mothers could state that they avoided going on a diet. One limitation of our study was perhaps the lack of evaluation of multiple symptoms. We performed an evaluation based on the family's major symptoms when bringing them to the hospital. Tolerance assessments were conducted every 3 months based on the child's symptoms and anthropometry during physical examination.

In our study, mothers in the probiotic-treated group were able to open their diet earlier in the 9<sup>th</sup> month, but we did not find a significant difference in the resolution of all symptoms. It may take longer in groups with multiple food allergies. In different studies, it was reported that 30.4-31.5%, that is, one third of the cases with FPID, have multiple food allergies.<sup>16,17</sup> Approximately one-third of patients with food allergies have multiple food allergies. In non-IgE-mediated food allergy, a single nutrient (the most common cow's milk protein) is responsible in the majority of cases (65-80%), and in 10%, three or more nutrients are responsible.18 Recent studies conducted in our country reported multiple food allergies at rates of up to 50%.17 In addition, the responsible allergenic foods may vary according to country and culture. Cultural differences may also affect altitude. Moreover, we were one of the reference centers for pediatric allergy and gastroenterology at that time, and it was a center to which many patients were referred. Our rate of allergy testing was high: thus, we may have found it to be too high compared with the literature. The diagnosis of multiple food allergies has been more common since we performed allergy testing for study purposes at that time when we did not perform routine allergy testing to diagnose FPIAP.

In the absence of clinical response to cow's milk protein elimination within 2 weeks in FPIAP and 4-8 weeks in food protein-related enteropathy,<sup>19</sup> food protein-related enterocolitis syndrome within hours,<sup>20</sup> and recurrence of findings after intake of certain foods, multiple food allergies should be considered, and allergenic foods should be avoided. Gradual elimination from the diet should be planned.

Cows' milk was the most common trigger food in this study, similar to the other studies,<sup>21-23</sup> followed by eggs. Family history of atopy was reported in 86.7% of patients in group 1 and 66.7% in group 2, which was higher than that reported in the literature.<sup>24,25</sup> Multiple food allergies were reported to be 4-42.9% in studies from our country,<sup>21,22,24,25</sup> whereas it was found to be 60% in our study.

It has been suggested that gut microbiota play an important role in immune system maturation, maintaining the Th1/Th2 balance, which is the key mechanism involved in allergic diseases and tolerance acquisition.<sup>3,6,26,27</sup> The gastrointestinal microbiota may also modulate mucosal physiology, barrier function, and systemic immunologic and inflammatory responses.<sup>3-5</sup> Yang et al.<sup>3</sup> reported that slgE, slgG1, interleukin 4 (IL-4), IL-5, and IL-13 levels were significantly decreased, resulting in improved diarrhea in mice with food allergy who were administered the probiotic *Bifidobacterium* infantis. It has been reported that the administration of probiotics in early-life stimulate Th1 cytokines to reverse Th2 imbalance.<sup>28</sup>

Table 3. Comparison of tolerance development between subgroups						
	<3 months at d	<3 months at diagnosis		≥3 months at d	iagnosis	
	Group 1a	Group 2a		Group 1b	Group 2b	
	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	р	Probiotics (+)	Probiotics (-)	р
	(n=11)	(n=5)		(n=19)	(n=25)	
Resolution time of first symptom (day)*	21.4±1 (1.9)	23.2±17.3 (15)	0.9	23.4±1 (8.6)	21.8±17.6 (20)	0.77
First resolved symptom						
Vomiting	1 (9.1%)	1 (20%)	0.19	2 (10.5%)	1 (4%)	0.32
Diarrhea	-	2 (40%)		1 (5.3%)	4 (16%)	
Bloody stool	4 (36.4%)	-		9 (47.4%)	8 (32%)	
Stools with mucus	1 (9.1%)	1 (20%)		2 (10.5%)	5 (20%)	
Colic	1 (9.1%)	-		1 (5.3%)	4 (16%)	
Breastfeeding refusal	-	-		2 (10.5%)	-	
Skin rash	4 (36.4%)	1 (20%)		1 (5.3%)	3 (12%)	
Diaper dermatitis	-	-		1 (5.3%)	-	
Introduction of trigger foods back into maternal diet*	9.7±2.2 (9)	9.2±1.6 (9)	0.67	8.8±2.1 (9)	10.6±1.4 (11)	0.008
At 9 months	5 (45.5%)	4 (80%)	0.30	14 (73.7%)	4 (16%)	< 0.001
At 12 months	9 (81.8%)	5 (100%)	1.00	19 (10%)	19 (76%)	0.12
Resolution of all symptoms*	9.7±2.2 (9)	9.2±1.6 (9)	0.84	10.4±2.1 (11)	11±1.6 (12)	0.49
At 9 months	3 (27.3%)	1 (20%)	1.00	2 (10.5%)	3 (12%)	1.00
At 12 months	5 (45.5%)	2 (40%)	1.00	10 (52.6%)	10 (40%)	0.40
Time for free diet*	10.8±1.8 (12)	12±0.0 (12)	0.33	11.3±1.1 (12)	11.8±0.4 (12)	0.50
At 9 months	1 (9.1%)	-	1.00	1 (5.3%)	-	0.43
At 12 months	5 (45.5%)	2 (40%)	1.00	9 (47.4%)	5 (20%)	0.05
Multiple food allergies	(n=8)	(n=4)		(n=11)	(n=13)	
Introduction of trigger foods back into maternal diet*	9.5±2.5 (9.5)	9.3±1.9 (8.5)	1.00	8.7±1.3 (9)	10.7±1.5 (11)	0.006
At 9 months	3 (37.5%)	3 (75%)	0.54	10 (90.9%)	2 (15%)	< 0.001
At 12 months	6 (75%)	4 (100%)	0.51	11 (100%)	10 (76.9%)	0.22
Resolution of all symptoms*	9.3±1.9	-		10±2.3	12±0.0	
At 9 months	3 (37.5%)	-	0.48	2 (18.2%)	-	0.19
At 12 months	4 (50%)	1 (25%)	0.57	7 (63.6%)	3 (23.1%)	0.09
Time for free diet*	10.5±1.9 (11)	12±0.0		10.8±1.3 (11)	-	0.01
At 9 months	1 (12.5%)	-	1.00	1 (9.1%)	-	0.45
At 12 months	4 (50%)	1 (25%)	0.57	5 (45.5%)	-	0.01
*Mean $\pm$ standard deviation (median). P<0.05 is statistically significant.						

Thus, probiotics may treat food allergy by restoring imbalanced indigenous microbiota and controlling inflammatory responses (activation of local macrophages, modulation of local and systemic IgA production, and alteration of the pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine profile).<sup>29</sup>

Morisset et al.<sup>30</sup> reported a significant decrease in the proportion of positive SPT in cows' milk and a decrease in positive IgE tests against other foods than cow's milk in the probiotic group after 12 months. Berni Canani et al.<sup>6</sup> noted a risk reduction in infants receiving *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG for additional atopic diseases (eczema, asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis, and other food allergies) and a decrease in oral tolerance development in children with IgE-mediated cow's milk allergy in their two studies. Baldassarre et al.<sup>7</sup> showed significant improvement in hematochezia in infants fed an extensively hydrolyzed casein formula containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG. Cukrowska et al.<sup>8</sup>, Kirjavainen et al.<sup>9</sup>, and Majamaa and Isolauri<sup>10</sup> observed a decrease

in the Severity Scoring of the Atopic Dermatitis Index in patients with atopic eczema and cows' milk allergy who received probiotics. Although Qamer et al. <sup>31</sup> stated that probiotics (*Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG) can lead to an earlier acquisition of tolerance to cows' milk in children aged 36 months, and probiotic supplementation was not associated with an earlier resolution of hematochezia. In contrast to these studies, others reported no significant effects of probiotics on clinical tolerance, SPTs, and the rate of symptomatic food allergy.<sup>32,33</sup> Fiocchi et al.<sup>34</sup> reported very low quality of evidence for probiotics in preventing eczema, and Hojsak et al.<sup>35</sup> mentioned that probiotics cannot be recommended for the prevention of atopic diseases.

In our study, we observed that 10<sup>9</sup> *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GGcontaining drops added to the diet of exclusively breastfed infants diagnosed with FPIAP over a 3-month period shortened the average time to reintroduce trigger foods into the maternal diet, and more mothers in the study group were able to reintroduce trigger foods back into



Figure 1. Distribution of patients according to tolerance development.

FPIAP: Food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis, LGG: Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG.

their diet at 9 months. Significant differences were also found in both groups and their subgroups who had multiple food allergies in terms of reintroducing trigger foods back into the maternal diet at 9 months in the study group, tolerance development, resolution of all symptoms at 9 and 12 months, and return to a normal diet at 12 months.

20% of breastfed infants with FPIAP have spontaneous resolution, and nearly all infants become tolerant to the trigger food by the age of 1-3 years.<sup>1</sup> Tolerance to trigger foods by 1 year of age in infants with FPIAP was reported to be 40% in Erdem et al.<sup>25</sup> The frequency of tolerance development was found to be higher in patients who had a single food allergy than in patients with multiple food allergies (86.6% vs. 44.7%, respectively, p<0.001)<sup>22</sup> and among the patients who developed tolerance at >24 months, most had multiple food allergies. In our study, no significant difference was observed in tolerance development between patients with single or multiple food allergies at the age of 1 year.

A significantly greater number of patients with single and multiple food allergies in both group 1 and group 1b who received probiotics and switched to a free diet at 12 months in this study. The tolerance was achieved in more patients with multiple food allergies who received probiotics.

#### **Study Limitations**

The limitations of the study were its single-center nature with a small number of participants, and being not placebo controlled.

# CONCLUSION

It is important to achieve tolerance to trigger foods earlier to prevent inappropriate, unnecessary, or prolonged elimination diet intake, which may affect dietary nutritional intake, health-related quality of life, and growth in children with FPIAP. Further studies with larger sample sizes are needed to clarify the beneficial effects of probiotics on food allergy.

### MAIN POINTS

- Most of the infants with food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis achieve clinical tolerance between 1 and 3 years of age.
- Most of patients with single and multiple food allergies who received probiotics, switched to free diet at 12 months in this study.
- The tolerance development was achieved in more patients with multiple food allergies who received probiotics.

### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Şişli Hamidiye Etfal Training and Research Hospital (approval number: 911, date: 08/07/2018).

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent was obtained from all parents.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: Ö.A., M.U., A.K., N.K., N.U., Concept: Ö.A., M.U., Design: Ö.A., M.U., Data Collection and/or Processing: Ö.A., M.U., A.K., N.K., N.U., Analysis and/or Interpretation: M.U., A.K., N.K., N.U., Literature Search: Ö.A., M.U., Writing: Ö.A., M.U.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Mennini M, Fiocchi AG, Cafarotti A, Montesano M, Mauro A, Villa MP, et al. Food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis in infants: Literature review and proposal of a management protocol. World Allergy Organ J. 2020; 13(10): 100471.
- Gri G, Piconese S, Frossi B, Manfroi V, Merluzzi S, Tripodo C, et al. CD4 + CD25 + regulatory T cells suppress mast cell degranulation and allergic responses through OX40-OX40L interaction. Immunity. 2008; 29(5): 771-81.
- Yang B, Xiao L, Liu S, Liu X, Luo Y, Ji Q, et al. Exploration of the effect of probiotics supplementation on intestinal microbiota of food allergic mice. Am J Transl Res. 2017; 9(2): 376-85.
- 4. Wang Y, Liu L, Moore DJ, Shen X, Peek RM, Acra SA, et al. An LGG-derived protein promotes IgA production through upregulation of APRIL expression in intestinal epithelial cells. Mucosal Immunol. 2017; 10(2): 373-84.
- Llewellyn A, Foey A. Probiotic Modulation of Innate Cell Pathogen Sensing and Signaling Events. Nutrients. 2017; 9(10): 1156.
- Berni Canani R, Di Costanzo M, Bedogni G, Amoroso A, Cosenza L, Di Scala C, et al. Extensively hydrolyzed casein formula containing Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG reduces the occurrence of other allergic manifestations in children with cow's milk allergy: 3-year randomized controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017; 139(6): 1906-13.e4.
- Baldassarre ME, Laforgia N, Fanelli M, Laneve A, Grosso R, Lifschitz C. Lactobacillus GG improves recovery in infants with blood in the stools and presumptive allergic colitis compared with extensively hydrolyzed formula alone. J Pediatr. 2010; 156(3): 397-401.

- Cukrowska B, Ceregra A, Maciorkowska E, Surowska B, Zegadło-Mylik MA, Konopka E, et al. The Effectiveness of Probiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Lactobacillus casei Strains in Children with Atopic Dermatitis and Cow's Milk Protein Allergy: A Multicenter, Randomized, Double Blind, Placebo Controlled Study. Nutrients. 2021; 13(4): 1169.
- 9. Kirjavainen P, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Probiotic bacteria in the management of atopic disease: underscoring the importance of viability. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2003; 36(2): 223-7.
- 10. Majamaa H, Isolauri E. Probiotics: a novel approach in the management of food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1997; 99(2): 179-85.
- NIAID-Sponsored Expert Panel; Boyce JA, Assa'ad A, Burks AW, Jones SM, Sampson HA, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of food allergy in the United States: report of the NIAID-sponsored expert panel. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010; 126(6 Suppl): 1-58.
- Koletzko S, Niggemann B, Arato A, Dias JA, Heuschkel R, Husby S, et al. European Society of Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology, and Nutrition. Diagnostic approach and management of cow's-milk protein allergy in infants and children: ESPGHAN GI Committee practical guidelines. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2012; 55(2): 221-9.
- Darsow U, Ring J. Airborne and dietary allergens in atopic eczema: A comprehensive review of diagnostic tests. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2000; 25(7): 544-51.
- Bindslev-Jensen C, Ballmer-Weber BK, Bengtsson U, Blanco C, Ebner C, Hourihane J, et al. European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Standardization of food challenges in patients with immediate reactions to foods--position paper from the European Academy of Allergology and Clinical Immunology. Allergy. 2004; 59(7): 690-7.
- Nowak-Wegrzyn A, Assa'ad AH, Bahna SL, Bock SA, Sicherer SH, Teuber SS, et al. Work Group report: oral food challenge testing. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009; 123(6 Suppl): 365-83.
- Sicherer, S.H. and H.A. Sampson, Food allergy: Epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 133(2): 291-307.
- Guler N, Cokugras FC, Sapan N, Selimoglu A, Turktas I, Cokugras H, et al. Diagnosis and management of cow's milk protein allergy in Turkey: Regionspecific recommendations by an expert-panel. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2020; 48(2): 202-10.
- Zubeldia-Varela E, Barker-Tejeda TC, Blanco-Pérez F, Infante S, Zubeldia JM, Pérez-Gordo M. Non-IgE-Mediated Gastrointestinal Food Protein-Induced Allergic Disorders. Clinical Perspectives and Analytical Approaches. Foods. 2021; 10(11): 2662.
- Feuille E, Nowak-Węgrzyn A. Food Protein-Induced Enterocolitis Syndrome, Allergic Proctocolitis, and Enteropathy. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2015; 15(8): 50.
- Nowak-Węgrzyn A, Chehade M, Groetch ME, Spergel JM, Wood RA, Allen K, et al. International consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and management of food protein-induced enterocolitis syndrome: Executive summary-Workgroup Report of the Adverse Reactions to Foods Committee, American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017; 139(4): 1111-26.
- Arik Yilmaz E, Soyer O, Cavkaytar O, Karaatmaca B, Buyuktiryaki B, Sahiner UM, et al. Characteristics of children with food protein-induced enterocolitis and allergic proctocolitis. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2017; 38: 54-62.
- 22. Uncuoğlu A, Aydoğan M, Şimşek IE, Çöğürlü MT, Uçak K, Acar HC. A Prospective Assessment of Clinical Characteristics and Responses to Dietary Elimination in Food Protein-Induced Allergic Proctocolitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract. 2022; 10(1): 206-14.
- Buyuktiryaki B, Kulhas Celik I, Erdem SB, Capanoglu M, Civelek E, Guc BU, et al. Risk Factors Influencing Tolerance and Clinical Features of Food Proteininduced Allergic Proctocolitis. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2020; 70(5): 574-9.

- 24. Koksal BT, Barıs Z, Ozcay F, Yilmaz Ozbek O. Single and multiple food allergies in infants with proctocolitis. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2018; 46(1): 3-8.
- Erdem SB, Nacaroglu HT, Karaman S, Erdur CB, Karkıner CU, Can D. Tolerance development in food protein-induced allergic proctocolitis: Single centre experience. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr). 2017; 45(3): 212-9.
- Sicherer SH, Sampson HA. Food allergy: A review and update on epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, prevention, and management. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018; 141(1): 41-58.
- Pratap K, Taki AC, Johnston EB, Lopata AL, Kamath SD. A Comprehensive Review on Natural Bioactive Compounds and Probiotics as Potential Therapeutics in Food Allergy Treatment. Front Immunol. 2020; 11: 996.
- Navarro-Tapia E, Sebastiani G, Sailer S, Toledano LA, Serra-Delgado M, García-Algar Ó, et al. Probiotic Supplementation During the Perinatal and Infant Period: Effects on Gut Dysbiosis and Disease. Nutrients. 2020; 12(8): 2243.
- 29. Vandenplas Y, Huys G, Daube G. Probiotics: an update. J Pediatr. 2015; 91(1): 6-21.
- Morisset M, Aubert-Jacquin C, Soulaines P, Moneret-Vautrin DA, Dupont C. A non-hydrolyzed, fermented milk formula reduces digestive and respiratory events in infants at high risk of allergy. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2011; 65(2): 175-83.

- Qamer S, Deshmukh M, Patole S. Probiotics for cow's milk protein allergy: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Pediatr. 2019; 178(8): 1139-49.
- 32. West CE, Hammarström ML, Hernell O. Probiotics in primary prevention of allergic disease-follow-up at 8-9 years of age. Allergy. 2013; 68(8): 1015-20.
- Viljanen M, Kuitunen M, Haahtela T, Juntunen-Backman K, Korpela R, Savilahti E. Probiotic effects on faecal inflammatory markers and on faecal IgA in food allergic atopic eczema/dermatitis syndrome infants. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2005; 16(1): 65-71.
- Fiocchi A, Pawankar R, Cuello-Garcia C, Ahn K, Al-Hammadi S, Agarwal A, Beyer K, et al. World allergy organization-McMaster University guidelines for allergic disease prevention (GLAD-P): probiotics. World Allergy Organ J. 2015; 8(1): 4.
- Hojsak I, Fabiano V, Pop TL, Goulet O, Zuccotti GV, Çokuğraş FC, et al. Guidance on the use of probiotics in clinical practice in children with selected clinical conditions and in specific vulnerable groups. Acta Paediatr. 2018; 107(6): 927-37.

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2024-11 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):332-339

# **Olfactory Dysfunction and Cognitive Impairment After** COVID-19

🕲 Cem Direybatoğulları<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Fatma Avşar Ertürk<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Bülent Güven<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Aycan Cemil Ülker<sup>2</sup>, 🕲 Hayat Güven<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Elmadağ Dr. Hulusi Alataş State Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Neurology, University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Türkiye

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has brought to mind the long-known relationship between loss of smell, cognitive functions, and neurodegenerative processes and raised the question, "Can COVID-19 trigger or accelerate the development of neurodegenerative diseases?". This study aimed to investigate cognitive functions and their relationship with loss of smell, temporal changes in cognitive functions, and factors that may have an effect on this possible change in individuals with COVID-19.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Individuals between the ages of 18-60, who had mild-moderate COVID-19 were included in the study within 3-6 months following the disease. COVID-19-related olfactory dysfunction and its duration were evaluated. Cognitive functions were assessed using the Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised test battery and the Symbol Digit Modalities test. After six months, neuropsychological tests were repeated.

RESULTS: Ninety-seven patients who had COVID-19 (52 patients with COVID-19-related loss of smell and 45 patients without) were included in the study. Fifty patients were re-evaluated 6 months after their initial examination. Loss of smell was found to be continued for  $\leq$ 3 months in 42 patients and >3 months in 10 patients. Neuropsychological test results showed that cognitive function was affected by loss of smell at the first examination. Additionally, the cognitive impact was more pronounced in the group with >3 months of smell loss than in the group with Some of smell loss. Six months later, test results were better than those at the first examination in both groups, regardless of loss of smell or not.

**CONCLUSION:** Our results indicate that cognitive function may be affected with or without loss of smell in patients with COVID-19, and that cognitive dysfunction and the duration of loss of smell may be related. It was found that cognitive functions were recovered substantially over time, and it was considered that COVID-19-related damage affecting cognitive functions was recoverable.

Keywords: Cognitive impairment, COVID-19, long-COVID, loss of smell, olfactory dysfunction

# INTRODUCTION

Experiences during the coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic revealed that neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms related to the disease may develop over a wide spectrum and spread over time. A high frequency of cognitive complaints after COVID-19 was reported, and the effect of COVID-19 on cognitive function was almost invariably shown in many studies.<sup>1-9</sup> During the COVID-19 pandemic, olfactory dysfunction became a common symptom that was frequently observed and attracted attention.<sup>10,11</sup>

To cite this article: Direybatoğulları C, Avşar Ertürk F, Güven B, Cemil Ülker A, Güven H. Olfactory Dysfunction and Cognitive Impairment After COVID-19. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):332-339

ORCID IDs of the authors: C.D. 0009-0007-2285-4743; F.A.E. 0000-0002-1008-1946; B.G. 0000-0002-4816-9257; A.C.Ü. 0000-0003-4381-3127; H.G. 0000-0002-9135-639X.



Address for Correspondence: Cem Direybatoğulları **E-mail**: cemdireybatogullari@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0009-0007-2285-4743

Received: 21.02.2024 Accepted: 13.06.2024

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. Olfactory dysfunction may develop as a result of a wide range of factors and pathological events, ranging from viral infections including Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) to neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Parkinson's disease (PD). Olfactory dysfunction is also a sensitive biomarker of neurodegenerative diseases.<sup>12-17</sup> It was suggested that a connection between SARS-CoV-2 infection and olfactory dysfunction may play a potential role in the development of neurodegenerative diseases or occurrence of predisposition to these diseases in individuals with COVID-19.<sup>12</sup>

Although it is not known whether SARS-CoV-2 is neurotropic and the extent of its damage to the central nervous system (CNS), several hypotheses have been suggested to clarify its entry into the CNS. First, SARS-CoV-2 probably proceeds via axonal/transsynaptic transport in olfactory neurons innervating the nasal epithelium and reaches the olfactory bulb, olfactory cortex, other structures in the temporal lobe, and possibly the brain stem.<sup>18,19</sup> The other hypotheses are that SARS-CoV-2 may spread to many parts of the brain by being transmitted into the cerebrospinal fluid surrounding the olfactory nerve bundles, enter the CNS hematogenously, and infect vascular endothelial cells, pericytes, and possibly neurons.<sup>10,12,18,20,21</sup>

It has been suggested that SARS-CoV-2, like other coronaviruses, may remain in certain neurons without causing acute toxicity, cause abnormal folding and aggregation of proteins, and lead to neurodegenerative processes that may arise in individuals who have COVID-19 within the subsequent years.<sup>22-24</sup> Coronaviruses affect endosomal cathepsins, cell surface transmembrane or serine proteases, and host proteases, such as furin and trypsin.<sup>25,26</sup> Most of these proteases have an important role in the degradation of altered neural proteins, such as alpha-synuclein, amyloid precursor protein, and huntingtin, and play a role in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases, such as PD and AD.<sup>25,27</sup> Another comment for clarifying the relation between COVID-19 and neurodegenerative diseases is that after entering the olfactory bulb, viral proteins are released by the replication of SARS-CoV-2, activating the release of proinflammatory cytokines; the resulting inflammatory environment also triggers oxidative stress mediators, leading to the loss of dopamine neurons or the aggregation of proteins, such as amyloid fibrils and  $\alpha$ -synuclein responsible for the pathogenesis of PD and AD. 12,28-30

The long-known relationship between loss of smell and cognitive function and neurodegenerative processes brings into mind the question of whether olfactory dysfunction in patients with COVID-19 can predict cognitive impairment. The answer to the question of whether COVID-19 will increase the risk of dementia in the future is not yet clear. In this study, we aimed to investigate the relationship between loss of smell and its duration and cognitive function in patients after COVID-19. The changes in cognitive function over time and the factors that may have affected this change were also investigated.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients aged 18-60 years with COVID-19 and at least primary school graduates were included in the study within 3 to 6 months following the illness. The study participants were selected from relatives of patients who applied to the neurology outpatient clinic. The study was conducted prospectively. Patients were included in the study between August 2021 and October 2021.

Patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 (positive SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction test result in nasopharyngeal swabs with viral symptoms), those with mild/moderate illness (with COVID-19 severity score between 1-4)<sup>31</sup> and those who did not require hospitalization at the intensive care unit were included in the study. Patients with a history of neurological disease, head trauma, systemic-induced cognitive impairment, psychiatric disease, and psychotropic drug use, diagnosed with depressive emotional disorder, a history of olfactory disorder symptoms that developed for any reason before COVID-19, a history of nasopharyngeal surgery, and in whom COVID-19-related encephalopathy developed were excluded from the study.

The participants were interviewed face-to-face, and the information forms developed for the study were completed. It was queried whether the patients had any complaints related to their sense of smell (anosmia, hyposmia, hyperosmia, parosmia, phantosmia or cacosmia) due to COVID-19, and if so, how long it continued/whether it still continues. The education level of the patients was categorized as primary school, high school, or university graduate, and their education periods were recorded. Whether the patient was currently smoking and their body mass index (BMI) were determined. BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> was considered obesity. History of hypertension, diabetes mellitus (DM), coronary artery disease, and chronic lung disease (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma) were recorded.

Cognitive functions were evaluated with Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised (ACE-R) test battery, which evaluates orientation, attention, memory, verbal fluency, language, and visuospatial ability, and the Symbol Digit Modalities test (SDMT), which evaluates attention, concentration, and speed of information processing. In addition, the participants were evaluated using Beck's Depression Inventory, and patients with scores  $\geq 17$  (moderate and severe depressive mood disorder) were excluded from the study because there may have been confusion in determining cognitive dysfunctions. The tests were performed by a clinical psychologist that was blind to patient information.

Comparisons were made in terms of cognitive function between patients with and without olfactory dysfunction for  $\leq 3$  months and >3 months as well as between patients with and without COVID-19-related olfactory dysfunction. A part of the participants of the study were called for a check-up 6 months after the initial examination, their neuropsychological tests were repeated, and it was determined whether any changes in cognitive functions and smell-related complaints had occurred over time. Factors that may affect temporal changes in neuropsychological test were examined.

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and with the approval of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 116/16, date: 26.07.2021). Written informed consent was obtained from all patients who participated in the study.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

SPSS 23.0 software (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, version 23.0 for Windows, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). Conformity of continuous variables to normal distribution was researched by Shapiro-Wilk test. Descriptive statistics were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or median (minimum-maximum) for continuous variables and number (%) for categorical variables. Independent two-sample t-test was used if

continuous variables had normal distribution and Mann-Whitney U test was used if continuous variables did not have a normal distribution. In the comparison of two dependent groups, the paired two-sample t-test was applied for data with normal distribution, and the Wilcoxon test was applied for the data not having normal distribution. Pearson's chi-square test was used to assess categorical variables, and Fisher's exact test was used when chi-square test conditions were not met. A linear regression model was used to analyze the independent variables affecting the changes in ACE-R, SDMT, and ACE-R memory sub-scores. The statistical significance level was set as p<0.05 in the analyses.

# RESULTS

#### Participants

Ninety-seven people (59 females, 38 males; mean age  $40.2\pm10.8$ ) who had COVID-19 were included in the study, and initial cognitive assessment was performed within 3-6 months following the illness (mean:  $128.6\pm25.1$  days). Fifty of the 97 patients were evaluated at the second examination 6 months later.

In 52 of the patients (53.6%), COVID-19-related loss of smell developed. Loss of smell continued for  $\leq$ 3 months in 42 patients (80.8%) and >3 months in 10 patients (19.2%). In 2 of 10 patients, the duration of loss of smell was >12 months.

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients, ACE-R scores, ACE-R memory subscore, and SDMT scores at the first examination and during the checkup after 6 months are presented in Table 1.

#### Loss of Smell

No statistically significant difference was detected between patients with and without COVID-19-related loss of smell in terms of demographic characteristics, comorbid conditions, and diseases, ACE-R score, SDMT score, and ACE-R memory subscore in the first and second examinations (Table 2).

The patients in whom loss of smell continued for more than 3 months had lower ACE-R scores in the first examination and lower SDMT scores in their checkups after 6 months compared with the patients in whom loss of smell continued for 3 months or less (p=0.018 and p=0.044, respectively) (Table 3).

Olfactory dysfunction persisted 12 months after COVID-19 in 2 patients. In a 47-year-old female patient who was a high school graduate, the ACE-R and SDMT scores in the first examination were significantly lower than the group averages. The test scores of another 19-year-old female patient were lower but not as significant as those of the first patient. An increase was found in the test scores of both patients in the second examination after 6 months, but a significant decrease in the test scores of the first patient was observed.

# Changes in Cognitive Function After COVID-19 within the 6-Month Period

Fifty of the 97 patients whose initial examinations were performed were re-evaluated after 6 months (29 patients with loss of smell, 21 patients without loss of smell).

ACE-R scores in the second examination were found to have a statistically significant increase compared with ACE-R scores in the first examination in all patients with COVID-19 and in the subgroups with and without

olfactory dysfunction (p<0.001, p<0.001 and p=0.001, respectively). In the ACE-R scores at the second examination, a statistically significant increase was observed in the patients with loss of smell lasting for  $\leq$ 3 months and for >3 months (p<0.001 and p=0.017, respectively) (Table 4).

An increase was found in ACE-R memory subscore in the second examination compared with the first examination in all patients with COVID-19 and in the subgroups with and without loss of smell (p<0.001, p<0.001 and p<0.001, respectively). It was observed that there was a statistically significant increase in ACE-R memory sub-scores in both patients with 3-month loss of smell lasting  $\leq$ 3 months and patients with  $\geq$ 3-month loss of smell lasting  $\geq$ 3 months (p<0.001 and p=0.016, respectively).

# Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients with COVID-19

	Patients with COVID-19, (n=97)	
Age (years)	40.24±10.80	
Gender		
Female	59 (60.8)	
Male	38 (39.2)	
Years of education	11.89±4.30	
Level of education		
Primary school	31 (32)	
High school	27 (27.8)	
University	39 (40.2)	
COVID-19 severity score		
1	23 (23.7)	
2	66 (68)	
3	4 (4.1)	
4	4 (4.1)	
Smoking	28 (28.9)	
Obesity (BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> ) 23 (23.7)		
Hypertension	14 (14.4)	
Diabetes mellitus	9 (9.3)	
Coronary heart disease	2 (2.1)	
Chronic lung disease	2 (2.1)	
Loss of smell	52 (53.6)	
Loss of smell ≤3 months	42 (43.3)	
Loss of smell for 3-12 months	8 (8.2)	
Loss of smell >12 months	2 (2.1)	
Loss of taste	46 (47.4)	
Forgetfulness	79 (81.4)	
ACE-R score (initial)	79.81±10.86	
ACE-R memory subscore (initial)	15.32±4.42	
SDMT score (initial)	49.68±17.05	
ACE-R score (6 months later)	82.92±11.41	
ACE-R memory subscore (6 months later)	17.24±3.99	
SDMT score (6 months later)	54.69±16.71	

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or number (%). Twenty-nine and 21 patients with and without loss of smell, respectively, were evaluated 6 months after their initial examination. BMI: Body mass index, ACE-R: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, SDMT: Symbol Digit Modalities test, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019.

SDMT scores in the second examination were found to have a statistically significant increase as compared with SDMT scores in the first examination in all patients who had COVID-19 and in the subgroups with and without olfactory dysfunction (p<0.001, p<0.001 and p=0.002, respectively). In SDMT scores at the second examination, a statistically significant increase was observed in patients with loss of smell lasting for  $\leq$ 3 months (p<0.001). In patients with olfactory dysfunction lasting for  $\geq$ 3 months, the change in the control SDMT scores was not statistically significant compared with that at the first examination (Table 4).

Independent variables that may affect changes in ACE-R, SDMT, and ACE-R memory sub-scores over 6 months (duration of olfactory loss  $\leq$ 3 months or >3 months, age, gender, level of education, obesity, hypertension and DM) were evaluated using linear regression models. Regression models for the ACE-R, SDMT, and ACE-R memory subscore were not significant (p=0.346, p=0.242 and p=0.281, respectively) (Table 5).

Table 2. Comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics betweenpatients with and without loss of smell				
	Patients with loss of smell, (n=52)	Patients without loss of smell, (n=45)	р	
Age (year)	38.73±10.77	41.98±10.69	0.141 <sup>1</sup>	
Gender				
Female	36 (69.2)	23 (51.1)	0.1062	
Male	16 (30.8)	22 (48.9)	0.1062	
Years of education	11.98±4.23	11.78±4.42	0.825 <sup>3</sup>	
Level of education				
Primary school	17 (32.7)	14 (31.1)		
High school	14 (26.9)	13 (28.9)	0.974 <sup>5</sup>	
University	21 (40.4)	18 (40)		
Smoking	33 (63.5)	36 (80)	0.117 <sup>2</sup>	
Obesity (BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	9 (17.3)	14 (31.1)	0.176 <sup>2</sup>	
Hypertension	5 (9.6)	9 (20)	0.1614	
Diabetes mellitus	4 (7.7)	5 (11.1)	0.729 <sup>4</sup>	
Coronary heart disease	2 (3.8)	0 (0)	0.4974	
Chronic lung disease	2 (3.8)	0 (0)	0.4974	
COVID-19 severity score (1-4)	2±0.68	1.75±0.60	0.312 <sup>2</sup>	
Forgetfulness	37 (71.2)	27 (60)	0.346 <sup>2</sup>	
ACE-R score (initial)	79.04±10.75	80.71±11.04	0.454 <sup>3</sup>	
ACE-R memory subscore (initial)	14.62±3.93	16.13±4.85	0.158 <sup>3</sup>	
SDMT score (initial)	49.33±16.40	50.09±17.94	0.828 <sup>1</sup>	
ACE-R score (6 months later)	83.36±11.87	82.33±11.04	0.760 <sup>1</sup>	
ACE-R memory subscore (6 months later)	17.07±3.91	17.48±4.19	0.729 <sup>1</sup>	
SDMT score (6 months later)	57.89±16.26	50.43±16.72	0.123 <sup>1</sup>	

Data are presented as mean ± standard deviation or number (%). Twenty-nine and 21 patients with and without loss of smell, respectively, were evaluated 6 months after their initial examination. <sup>1</sup>Independent two sample t-test, <sup>2</sup>Yates Correction, <sup>3</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, <sup>4</sup>Fisher's exact test, <sup>5</sup>Pearson's chi-square test. BMI: Body mass index, ACE-R: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, SDMT: Symbol Digit Modality test, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019.

### DISCUSSION

The effect of COVID-19 on cognitive function was almost invariably demonstrated in many studies.<sup>1-9</sup> However, it remains unclear how often it affects, how long the effect lasts, whether it is permanent, and whether olfactory disorders that develop during the disease are markers for cognitive impairment. The reasons such as the fact that cognitive evaluations were performed in the acute phase of the disease or in the following months, the characteristics of the patients included in the study population, the variability in disease severity between studies, and the evaluation of different cognitive domains may have led to contradictory results.

In this study, there was no difference in cognitive function between patients with and without COVID-19-related loss of smell. However, in the first examination of patients whose loss of smell persisted for more than 3 months, ACE-R scores were found to be lower, indicating widespread cognitive dysfunction, including orientation, attention,

Table 3. Comparison of demographic and clinical characteristics among patients with loss of smell for ≤3 months or >3 months					
	Patients with loss of smell for ≤3 months, (n=42)	Patients with loss of smell for >3 months, (n=10)	р		
Age (years)	38.52±10.28	39.60±13.20	0.745 <sup>1</sup>		
Gender					
Female	29 (69)	7 (70)	1 000 <sup>2</sup>		
Male	13 (31)	3 (30)	1.000		
Years of education	12.40±4.31	10.20±3.55	0.114 <sup>3</sup>		
Level of education					
Primary school	12 (34.3)	2 (20.0)			
High school	10 (28.6)	3 (30.0)	0.6584		
University	13 (37.1)	5 (50.0)			
Smoking	26 (61.9)	7 (70.0)	0.729 <sup>2</sup>		
Obesity (BMI >30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	8 (19)	1 (10)	0.670 <sup>2</sup>		
Hypertension	5 (11)	0 (0)	0.569 <sup>2</sup>		
Diabetes mellitus	4 (9.5)	0 (0)	0.576 <sup>2</sup>		
Coronary heart disease	1 (2.4)	1 (10)	0.351 <sup>2</sup>		
Chronic lung disease	2 (4.8)	0 (0)	0.649 <sup>2</sup>		
COVID-19 severity score (1-4)	1.97±0.64	2.1±0.87	0.7924		
Forgetfulness	29 (69)	8 (80)	0.704 <sup>2</sup>		
ACE-R score (initial)	80.76±9.96	71.80±11.44	0.018 <sup>3</sup>		
ACE-R Memory subscore (initial)	15.07±4.03	12.70±2.87	0.080 <sup>3</sup>		
SDMT score (initial)	50.90±16.15	42.70±16.60	0.157 <sup>1</sup>		
ACE-R score (6 months later)	84.95±11.49	78.57±12.59	0.159 <sup>3</sup>		
ACE-R Memory subscore (6 months later)	17.76±3.92	15.00±3.27	0.106 <sup>1</sup>		
SDMT score (6 months later)	61.43±14.95	47.29±16.43	0.044 <sup>1</sup>		

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or number (%). Twenty-nine and 21 patients with and without loss of smell, respectively, were evaluated 6 months after their initial examination. <sup>1</sup>Independent two sample t-test, <sup>2</sup>Fisher's exact test, <sup>3</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, <sup>4</sup>Pearson chi-square test; ACE-R: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, SDMT: Symbol Digit Modality test, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019.

Table 4. ACE-R and SDMT scores over a 6-month period and their relationship with loss of smell						
	ACE-R score (initial)	ACE-R score (6 months later)	р	SDMT score (initial)	SDMT score (6 months later)	р
Patients with COVID-19	79.81±10.86	82.92±11.41	<0.001*	49.68±17.05	54.69±16.71	<0.001**
Patients without loss of smell	80.71±11.04	82.33±11.04	0.001*	50.09±17.94	50.43±16.72	0.002*
Patients with loss of smell	79.04±10.75	83.36±11.87	<0.001*	49.33±16.40	57.89±16.26	<0.001*
Patients with loss of smell ≤3 months	80.76±9.96	84.95±11.49	<0.001*	50.90±16.15	61.43±14.95	<0.001**
Patients with >3 months of loss of smell	71.80±11.44	78.57±12.59	0.017*	42.70±16.60	47.29±16.43	0.688**

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. \*Wilcoxon test, \*\*Paired two sample t-test. Twenty-nine of the patients with loss of smell and 21 of the patients without loss of smell, 22 of the patients with olfactory dysfunction for  $\leq$ 3 months and 7 of the patients with olfactory dysfunction for >3 months were evaluated 6 months after their initial examination. ACE-R: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, SDMT: Symbol Digit Modality test, COVID-19: Coronavirus disease-2019.

Table 5. Linear regression models for the ACE-R and	SDMT scores						
Linear regression model of independent variables that may affect changes in ACE-R scores							
	β <sub>0</sub> (95% CI)	β <sub>1</sub>	t	р	r <sub>1</sub>	r <sub>2</sub>	VIF
Constant	2,380 (1.14-3,621)		4,048	0.001			
Patients with >3 months of loss of smell (no reference)	-0.371 (-0.97-0.228)	-0.272	-1,307	0.209	-0.196	-0.302	1,155
Age	-0.062 (-0.688-0.565)	-0.051	-0.208	0.837	-0.104	-0.050	1,597
Gender (no reference)	0.036 (-0.667-0.739)	0.027	0.108	0.915	-0.036	0.026	1,725
Education (reference: university)							
Primary school	0.514 (-0.215-1,242)	0.376	1,488	0.155	0.009	0.339	1,710
High school	0.461 (-0.236-1,158)	0.362	1,395	0.181	0.134	0.320	1,799
Obesity	-0.795 (-1,705-0.115)	-0.517	-1,843	0.083	-0.405	-0.408	2,106
Hypertension	0.380 (-1,017-1,778)	0.201	0.574	0.573	-0.056	0.138	3,262
Diabetes mellitus	-0.530 (-2,472-1,412)	-0.233	-0.576	0.572	-0.245	-0.138	4,385
F=1,219, p=0.346, R <sup>2</sup> =36.5%, corrected R <sup>2</sup> =6.6%, $\beta_0$ : Unstand changes did not have a normal distribution, Ln conversion w	ardized beta coefficient, $\beta_1$ : Stats applied.	andardized beta	coefficient, r <sub>1</sub> : Ze	ero order correla	ation, r <sub>2</sub> : Partial	correlation. As th	ne ACE-R
Linear regression model of independent variables t	hat may affect changes in	SDMT scores					
	β <sub>0</sub> (95% CI)	β <sub>1</sub>	t	р	r <sub>1</sub>	<b>r</b> <sub>2</sub>	VIF
Constant	1,619 (0.547-2,692)		3,218	0.006			
Patients with loss of smell >3 months (no reference)	-0.467 (-1,093-0.159)	-0.382	-1,589	0.133	-0.423	-0.380	1,550
Age	-0.457 (-0.993-0.08)	-0.431	-1,813	0.090	-0.322	-0.424	1,518
Gender (no Reference)	0.082 (-0.61-0.774)	0.067	0.252	0.804	-0.102	0.065	1,892
Education status (reference: university)							
Primary school	0.152 (-0.544-0.848)	0.124	0.466	0.648	0.016	0.119	1,911
High school	0.182 (-0.502-0.866)	0.162	0.567	0.579	-0.043	0.145	2,192
Obesity	0.501 (-0.255-1,256)	0.384	1,413	0.178	0.159	0.343	1,983
Hypertension	0.808 (-0.413-2,029)	0.504	1,411	0.179	0.116	0.342	3,435
Diabetes mellitus	-1,320 (-2,978-0.339)	-0.688	-1,696	0.111	-0.050	-0.401	4,428

F=1,487, p=0.242,  $R^2=44.2\%$ , corrected  $R^2=14.5\%$ ,  $\beta_0$ : Unstandardized beta coefficient,  $\beta_1$ : Standardized beta coefficient,  $r_1$ : Zero-order correlation,  $r_2$ : Partial correlation. Because the SDMT changes did not have a normal distribution, Ln conversion was applied. ACE-R: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination-Revised, SDMT: Symbol Digit Modality test, CI: Confidence interval.

memory, verbal fluency, language, and visuospatial ability. Patients with persistent loss of smell for more than 3 months had lower SDMT scores on the second examination after 6 months. These findings indicated that the duration or persistence of loss of smell may be related to cognitive function rather than whether or not loss of smell development in patients with COVID-19. Our results can be interpreted as loss of smell may last longer in patients whose cognitive functions are affected in the early post-COVID-19 period; especially attention and concentration disorders and regression in the speed of information processing in patients whose loss of smell continues longer may develop

within the further period. Patients in whom olfactory dysfunction continued for longer than 6 months after COVID-19 reported headache, mental clouding, or both more frequently. This finding was interpreted as cognitive impairment, and headache may be related to more severe olfactory loss.<sup>32</sup> Patients complaining of both dysgeusia and hyposmia during acute illness showed a lower improvement in memory tests than those without.<sup>33</sup> On the other hand, it has been suggested that advanced age and mild subtle cognitive deficits may be factors related to long-term olfactory dysfunction after COVID-19.<sup>34</sup>

In our study, an increase that reflects the recovery of cognitive function was found in the ACE-R and SDMT scores repeated after 6 months in the group of patients who had COVID-19, whether or not accompanied by loss of smell. This result was also considered to indicate the effect of COVID-19 on cognitive function. The recovery of cognitive function based on the checkup examination in both groups with and without loss of smell indicated that loss of smell may not be a factor directly related to the development of cognitive dysfunction. However, it was found that there was no significant recovery after 6 months in cognitive domains including attention, concentration, and speed of informationprocessing in the group with loss of smell lasting more than 3 months as compared with the group with loss of smell lasting less than 3 months; it was considered that the duration of loss of smell may be an effective factor for the recovery of cognitive functions after 6 months. From another perspective, our results indicated that cognitive function may have been affected in patients with COVID-19, but this effect may be recoverable, especially in patients with short-term loss of smell. Factors such as repair or compensation mechanisms are likely to be intact in patients with COVID-19, or that genetic or other predisposing factors do not exist in these patients, as in the other neurodegenerative diseases, may clarify the fact that the course of the damage leading to COVID-19-related cognitive dysfunction was not progressive and could be recovered.

The results of studies investigating the relationship between COVID-19 and cognitive dysfunction vary. Although no difference was found in terms of cognitive test results 4 months after SARS-CoV-2 infection in patients with mild-moderate COVID-19 in one study,35 impairment in at least one cognitive domain was reported after 3 months in 78% of the patients in another study.<sup>36</sup> In a systematic review and meta-analysis, cognitive impairment developed in approximately 1/5 of the patients within 12 weeks or longer following COVID-19.9 In another systematic review, cognitive deficit was found at a rate of 25%.<sup>5</sup> In studies on COVID-19-related cognitive affection, findings reflecting dysfunction of various cognitive domains, especially processing speed, executive functioning, memory, and attention disorders, were found.3-5,33,37-40 The results of studies on the course of COVID-19-related cognitive dysfunctions over time also include differences.<sup>5</sup> It was reported that cognitive functions improved over time in certain studies.33,40 Ongoing, prolonged, or permanent cognitive deficits were also identified.<sup>1,33,41,42</sup>

In our study, although olfactory dysfunction continued for longer than 3 months, it was observed that it recovered in most patients, and olfactory dysfunction persisted 12 months after COVID-19 in only 2 patients. In a 47-year-old female patient, the ACE-R and SDMT scores at the initial examination were significantly lower. The test scores of the second patient, a 19-year-old female, were lower but not as significant as those of the first patient. An increase in the test scores was found in both patients in the second examination after 6 months, but the significant decrease in the test scores of the first patient continued. Different brain areas associated with cognitive functions overlap with the olfactory pathways. The multiregional involvement of olfactory stimuli, including the orbitofrontal cortex, amygdala, and hippocampus, explains the relationship between odor perception and memory formation.43-45 Various processes such as inflammation, alterations in neurogenesis of peripheral and central structures of the olfactory system, and functional changes in brain structures may explain the link between loss of smell and cognitive impairment, especially in patients with COVID-19-related prolonged olfactory disturbances.<sup>46,47</sup> Poor recovery

of cognitive function may also be a sign of more severe derangement in cognitive circuits.

Greater severity of acute illness, duration of symptoms, advanced age, female sex, and preexisting comorbidities are frequently identified risk factors for cognitive affection.<sup>5,9,38,42</sup> In our study, it was determined that any of the factors, including age, gender, educational status, obesity, hypertension, and DM, were not effective on the temporal change in cognitive test results, and the improvement in cognitive functions developed independently of these factors. It was considered that mechanisms related to COVID-19 may play a role in the recovery of cognitive function, as well as in the affectation of cognitive function.

As the clinical severity of COVID-19 worsens, the impact on cognitive function may become more pronounced, with hypoxic brain damage coming into play. Therefore, patients with milder COVID-19 were included in the study to more accurately evaluate the direct effect of COVID-19 on cognition. Patients older than 60 years were not included in our study, considering the possibility of subclinical or mild cognitive impairments and the fact that cognitive impairments can be triggered more easily for various reasons in these patients.

#### **Study Limitations**

The evaluation of olfactory dysfunction based on self-reported assessment of the sense of smell, not clinical or electrophysiological tests, was a study limitation. However, this evaluation also made it possible to determine the loss of smell that is directly related to COVID-19. It is possible to detect pre-existing disorders that patients are unaware of using scent tests.

#### CONCLUSION

Our results indicate that patients with COVID-19 may possibly experience temporary and greatly improved cognitive impairment independent of olfactory dysfunction. Although loss of smell was not found to be associated with cognitive function, the relationship between prolonged and persistent olfactory dysfunction and cognitive impairment is remarkable.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- COVID-19 may affect cognitive functions.
- Cognitive impairment caused by COVID-19 is mostly reversible.
- Olfactory dysfunction is a common symptom in the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Cognitive impairment after COVID-19 may occur with or without olfactory dysfunction.
- The duration of olfactory dysfunction is associated with cognitive impairment.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and with the approval of the University of Health Sciences Türkiye, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 116/16, date: 26.07.2021).

**Informed Consent:** Written informed consent was obtained from all patients who participated in the study.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: C.D., F.A.E., A.C.Ü., Concept: C.D., F.A.E., B.G., A.C.Ü., H.G., Design: C.D., B.G., H.G., Data Collection and/ or Processing: C.D., F.A.E., A.C.Ü., Analysis and/or Interpretation: C.D., B.G., H.G., Literature Search: C.D., A.C.Ü., H.G., Writing: C.D., B.G., H.G.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Chaumont H, Meppiel E, Roze E, Tressières B, de Broucker T, Lannuzel A; contributors to the French NeuroCOVID registry. Long-term outcomes after NeuroCOVID: A 6-month follow-up study on 60 patients. Rev Neurol (Paris). 2022; 178(1-2): 137-43.
- Graham EL, Clark JR, Orban ZS, Lim PH, Szymanski AL, Taylor C et al. Persistent neurologic symptoms and cognitive dysfunction in non-hospitalized COVID-19 "long haulers". Ann Clin Transl Neurol. 2021; 8(5): 1073-85.
- Premraj L, Kannapadi NV, Briggs J, Seal SM, Battaglini D, Fanning J et al. Mid and long-term neurological and neuropsychiatric manifestations of post-COVID-19 syndrome: A meta-analysis. J Neurol Sci. 2022; 434: 120162.
- Vanderlind WM, Rabinovitz BB, Miao IY, Oberlin LE, Bueno-Castellano C, Fridman C, et al. A systematic review of neuropsychological and psychiatric sequalae of COVID-19: implications for treatment. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2021; 34(4): 420-33.
- Schou TM, Joca S, Wegener G, Bay-Richter C. Psychiatric and neuropsychiatric sequelae of COVID-19 - A systematic review. Brain Behav Immun. 2021; 97: 328-48.
- Crivelli L, Palmer K, Calandri I, Guekht A, Beghi E, Carroll W, et al. Changes in cognitive functioning after COVID-19: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimers Dement. 2022; 18(5): 1047-66.
- Hampshire A, Azor A, Atchison C, Trender W, Hellyer PJ, Giunchiglia V, et al. Cognition and Memory after Covid-19 in a Large Community Sample. N Engl J Med. 2024; 390(9): 806-18.
- Taşkıran Sağ A, COVID-19 Associated Brain Fog and Neurocognitive Assessment. Cyprus J Med Sci 2023; 8(2): 115-20.
- 9. Ceban F, Ling S, Lui LMW, Lee Y, Gill H, Teopiz KM et al. Fatigue and cognitive impairment in Post-COVID-19 Syndrome: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Brain Behav Immun. 2022; 101: 93-135.
- 10. Kanjanaumporn J, Aeumjaturapat S, Snidvongs K, Seresirikachorn K, Chusakul S. Smell and taste dysfunction in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection: A review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, prognosis, and treatment options. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. 2020; 38(2): 69-77.
- Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, Horoi M, Le Bon SD, Rodriguez A, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mildto-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol. 2020; 277(8): 2251-61.
- Mahalaxmi I, Kaavya J, Mohana Devi S, Balachandar V. COVID-19 and olfactory dysfunction: A possible associative approach towards neurodegenerative diseases. J Cell Physiol. 2021; 236(2): 763-70.
- Rebholz H, Braun RJ, Ladage D, Knoll W, Kleber C, Hassel AW. Loss of Olfactory Function-Early Indicator for Covid-19, Other Viral Infections and Neurodegenerative Disorders. Front Neurol. 2020; 11: 569333.

- Ponsen MM, Stoffers D, Booij J, van Eck-Smit BL, Wolters ECh, Berendse HW. Idiopathic hyposmia as a preclinical sign of Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol. 2004; 56(2): 173-81.
- Velayudhan L, Lovestone S. Smell identification test as a treatment response marker in patients with Alzheimer disease receiving donepezil. J Clin Psychopharmacol. 2009; 29(4): 387-90.
- Kjelvik G, Saltvedt I, White LR, Stenumgård P, Sletvold O, Engedal K, et al. The brain structural and cognitive basis of odor identification deficits in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. BMC Neurol. 2014; 14:168.
- 17. Woodward MR, Amrutkar CV, Shah HC, Benedict RH, Rajakrishnan S, Doody RS, et al. Validation of olfactory deficit as a biomarker of Alzheimer disease. Neurol Clin Pract. 2017; 7(1): 5-14.
- Bougakov D, Podell K, Goldberg E. Multiple Neuroinvasive Pathways in COVID-19. Mol Neurobiol. 2021; 58(2): 564-75.
- Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, Hans S, Barillari MR, Jouffe L, Saussez S. Loss of Smell and Taste in 2013 European Patients with Mild to Moderate COVID-19. Ann Intern Med. 2020; 173(8): 672-5.
- Zubair AS, McAlpine LS, Gardin T, Farhadian S, Kuruvilla DE, Spudich S. Neuropathogenesis and Neurologic Manifestations of the Coronaviruses in the Age of Coronavirus Disease 2019: A Review. JAMA Neurol. 2020; 77(8): 1018-27.
- 21. De Santis G. SARS-CoV-2: A new virus but a familiar inflammation brain pattern. Brain Behav Immun. 2020; 87: 95-6.
- 22. Fotuhi M, Mian A, Meysami S, Raji CA. Neurobiology of COVID-19. J Alzheimers Dis. 2020; 76(1): 3-19.
- 23. Lippi A, Domingues R, Setz C, Outeiro TF, Krisko A. SARS-CoV-2: At the Crossroad Between Aging and Neurodegeneration. Mov Disord. 2020; 35(5): 716-20.
- 24. Nath A. Neurologic complications of coronavirus infections. Neurology. 2020; 94(19): 809-10.
- Mahalakshmi AM, Ray B, Tuladhar S, Bhat A, Paneyala S, Patteswari D, et al. Does COVID-19 contribute to development of neurological disease? Immun Inflamm Dis. 2021; 9(1): 48-58.
- 26. Millet JK, Whittaker GR. Host cell proteases: Critical determinants of coronavirus tropism and pathogenesis. Virus Res. 2015; 202: 120-34.
- Vidoni C, Follo C, Savino M, Melone MA, Isidoro C. The Role of Cathepsin D in the Pathogenesis of Human Neurodegenerative Disorders. Med Res Rev. 2016; 36(5): 845-70.
- 28. Hassanzadeh K, Rahimmi A. Oxidative stress and neuroinflammation in the story of Parkinson's disease: Could targeting these pathways write a good ending? J Cell Physiol. 2018; 234(1): 23-32.
- 29. Rambaran RN, Serpell LC. Amyloid fibrils: abnormal protein assembly. Prion. 2008; 2(3): 112-7.
- 30. Venugopal A, Iyer M, Balasubramanian V, Vellingiri B. Mitochondrial calcium uniporter as a potential therapeutic strategy for Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropsychiatr. 2020; 32(2): 65-71.
- Cao B, Wang Y, Wen D, Liu W, Wang J, Fan G, et al. A Trial of Lopinavir-Ritonavir in Adults Hospitalized with Severe COVID-19. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(19): 1787-99.
- 32. Di Stadio A, Brenner MJ, De Luca P, Albanese M, D'Ascanio L, Ralli M, et al. Olfactory Dysfunction, Headache, and Mental Clouding in Adults with Long-COVID-19: What Is the Link between Cognition and Olfaction? A Cross-Sectional Study. Brain Sci. 2022; 12(2): 154.
- Cecchetti G, Agosta F, Canu E, Basaia S, Barbieri A, Cardamone R, et al. Cognitive, EEG, and MRI features of COVID-19 survivors: a 10-month study. J Neurol. 2022; 269(7): 3400-12.

- Cristillo V, Pilotto A, Cotti Piccinelli S, Zoppi N, Bonzi G, Gipponi S, et al. Age and subtle cognitive impairment are associated with long-term olfactory dysfunction after COVID-19 infection. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2021; 69(10): 2778-80.
- Mattioli F, Stampatori C, Righetti F, Sala E, Tomasi C, De Palma G. Neurological and cognitive sequelae of Covid-19: a four month follow-up. J Neurol. 2021; 268(12): 4422-28.
- Mazza MG, Palladini M, De Lorenzo R, Magnaghi C, Poletti S, Furlan R, et al. Persistent psychopathology and neurocognitive impairment in COVID-19 survivors: Effect of inflammatory biomarkers at three-month follow-up. Brain Behav Immun. 2021; 94: 138-47.
- Hampshire A, Chatfield DA, MPhil AM, Jolly A, Trender W, Hellyer PJ, et al. Multivariate profile and acute-phase correlates of cognitive deficits in a COVID-19 hospitalised cohort. EClinicalMedicine. 2022; 47:101417.
- Vannorsdall TD, Brigham E, Fawzy A, Raju S, Gorgone A, Pletnikova A, et al. Cognitive Dysfunction, Psychiatric Distress, and Functional Decline After COVID-19. J Acad Consult Liaison Psychiatry. 2022; 63(2): 133-43.
- Zhao S, Shibata K, Hellyer PJ, Trender W, Manohar S, Hampshire A, et al. Rapid vigilance and episodic memory decrements in COVID-19 survivors. Brain Commun. 2022; 4(1): fcab295.
- Del Brutto OH, Rumbea DA, Recalde BY, Mera RM. Cognitive sequelae of long COVID may not be permanent: A prospective study Eur J Neurol. 2022; 29(4): 1218-21.

- Jason LA, Islam M, Conroy K, Cotler J, Torres C, Johnson M, et al. COVID-19 Symptoms Over Time: Comparing Long-Haulers to ME/CFS. Fatigue. 2021; 9(2): 59-68.
- Seeßle J, Waterboer T, Hippchen T, Simon J, Kirchner M, Lim A, et al. Persistent Symptoms in Adult Patients 1 Year After Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): A Prospective Cohort Study Clin Infect Dis. 2022; 74(7): 1191-98.
- Soudry Y, Lemogne C, Malinvaud D, Consoli SM, Bonfils P. Olfactory system and emotion: common substrates. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis. 2011; 128(1): 18-23.
- 44. Wilson DA, Xu W, Sadrian B, Courtiol E, Cohen Y, Barnes DC. Cortical odor processing in health and disease. Prog Brain Res. 2014; 208: 275-305.
- 45. Simonini L, Frijia F, Ait Ali L, Foffa I, Vecoli C, De Gori C, et al. A Comprehensive Review of COVID-19-Related Olfactory Deficiency: Unraveling Associations with Neurocognitive Disorders and Magnetic Resonance Imaging Findings. Diagnostics (Basel). 2024; 14(4): 359.
- 46. Jegatheeswaran L, Gokani SA, Luke L, Klyvyte G, Espehana A, Garden EM, et al. Assessment of COVID-19-related olfactory dysfunction and its association with psychological, neuropsychiatric, and cognitive symptoms. Front Neurosci. 2023; 17: 1165329.
- 47. Kay LM. COVID-19 and olfactory dysfunction: a looming wave of dementia? J Neurophysiol. 2022; 128(2): 436-44.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2023-114 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):340-345



# Effect of Smoking, Alcohol Consumption, and Obesity on Bone Metabolism: A Study on Post-Menopausal **North-Cypriot Women**

# Yasemin Küçükçiloğlu<sup>1</sup>, Mehtap Tınazlı<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Radiology, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Obesity and osteoporosis are prevalent and intricate health conditions involving multiple etiological factors. Although obesity is traditionally considered beneficial to bone health, the pathophysiological relationship between obesity and bone health is controversial. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of obesity on osteoporosis in postmenopausal North Cypriot women.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: A total of 241 postmenopausal North Cypriot women were included in the study. The height and weight of the patients were recorded, and the body mass index (BMI) was calculated for each patient. The T-scores and bone mineral density (BMD) of the femoral neck and total femur were recorded. Patients were guestioned about their history of oral contraceptive and supportive medication (Ca, bisphosphonates, vitamin D), alcohol consumption, and smoking habits.

RESULTS: The patients' ages were approximately 36-84 years (mean: 61.5±9.11), and their BMI was 16.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 47.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (28.55±5.26 kg/ m<sup>2</sup>). Mean T-scores at the femoral neck and total femur were -1.06±0.96 and -0.86±1.01, respectively. The mean BMDs at the femoral neck and total femur were  $0.839 \pm 0.115$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> and  $0.880 \pm 0.122$ , respectively. There was a statistically significant correlation between age and T-score and BMD of the femoral neck and T-score and BMD of the total femur. There was a statistically significant correlation between BMI and the femoral neck T-score and BMD of the femoral neck. There was a statistically significant correlation between BMI and total femur T-score and BMD of the total femur. No statistically significant difference was detected in the mean T-scores and BMD values between the groups regarding the use of oral contraceptive or supportive medication and smoking or alcohol consumption.

**CONCLUSION:** Our results show that obesity has a positive effect on BMD in postmenopausal North Cypriot women. Further studies with larger patient groups are needed to better understand the impact of obesity on bone health.

Keywords: Obesity, osteoporosis, osteopenia, body mass index

# INTRODUCTION

Osteoporosis is a systemic skeletal disease that causes deterioration in the microarchitecture of bone tissue, leading to increased bone fragility.<sup>1</sup> The prevalence of this disease is rising worldwide, with an aging population and prolonged life expectancy.<sup>2,3</sup> The major complication

of osteoporosis is insufficiency fractures, which lead to morbidity, mortality, decreased quality of life, and a substantial economic burden on society.

Considering the factors affecting bone metabolism, osteoporosis is simply classified as primary (postmenopausal and age-related) or

To cite this article: Küçükçiloğlu Y, Tınazlı M. Effect of Smoking, Alcohol Consumption, and Obesity on Bone Metabolism: A Study on Post-Menopausal North-Cypriot Women. Cyprus | Med Sci. 2024;9(5):340-345

ORCID IDs of the authors: Y.K. 0000-0002-1572-1375; M.T. 0000-0002-7858-0696.



Address for Correspondence: Yasemin Küçükçiloğlu E-mail: vasemin.kucukciloglu@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1572-1375

Received: 16.11.2023 Accepted: 06.07.2024

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. secondary.<sup>4,5</sup> Bone mineral density (BMD) was used to predict fracture risk.<sup>6,7</sup> Age, gender, smoking, alcohol consumption, steroid use, and diseases affecting bone metabolism increase the risk of osteoporotic fractures regardless of BMD.<sup>7-11</sup>

Obesity, which can be referred to as the age epidemic, is defined as the excessive accumulation of fat in the body and is considered a chronic metabolic disease related to both environmental and genetic factors.<sup>2</sup> Body mass index (BMI) is widely used to determine the degree of obesity.<sup>6</sup> Obesity and osteoporosis are potentially preventable and treatable conditions that are often referred to as "silent diseases" because they may not exhibit warning signs until complications arise. Various mechanical, biochemical, and hormonal mechanisms have been proposed to explain the relationship between adipose tissue and bone. In general, evidence suggests that obesity may have a protective effect against postmenopausal osteoporosis.<sup>12-15</sup> However, it is worth noting that there are also studies that report contradictory results.<sup>16-18</sup>

Smoking and alcohol consumption are well-known causes of osteoporosis. There are some direct and indirect pathophysiological mechanisms discussed in the literature to explain the effect of smoking on bone health (inhibitor effect on osteogenesis and angiogenesis, alteration in body weight, alteration in parathyroid hormone, oxidative stress, etc.).<sup>19,20</sup> High alcohol intake is related to increased fracture risk, but there seems to be a threshold effect, as alcohol consumption of 2 units or less per day does not cause an increase in osteoporotic fractures.<sup>10</sup>

In fact, a complex pathophysiological relationship between obesity, smoking, alcohol consumption, and bone that is still not fully understood.

North Cyprus has a unique geographical location with ethnic diversity. To our knowledge, no study has investigated the effects of obesity, smoking habits, and alcohol consumption on BMD in patients living in North Cyprus. In this article, we aimed to investigate the effects of these factors on postmenopausal osteoporosis in North Cypriot women.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the Near East University Institutional Research Committee, and IRB approval (approval number: 2020/85-1182, date: 26.11.2020) was obtained. Patients provided informed consent regarding the publication of their data.

For this cross-sectional study, a questionnaire was administered to 509 North Cypriot women who were referred for Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry examinations at the radiology department of our hospital between January 2021 and December 2021. Questionnaires were asked about their menstrual status, the presence of conditions that could contribute to osteoporosis, alcohol consumption and smoking habits, history of oral contraceptive use, and the use of supportive medications such as calcium, bisphosphonates, and vitamin D. Two hundred sixty-eight patients (58 premenopausal patients and 210 postmenopausal patients, those receive anti-osteoporosis treatment or suffering from diseases that may cause secondary osteoporosis) were excluded, and the remaining 241 postmenopausal treatment-naive patients were included in the study (Figure 1). For each patient, their height and weight were documented, and the BMI was computed (kg/ m<sup>2</sup>). Additionally, T-scores and BMD measurements of the femoral neck and total femur were recorded.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 28 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. "Shapiro-Wilk test" was used to determine whether the data had a normal distribution. Because the data showed a normal distribution p>0.05), "t-test for independent samples" was used in comparisons between the groups and "Pearson correlation analysis" was used to examine the relationships between variables.

#### RESULTS

The patients in the study had a wide age range, ranging from 36 to 84 years, with a mean age of 61.5 years [ $\pm$ 9.11 standard deviation (SD)]. BMI varied from 16.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup> to 47.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, with an average BMI of 28.55 kg/m<sup>2</sup> ( $\pm$ 5.26 SD).

Among the participants, 63 patients (26%) reported a history of oral contraceptive use, and 56 patients (23.2%) reported being smokers (54 reported to be current smokers, and only 2 of them had a history of smoking). Among the 241 patients, 5 patients reported consuming alcohol more than twice a week (group 1), 9 of them less than twice a week (group 2), and 36 less than once a month (group 3). One hundred and ninety-one patients were non-drinkers (group 4). Because of the low number of patients in groups 1 and 2, with the recommendation of the statistician we worked with, patients were divided into two groups: non-drinkers (n=191, 79.3%, group 4) and drinkers (n=50, 20.7%, groups 1, 2 and 3). Vitamin D levels were recorded in only 105 of the 241 (43%) patients, and the values were approximately 4-110 ng/mL, in a wide range.

The clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table 1, and the duration of menopause was demonstrated in Figure 1.

The T-scores at the femoral neck were between -2.9 and 3.2 (mean, -1.060.96±). The BMDs at the femoral neck were between 0.617 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and 1.33 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (mean, 0.8390.115±). T scores at the total femur were between -3.3 and 3.2 (mean, -0.861.01±) and BMD at the total femur were between 0.586 kg/m<sup>2</sup> -1.355 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (mean, 0.8800.122±).

A statistically significant negative correlation was observed between age and both the femoral neck T-score and the BMD of the femoral neck (r=-0.2133, p<0.001 and r=-0.2568, p<0.001, respectively), as shown in Figure 2. Additionally, there was a weak but statistically significant negative correlation between age and both the total femur T-score and the BMD of the total femur (r=-0.1359, p=0.035 and r=-0.148, p=0.022, respectively), as indicated in Figure 3.

There was a statistically significant positive correlation observed between BMI and both the femoral neck T-score (r=0.2858, p<0.001) and the BMD of the femoral neck (r=0.2783, p<0.001), as shown in Figure 4. Furthermore, a statistically significant positive correlation was found between BMI and both the total femur T-score (r=0.4487, p<0.001) and the BMD of the total femur (r=0.4446, p<0.001), as presented in Figure 5.

No statistically significant differences were observed in the mean T-scores and BMD of the femoral neck and total femur when considering

Table 1. Clinical and demographic characteristics of the patients			
Female, (n)		241	
Age (years) (mean $\pm$ SD)		36-84 (61.59.11±)	
BMI kg/m <sup>2</sup> (mean $\pm$ SD)		16.8-47.4 (28.555.26±)	
Smoking cigarette n (%)		56 (23.7)	
Consumption of alcohol, n (%)		50 (20.7)	
$PMD kg/m^2 (mapp + SD)$	T-scores at the femoral neck	0.617-1.33 (0.8390.115±)	
BMD kg/m <sup>2</sup> (mean $\pm$ SD)	T-scores at the total femur	0.586-1.355 (0.8800.122±)	
Oral contraceptive use, n (%)		63 (26)	
Supportive medication, n (%)		156(64.7)	
SD: Standard deviation_RMD: Rone mineral density_RMI: Rody mass index			



Figure 1. Duration of menopause of the patients.



Figure 2. Correlation between age and BMD of femoral neck  $(\mathrm{kg}/\mathrm{m}^2).$ 

BMD: Bone mineral density.





BMD: Bone mineral density.



Figure 4. Correlation between BMI  $(kg/m^2)$  and BMD of the femoral neck  $(kg/m^2).$ 

BMI: Body mass index, BMD: Bone mineral density.



femur (kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

BMI: Body mass index, BMD: Bone mineral density

the use of oral contraceptives (p=0.051, p=0.052, p=0.079, p=0.080). There were no statistically significant differences in the mean T-scores and BMD of the femoral neck and total femur with smoking (p=0.390, p=0.577, p=0.714, p=0.834) or alcohol consumption (p=0.903, p=0.681, p=0.529, p=0.609).

#### DISCUSSION

Based on our findings, several conclusions can be drawn regarding the etiology of osteoporosis: 1) Age and osteoporosis: We observed a correlation between older age and a higher prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis. This suggests that as women age, they are at an increased risk of developing these conditions. 2) Obesity and osteoporosis: Our study supports the widely accepted idea that obesity has a beneficial effect on osteoporosis. Postmenopausal osteoporosis was found to be less common in women with obesity. This suggests that a higher BMI may offer some protection against the development of osteoporosis in post-menopausal women. 3) Alcohol intake, smoking, and oral contraceptives: Our analysis did not find any significant effects of oral contraceptive use, alcohol intake, or smoking on the development of postmenopausal osteoporosis. This implies that these factors may not be significant contributors to the risk of developing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women, at least in the context of our study.

Consistent with the findings of our study, previous studies have demonstrated a positive effect of higher BMI on BMD in most cases.<sup>2,14,15,21-23</sup> Notably, Zhang and Pu<sup>14</sup> identified a positive relationship between obesity and BMD, while underscoring the importance of maintaining a moderate BMI level (approximately 24.3 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) in adults over the age of 50 to achieve an optimal balance between BMI and BMD. Additionally, Ma et al.<sup>15</sup> identified a BMI saturation value (approximately 26 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) for femoral and spinal BMD in all participants aged 50 years and older. Collectively, these findings suggest that a high BMI can have a positive impact on bone density, especially in older adults. However, there may be an upper limit or saturation point beyond which the benefits of a higher BMI on bone density plateau. These insights are

valuable for understanding the complex relationship between body composition and bone health in aging populations.

The findings from the meta-analysis by Qiao et al.<sup>2</sup> are consistent with our study results, indicating that adults with obesity tend to exhibit higher BMD levels than individuals with healthy weight. Similarly, a study conducted by Mazocco and Chagas<sup>21</sup> reported that obese women had a lower prevalence of osteopenia and osteoporosis than those who were normal weight or overweight. This suggests the potential protective effect of obesity against bone-related conditions. Additionally, Saarelainen et al.'s<sup>22</sup> long-term study on postmenopausal women supports these observations. Their research indicated that obesity delayed the onset of osteopenia by approximately 5 and 9 years at the spine and femoral neck, respectively, in postmenopausal women. These findings emphasize the significant role of obesity in influencing the timeline of bone health changes, particularly in postmenopausal women.

Indeed, there is an ongoing debate and evolving research surrounding the relationship between increased fat mass (obesity), smoking, and alcohol consumption and the risk of osteoporotic fractures. Nicotine inhibits osteogenesis and angiogenesis. Smoking also has indirect effects on bone health through the loss of appetite, causing alteration of body weight, parathyroid hormone, and increased oxidative stress. Studies have also shown that smokers have a greater risk of hip fractures than non-smokers.<sup>24</sup> High alcohol intake was also shown to be associated with a significant increase in hip fracture risk, but no significant risk was reported at intakes of 2 units and less daily.<sup>10</sup> While some studies have suggested the potential protective effects of high body fat on bone health, recent findings have raised questions about these assumptions.<sup>16-18,25,26</sup> Song et al.<sup>25</sup> showed that BMI can have different effects on various parts of the skeletal system. For instance, a higher BMI was positively associated with lumbar and calcaneal BMD, but it had no significant effect on femoral neck and forearm BMD.<sup>25</sup> Compston et al.<sup>16</sup> indicated that obesity does not necessarily protect against fractures in postmenopausal women. In fact, it increases the risk of ankle and upper leg fractures.<sup>16</sup> Gnudi et al.<sup>26</sup> found that the relationship between BMI and fracture risk varied according to fracture site. For instance, increased BMI was associated with a higher risk of humerus fractures but lower risk of hip fractures. No significant relationship was observed between BMI and wrist or ankle fractures.<sup>26</sup> Although vertebral fractures are generally considered rare in individuals with obesity, some studies, like the one by Pirro et al.<sup>27</sup>, have suggested an increased risk, particularly in postmenopausal women. In summary, the impact of obesity on bone health is multifaceted, and the relationship between obesity and fracture risk is not uniform across all bone sites. Obesity does appear to increase the risk of falls, especially in individuals older than 60 years, which can contribute to fractures. Additionally, the fracture pattern varies, with obese individuals experiencing more fractures at certain sites (e.g., ankle, leg, humerus) and fewer at others (e.g., wrist, hip, pelvis). These findings emphasize the need for personalized healthcare and risk assessment when considering the effects of obesity on bone health.12,27-32

The controversial findings in the relationship between obesity and osteoporosis can be attributed to a complex interplay of factors. These factors include the multifactorial interaction between bone and adipose tissue, which involves both metabolic and mechanical effects. Additionally, ethnic and cultural differences, social and economic conditions, and environmental factors may all contribute to the varying associations between obesity and osteoporosis. The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends specific BMI thresholds for defining overweight and obesity, which can vary across populations. In Western populations, the WHO recommends using BMI ≥25 kg/ m<sup>2</sup> for the definition of overweight and BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for obesity.<sup>33</sup> However, for Asian populations, including Asians in North Cyprus, the WHO, in collaboration with the International Association for the Study of Obesity and the International Obesity Task Force, has proposed lower BMI cutoff values. These include 23.0-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for classifying individuals as overweight and  $\geq 25.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$  for identifying obesity.<sup>34</sup> Variations in the BMI cutoff values used to define overweight and obesity across different ethnic groups can indeed have implications for discussions regarding the relationship between obesity and osteoporosis. It is important to recognize that these differences may impact how researchers and healthcare professionals assess and interpret the association between obesity and bone health in diverse populations. However, it is worth noting that as of now, specific studies addressing the appropriate cutoff values for overweight and obesity in the Middle East, including North Cyprus. The absence of region-specific data highlights the need for further research to better understand how these classifications apply to populations in this geographical region and to assess their impact more accurately on health outcomes like osteoporosis.

#### Study Limitations

This study has several limitations that should be considered when interpreting the findings. The most significant limitation of this study is the relatively small sample size, which may not be fully representative of the entire population of North Cyprus. As a result, the generalizability of the study's results to the broader population may be limited. Another important limitation of this study was its focus on the BMD values of the femur, with BMD values of the lumbar vertebrae not included in the analysis. Because BMD measurements at different skeletal sites can provide valuable insights into bone health, the omission of lumbar vertebral data represents a limitation. Additionally, the exclusion of men and premenopausal women, as well as its restriction to BMD values of the femur alone, may limit the breadth of the conclusions. The wide sample size is another limitation for the study to draw conclusions. Because of the low number of patients with records of vitamin D values (105 of 241 patients, 43%) comparing the levels of vitamin D, their effect on BMD would not represent the entire study group and was therefore not studied.

In summary, although this study offers valuable insights, it is essential to acknowledge these limitations and consider them when interpreting the results. Future research endeavors with larger and more diverse participant groups, as well as comprehensive BMD measurements, will contribute to a more thorough understanding of the mechanism of osteoporosis. Including a more diverse participant group in terms of sex, menopausal status, and vitamin D values and considering BMD values at both lumbar vertebrae and femur sites would provide a more comprehensive understanding of the relationship between different etiologic factors and osteoporosis.

#### CONCLUSION

This study is an important milestone as the first research of its kind conducted in postmenopausal North Cypriot women. The study findings revealed a notable trend: as age increased, the prevalence of osteoporosis

also increased. In addition, the study observed that obese women had a lower prevalence of osteoporosis. These findings contribute to our understanding of the association between BMI and osteoporosis in this specific population and provide valuable insights into bone health in postmenopausal women in North Cyprus. These conclusions highlight the complex interplay between various factors, including age and BMI, in the development of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Further research and larger studies may provide deeper insights into these relationships.

#### MAIN POINTS

- Postmenopausal osteoporosis is less common in obese North Cypriot women than in normal-weighted ones.
- Region-specific studies with larger study groups are needed to understand the complex relationship between obesity and osteoporosis.
- Alcohol consumption, smoking, and supportive medication appear to have no effect on postmenopausal osteoporosis development.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the Near East University Institutional Research Committee, and IRB approval (approval number: 2020/85-1182, date: 26.11.2020) was obtained.

**Informed Consent:** Patients provided informed consent regarding the publication of their data.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: Y.K., M.T., Concept: Y.K., M.T., Design: Y.K., M.T., Data Collection and/or Processing: Y.K., M.T., Analysis and/or Interpretation: Y.K., M.T., Literature Search: Y.K., M.T., Writing: Y.K., M.T.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- Lungdahl BL. Overview of treatment approaches to osteoporosis. Br J Pharmacol. 2021; 178: 1891-906.
- 2. Qiao D, Li Y, Liu X, Zhang X, Qian X, Zhang H, et al. Association of obesity with bone mineral density and osteoporosis in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Public Health. 2020; 180: 22-8.
- Burden AM, Tanaka Y, Xu L, Ha YC, McCloskey E, Cummings SR, et al. Osteoporosis case ascertainment strategies in European and Asian Countries: a comparative review. Osteoporosis Int. 2021; 32: 817-29.
- Cosman F, de Beur SJ, LeBoff MS, Lewiecki EM, Tanner B, Randall S, et al. Clinician's Guide to Prevention and Treatment of Osteoporosis. Osteoporosis Int. 2014; 25: 2359-81.
- Hannan MT, Felson DT, Dawson-Hughes B, Tucker KL, Cupples LA, Wilson PW, et al. Risk Factors for Longitudinal Bone Loss in Elderly Men and Women: The Framingham Osteoporosis Study. J Bone Miner Res. 2000; 15(4): 710-20.
- 6. Agarwal S, Uppin RB. Effect of obesity on osteoporosis: A DEXA scan-based report in urban population of Belagavi. J Sci Soc. 2016; 43: 67-9.

- Fassio A, Idolazzi L, Rossini M, Gatti D, Adami G, Giollo A, et al. The obesity paradox and osteoporosis. Eat Weight Disord. 2018; 23(3): 293-302.
- Wong PK, Christie JJ, Wark JD. The effects of smoking on bone health. Clin Sci (Lond). 2007; 113(5): 233-41.
- 9. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, McCloskey EV. Guidance for the adjustment of FRAX according to the dose of glucocorticoids. Osteoporos Int. 2011; 22: 809-16.
- 10. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Johnell O, Oden A, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. Alcohol intake as a risk factor for fracture. Osteoporos Int. 2005; 16(7): 737-42.
- 11. Sarkis KS, Salvador MB, Pinheiro MM, Silva RG, Zerbini CA, Martini LA. Association between osteoporosis and rheumatoid arthritis in women: a cross-sectional study. Sao Paulo Med J. 2009; 127(4): 216-22.
- Gkastaris K, Goulis DG, Potoupnis M, Anastasilakis AD, Kapetanos G. Obesity, osteoporosis and bone metabolism. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact. 2020; 20(3): 372-81.
- Lee JH, Kim JH, Hong AR, Kim SW, Shin CS. Optimal body mass index for minimizing the risk for osteoporosis and type 2 diabetes. Korean J Intern Med. 2020; 35(6): 1432-42.
- Zhang Y, Pu J. The Saturation Effect of Obesity on Bone Mineral Density for Older People: The NHANES 2017-2020. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2022; 13: 883862.
- Ma M, Feng Z, Liu X, Jia G, Geng B, Xia Y. The Saturation Effect of Body Mass Index on Bone Mineral Density for People Over 50 Years Old: A Cross-Sectional Study of the US Population. Front Nutr. 2021; 8: 763677.
- Compston JE, Watts NB, Chapurlat R, Cooper C, Boonen S, Greenspan S, et al. Obesity is not protective against fracture in postmenopausal women: GLOW. Am J Med. 2011; 124(11): 1043-50.
- Zhao LJ, Liu YJ, Liu PY, Hamilton J, Recker RR, et al. Relationship of obesity with osteoporosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2007; 92(5): 1640-6.
- Hsu YH, Venners SA, Terwedow HA, Feng Y, Niu T, Li Z, et al. Relation of body composition, fat mass, and serum lipids to osteoporotic fractures and bone mineral density in Chinese men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006; 83: 146-54.
- Al-Bashaireh AM, Haddad LG, Weaver M, Chengguo X, Kelly DL, Yoon S. The Effect of Tobacco Smoking on Bone Mass: An Overview of Pathophysiologic Mechanisms. J Osteoporos. 2018; 2018: 1206235.
- 20. Yoon V, Maalouf NM, Sakhaee K. The effects of smoking on bone metabolism. Osteoporos Int. 2012; 23(8): 2081-92.
- Mazocco L, Chagas P. Association between body mass index and osteoporosis in women from northwestern Rio Grande do Sul. Rev Bras Reumatol Engl Ed. 2017; 57(4): 299-305.

- Saarelainen J, Kiviniemi V, Kröger H, Tuppurainen M, Niskanen L, Jurvelin J, et al. Body mass index and bone loss among postmenopausal women: the 10-year follow-up of the OSTPRE cohort. J Bone Miner Metab. 2012; 30: 208-16.
- Martini LA, Moura EC, Santos LC, Malta DC, Pinheiro Mde M. Prevalence of self-reported diagnosis of osteoporosis in Brazil, 2006. Rev Saude Publica. 2009; 43: 107-16.
- 24. Kanis JA, Johnell O, Oden A, Johansson H, De Laet C, Eisman JA, et al. Smoking and fracture risk: a meta-analysis. Osteoporos Int. 2005; 6: 155-62.
- Song J, Zhang R, Lv L, Liang J, Wang W, Liu R, et al. The Relationship Between Body Mass Index and Bone Mineral Density: A Mendelian Randomization Study. Calcif Tissue Int. 2020; 107(5): 440-5.
- 26. Gnudi S, Sitta E, Lisi L. Relationshipof body mass index with main limb fragility fractures in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Metab. 2009; 27: 479-84.
- Pirro M, Fabbriciani G, Leli C, Callarelli L, Manfredelli MR, Fioroni C, et al. High weight or body mass index increase the risk of vertebral fractures in postmenopausal osteoporotic women. J Bone Miner Metab. 2010; 28: 88-93.
- 28. King CM, Hamilton GA, Cobb M, Carpenter D, Ford LA. Association between ankle fractures and obesity. J Foot Ankle Surg. 2012; 51: 543-7.
- Beck TJ, Petit MA, Wu G, LeBoff MS, Cauley JA, Chen Z. Does obesity really make the femur stronger? BMD, geometry, and fracture incidence in the women's health initiative-observational study. J Bone Miner Res. 2009; 24: 1369-79.
- Prieto-Alhambra D, Premaor MO, Fina Avilés F, Hermosilla E, Martinez-Laguna D, Carbonell-Abella C, et al. The association between fracture and obesity is site-dependent: a population-based study in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res. 2012; 27(2): 294-300.
- Premaor MO, Ensrud K, Lui L, Parker RA, Cauley J, Hillier TA, et al. Risk factors for nonvertebral fracture in obese older women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2011; 96: 2414-21.
- 32. Caffarelli C, Alessi C, Nuti R, Gonnelli S. Divergent effects of obesity on fragility fractures. Clin Interv Aging. 2014; 9: 1629-36.
- World Health Organization. Physical Status: the Use and Interpretation of Anthropometry: Report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization, 1995.
- World Health Organization, International Association for the Study of Obesity, International Obesity Task Force. The Asia-Pacific perspective: redefining obesity and its treatment. Geneva (CH): World Health Organization, 2017.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2024-22 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):346-354



# **Different Perspectives for Determining the Optimal** Treatment Modality for Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease: Application of the Fuzzy Technique for Ordering Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution Method

Alvin F. Terry<sup>1</sup>, 
İlker Etikan<sup>1</sup>, 
Nuriye Sancar<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biostatistics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Mathematics, Near East University Faculty of Medicine, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) has spread worldwide over time, impacting most populations in most nations. Therefore, determining the most effective treatment method for GERD is crucial because the most appropriate treatment option must be selected to reduce the effects of GERD and improve the quality of life of patients. This study aimed to introduce a different perspective for determining the optimal treatment modality for GERD.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: To determine the optimal treatment modality in the treatment of GERD, this study has applied the fuzzy technique for ordering preference by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS) method to evaluate antacids, histamine blockers, proton pump inhibitors (PPIs), and prokinetics, which are treatment options for GERD against 15 criteria: cost, availability, dose, frequency, allergy, path, safety, efficacy, age, other health condition, GERD stage, treatment duration, success rate, drug-drug interaction, and drug-food interaction.

**RESULTS:** The closeness coefficients (Ci) of each treatment alternative were used to determine their rankings. The treatment option with the highest closeness coefficient was considered the best. The ranking shows that PPIs are the best treatment for GERD because they had the highest Ci value of 0.642. The treatment option with the lowest Ci value was antacids, which had a Ci value of 0.33.

CONCLUSION: Implementing the Fuzzy TOPSIS method can guide decision-makers in more systematically evaluating complex decisions and choosing the most appropriate treatment modality. Consequently, it is thought that this study will help clinicians make more informed and scientifically based decisions regarding the treatment of GERD.

Keywords: Fuzzy TOPSIS, gastroesophageal reflux disease, proton pump inhibitors, antacids, treatment

# INTRODUCTION

The backward movement of acid from the stomach to the esophagus, which is a tube that links the mouth to the stomach, causes a condition known as gastroesophageal reflux disease (GERD) or chronic acid reflux. The lower esophageal sphincter (LESP) is a valve at the end of the esophagus that, when it is healthy and operating well, should shut when food reaches the stomach. If it is not healthy or is not functioning properly, the valve may not close properly. Regurgitation of stomach acid may be a problem for certain people because the valve does not close adequately when it should. When this occurs, the acid backwash travels back up the esophagus, down the throat, and into the mouth, where it leaves a sour taste.1

To cite this article: Terry AF, Etikan İ, Sancar N. Different Perspectives for Determining the Optimal Treatment Modality for Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease: Application of the Fuzzy Technique for Ordering Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution Method. Cyprus | Med Sci. 2024;9(5):346-354

ORCID IDs of the authors: A.F.T. 0009-0005-1324-7111; İ.E. 0000-0001-9171-8269; N.S. 0000-0002-4276-4653.



Address for Correspondence: Nurive Sancar E-mail: nurive.sancar@neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4276-4653

Received: 30.03.2024 Accepted: 20.07.2024

OPEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. As of 2019, 783,95 million individuals all over the world were projected to have suffered from GERD. A total of 77.53% more instances were reported between 1990 and 2019, 74.79% more cases occurred, and 77.19% more years of life were lost as a result of impairment. The age-standardized global incidence rate (ASIR) and the global young mortality rate (ASYR) both increased from 0.05 to 0.06 during the study period. Both rates were at a previous level of 0.06. In 2019, Tropical Latin America dominated the rankings for all three age-standardized illness burden metrics, namely ASPR, ASIR, and ASYR. However, East Asia received the lowest score in the ASPR. In every annual category of GERD prevalence and incidence, as well as in every annual category of young-onset GERD prevalence and incidence, females continuously outnumbered males during the entire period of 1990-2019. There was a correlation between having a higher sociodemographic index and having lower GERD-related Acute Symptom Severity Ratings (ASPR, ASIR, and ASYR) in the year 2019.2

Histological alterations in the esophageal mucosa may contribute to the development of a variety of potentially diagnosable illnesses, including Barrett's esophagus, reflux esophagitis, and non-erosive reflux disease.<sup>3</sup>

Symptoms of GERD include asthma, a painful throat, persistent coughing, a constant need to clear one's throat, and unexplained chest discomfort.<sup>2</sup> The frequent and bothersome symptoms of GERD and the complications of this disease, such as inflammation of the esophagus, stricture of the esophagus, ulceration of the esophagus, perforation of the esophagus, metaplasia, and esophageal cancer, have a huge negative impact on the quality of life of patients who suffer from GERD in regards to their overall health.<sup>4</sup>

The very high frequency of GERD and the chronic nature of the condition imply that treatment is very expensive, which is a burden for patients, the people who care for them, and the healthcare system as a whole.<sup>5</sup>Clinical management of GERD affects the lives of many and uses up a great deal of healthcare and social services, thereby making them poorer as their resources go toward the treatment of the disease.<sup>3</sup>

Since GERD has far-reaching negative consequences on patients' quality of life, it is crucial to assess current treatments to create more effective options, which will avoid the waste of resources associated with experimenting with different treatment options. Selection of the optimal treatment modality among different treatment methods requires multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) method. A thorough decision-making process is highly challenging, particularly when dealing with constantly changing information and circumstances. Making decisions while considering several criteria and using multiple decision-makers (DMs) is known as MCDM. The technique for ordering preference by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS) is one of the most popular techniques, which was proposed by Hwang and Yoon.<sup>6</sup> It has been widely embraced in several use cases because of its ease of use, flexibility, computing efficiency, and broad mathematical notion. Fuzzy TOPSIS, which is the conventional TOPSIS method's extension to Fuzzy logic, has also been effectively applied in several fields.7-11

This study aimed to propose a Fuzzy TOPSIS-based method for selecting the optimal treatment modality among different treatment options for GERD. In the existing literature, the optimal treatment method for GERD has not yet been considered an MCDM problem from this perspective. Thus, determining the optimal treatment modality for GERD will significantly contribute to the literature.

#### Alternatives to Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease Treatment

Several modalities are available for GERD treatment and these modalities include the following: medications such as antacids, histamine blockers, proton pump inhibitors (PPI), and prokinetic medicines.<sup>12</sup>

#### Antacids

Given that they have been on the market for consumers to buy for a sizeable length of time, antacids are among the pharmaceutical families that have the largest market share. The widespread use of antacids in the 19<sup>th</sup> century probably helped those who suffered from stomach troubles find some relief. Antacids are a kind of drug that is used to alleviate hyperacidity by mixing magnesium, calcium, or aluminum salts<sup>13</sup> that elevate the alkalinity of the stomach, neutralize acidity, limit the synthesis of pepsin, and induce the release of bicarbonate and prostaglandin<sup>14</sup> that help reduce the symptoms of GERD. Antacids perform their job by neutralizing acid produced in the stomach, which prevents acid from moving into the duodenum. Pylorospasm, pain, acid-chyme digestion, and corrosion are only a few of the many ailments that an antacid can help. Although the mechanism of action of all antacids includes the binding of hydrogen ions to the stomach, the effectiveness of an antacid may depend on the specific salts used in its manufacturing.

#### **Histamine Blockers**

The two main types of anti-ulcer drugs are H2 receptor blockers and H2 receptor antagonists (H2RAs). Both terms refer to the same group of medications.<sup>15</sup> H2RAs prevent the natural ligand histamine from binding to and activating the histamine H2 receptors present in the gastric parietal cells; thus, they are responsible for the reduction in acid production in the stomach. As a result, H2 blockers play the role of an adversary in a context involving competition. In response to food, the stomach enterochromaffin-like cells generate histamine, which binds to histamine H2 receptors in parietal cells and stimulates an increase in acid production. The activation of the enzyme adenylate cyclase results in an increase in the amount of cellular cAMP, which in turn drives the formation of further stomach acid. An enzyme known as protein kinase A (PKA) is stimulated by cAMP. PKA phosphorylates H+/K+ ATPase transporters, which helps them move to the plasma membrane where they can perform their work. There is a greater potential for enhanced acid secretion from parietal cells as a result of a higher concentration of H+/K+ ATPase transporters in the plasma membranes of these cells. Blocking histamine receptors is how H2RAs work to prevent histamine from stimulating acid generation by parietal cells. Therefore, the amount of acid produced in the stomach as a reaction to histamine is decreased.<sup>16</sup> It only takes 60 min for H2RAs to start functioning in the digestive system, and they continue doing so for 4-10 h, making them ideal for the ad hoc treatment of symptoms that only occur occasionally. The anti-acidity effects of H2RAs are reliable and consistent across the board.17

#### **Proton Pump Inhibitors**

PPIs, also known as proton-pump inhibitors, are a type of medication that is often prescribed to patients with acid-related conditions. In the production of PPIs, the benzimidazole molecule serves as the jumpingoff point.<sup>18</sup> PIs are beneficial because they reduce the amount of acid produced in the stomach. After being absorbed by the body in the top portion of the small intestine, these medications have an effect on parietal cells in the stomach. In parietal cells, PPIs inhibit the activity of the proton-pumping enzyme H+/K+ ATPase. The production of stomach acid is completed with the help of this enzyme, which is the final stage of the process. PPIs are intriguing substances because they are inactive prodrugs. The acidic secretory canaliculi of parietal cells need to cleave PPI to have an impact. They become active as a result of this operation. In the liver, cytochrome P450 enzymes are responsible for PPI breakdown. Although various P450 enzymes are required for the breakdown of different PPIs, CYP2C19 is by far the most important of these enzymes. PPIs, are among the most efficient medications for lowering the production rate of stomach acid.<sup>19,20</sup>

#### **Prokinetic Agents**

Pressure in the LESP, is raised by Prokinetics. They also accelerate the rate at which the stomach empties and promote esophageal peristalsis. Some examples are agonists of the GABA-B receptor, dopamine receptor, and agonists for the 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT) receptor. The stimulation of the release of acetylcholine from parasympathetic nerve roots is the mechanism by which 5-HT receptor agonists encourage bowel movement and emptying of the stomach.<sup>21,22</sup>

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was approved by the Near East University Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2023/117-1779, date: 26.10.2023).

This research uses the Fuzzy TOPSIS, which is a well-known method for resolving MCDM issues. Through literature review and consultation with experienced doctors and pharmacists, the study identified 15 criteria that are essential for administering treatments to evaluate the 4 treatment alternatives for GERD, namely, acidic agents, histamine blockers, PPIs, and prokinetic agents. According to expert opinions, cost, availability, dose, frequency, allergy, path, safety, efficacy, age, other health conditions, GERD stage, treatment duration, success rate, drugdrug interaction, and drug-food interaction have been determined as criteria, as shown in Table 1. The treatment alternatives were evaluated against those 15 criteria by three experts: One gastroenterologist and two final-year PhD students in the pharmacy department. Each expert independently evaluates and ranks the criteria in their unique way because they are knowledgeable about the subject matter and consider the relative significance of each alternative and the criteria. For each criterion, the weights allocated by each expert were combined to create a single set. A typical approach in the Fuzzy TOPSIS method is to find the average of the weights assigned by experts.

#### **TOPSIS Idea**

The TOPSIS method simplifies the identification of solutions that match criteria by assuming that the utility of each criterion tends to increase or decrease monotonically. Possible suboptimal solutions are proposed, and their Euclidean distance from the best solution is calculated. We can rank alternatives by comparing their relative distances and see how they stack up against one another. Like the ELECTRE technique, In the first step of the TOPSIS approach, the dimensions of the criteria are transformed into non-dimensional criteria.<sup>23</sup> By decreasing the time required to reach both positive and negative optimal solutions, TOPSIS may help users choose the best course of action (NIS). This method ranks criteria and attains peak performance in MCDM. The Fuzzy TOPSIS assessment technique was used to evaluate all qualities by area.<sup>24</sup>

#### **Fuzzy Theory**

In mathematics, a fuzzy set can be used as a helpful tool for dealing with ambiguous or erroneous information. The classic set theory approach can be expanded by considering an element's partial membership in a set. In contrast to the binary nature of classical set theory, which holds that an item is either a part of a set or not, fuzzy set theory holds that the degree of membership in a set may vary from 0 to 1, with 0 being the least likely and 1 being the most likely. An element's membership level in a set can have values ranging from 0 (totally not a member) to 1 (totally a member). The membership function assigns a membership degree to an element based on the characteristics of the element.<sup>25</sup>

Table 1. Treatment alternatives and criteria for GERD treatment					
Decision makers	Treatment alternatives	Symbol	Criteria		
		C1	Cost		
		C2	Availability		
		G	Dose		
		C4	Frequency		
		C5	Allergy		
		C6	Path		
Decision-maker 1	Antacids	C7	Safety		
Decision-maker 2	Histamine blockers Proton pump inhibitors Prokinetic agents	С8	Efficacy		
Decision-maker 5		С9	Age		
		C10	Other health conditions		
		C11	GERD stage		
		C12	Treatment duration		
		C13	Success rate		
		C14	Drug-drug interaction		
		C15	Drug-food interaction		

GERD: Gastroesophageal reflux disease.

Fuzzy sets are useful in many areas, such as artificial intelligence, control systems, pattern recognition, and decision-making. This method works effectively with complex and unpredictable systems where it is difficult to obtain reliable data and draw firm conclusions.<sup>26</sup>

#### **Fuzzy TOPSIS**

Popular MCDM approaches that use fuzzy set theory to cope with uncertainty and imprecision include the Fuzzy TOPSIS.<sup>25</sup> In 1981, Hwang and Yoon<sup>6</sup> devised a method for selecting the best choice from a group of possibilities. The method involves calculating the distance between each option and the ideal and anti-ideal solutions to determine which option is the best.<sup>27</sup> The characteristics of the most beneficial options are represented by the ideal solution, while the characteristics that are least desired are represented by the anti-ideal solution.<sup>28</sup>

The proposed method goes beyond the traditional TOPSIS approach for managing ambiguities and imprecise data by introducing Fuzzy logic into the decision-making process. Fuzzy logic is a type of artificial intelligence. When ranking alternative solutions, the traditional TOPSIS method considers both the distance from the negative ideal solution and the total number of possibilities. In terms of the positive ideal solution, each criterion is represented by its highest possible potential value. On the other hand, when identifying the negative ideal solution, each criterion is represented by its lowest possible potential value. The use of fuzzy sets in Fuzzy TOPSIS allows for the consideration of uncertainty and ambiguity in both the decision criteria and probable solutions.<sup>6</sup> By comparing how close a solution is to an ideal solution to how far away it is from an ideal negative solution, the classic TOPSIS method assigns a rating to each possible solution. Each criterion value is maximized in the positive ideal solution and minimized in the negative ideal solution. The perfect solution would maximize all of the criterion values. The use of fuzzy sets in Fuzzy TOPSIS allows for the consideration of uncertainty and ambiguity in both the decision criteria and probable solutions.<sup>29</sup> The following steps are applicable to the Fuzzy TOPSIS:

**Step 1: Identify various alternatives and criteria:** As the starting point for applying the Fuzzy TOPSIS techniques, you must identify the various alternatives and criteria to be used. In this study, 4 alternative treatments for GERD were identified. The treatment alternatives were evaluated against 15 criteria: cost, availability, dose, frequency, allergy, path, safety, efficacy, age, other health conditions, GERD stage, treatment duration, success rate, drug-drug interaction, and drug-food interaction.

**Step 2: Establish/form the decision matrix:** In the first step, a directrelation fuzzy matrix is created. In this study, a pairwise comparison of the 3 DMs was conducted. The direct connection matrix is generated by taking the arithmetic mean of the 3 experts' opinions. Before turning into fuzzy integers, the weights were expressed using linguistic variables as part of the Fuzzy TOPSIS technique. After this, the weights are then converted. The preferences of those in charge of making decisions might be reflected in the weights, which could be expressed in the form of linguistic variables. Table 2 shows the Fuzzy scale used in this study.

**Step 3: Normalize the decision matrix:** Once the criteria and weights were established, the data for each treatment choice were transformed to fit a comparable scale. This goal was achieved using either a linear or non-linear transform. As demonstrated in the following connection, it is possible to construct a normalized choice matrix by making use of both positive and negative ideal solutions:

$$\tilde{r}_{ij} = \left(\frac{a_{ij}}{c_j^*}, \frac{b_{ij}}{c_j^*}, \frac{c_{ij}}{c_j^*}\right) ; \quad c_j^* = \max_i c_{ij} ; Positive ideal solution \tag{1}$$

$$\tilde{r}_{ij} = \left(\frac{a_j^-}{c_{ij}}, \frac{a_j^-}{b_{ij}}, \frac{a_j^-}{a_{ij}}\right); \quad a_j^- = \min_i a_{ij}; \text{ Negative ideal solution}$$
(2)

**Step 4: Calculate weighted normalized decision matrix:** The weighted normalized decision matrix can be obtained by multiplying the exact weight value for each parameter in the normalized fuzzy decision matrix. The given weights are the weighted normalized matrix. Here, are the steps used for its computation:

$$\tilde{v}_{ij} = \tilde{r}_{ij}.\,\tilde{w}_{ij} \tag{3}$$

where  $\widetilde{w}_{ii}$  represents the weight of criterion  $c_i$ .

Step 5: Compute the positive and negative ideal solutions (FPIS) and Negative Ideal Solution (FNIS): The FPIS and FNIS of the alternatives are respectively described as follows:

$$A^* = \{\tilde{v}_1^*, \tilde{v}_2^*, \dots, \tilde{v}_n^*\} = \left\{ \left( \max_j v_{ij} \, | \, i \in L \right), \left( \min_j v_{ij} \, | \, i \in K \right) \right\}$$
(4)

$$A^{-} = \{\tilde{v}_{1}^{-}, \tilde{v}_{2}^{-}, \dots, \tilde{v}_{n}^{-}\} = \left\{ \left( \min_{j} v_{ij} \mid i \in L \right), \left( \max_{j} v_{ij} \mid i \in K \right) \right\}$$
(5)

Where  $\tilde{v}_i^*$  is the maximum value of i and  $\tilde{v}_1^-$  is the minimum value of i for all alternatives. The positive and negative ideal solutions are represented by *L* and *K*, respectively.

**Step 6: Calculate the separation measures:** The separation between each alternative and FPIS, and the separation between each alternative and FNIS are respectively obtained as follows:

$$S_{i}^{*} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} d(\tilde{v}_{ij}, \tilde{v}_{i}^{*}) \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
(6)

$$S_{i}^{-} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} d(\tilde{v}_{ij}, \tilde{v}_{j}^{-}) \qquad i=1, 2, ..., m$$
<sup>(7)</sup>

Here, d is the distance between two fuzzy numbers obtained as follows when two triangular fuzzy numbers  $(a_1, b_1, c_1)$  and  $(a_2, b_2, c_2)$ :

$$d_{\nu}(\widetilde{M}_{1},\widetilde{M}_{2}) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}[(a_{1} - a_{2})^{2} + (b_{1} - b_{2})^{2} + (c_{1} - c_{2})^{2}]}$$
(8)

where  $d(\tilde{v}_{ij}, \tilde{v}_i^*)$  and  $d(\tilde{v}_{ij}, \tilde{v}_i^-)$  represent crisp numbers.

Step 7: Compute the closeness coefficient ( $C_i$ ) and rank the alternatives: The closeness coefficient ( $C_i$ ) of each alternative is obtained by the following formula:

$$C_{i} = \frac{S_{i}^{-}}{S_{i}^{+} + S_{i}^{-}} \tag{9}$$

Table 2. Fuzzy scale					
Code	Linguistic terms	L	М	U	
1	Very low	1	1	3	
2	Low	1	3	5	
3	Medium	3	5	7	
4	High	5	7	9	
5	Very high	7	9	9	

Table 3. Decision	matrix														
	Cost	Availability	Dose	Frequency	Allergy	Path	Safety	Efficacy	Age	Other health conditions	GERD stage	Treatment duration	Success rate	Drug-drug interaction	Drug-food interaction
	(1,000,	(5,667,	(4,333,	(5,000,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(4,333,	(2,333,	(2,333,	(1,667,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(4,333,	(3,667,
Antacids	1,000,	7,667,	6,333,	7,000,	1,667,	1,667,	6,333,	4,333,	3,667,	3,667,	1,000,	1,667,	2,333,	6,333,	5,667,
	3,000)	9,000)	8,333)	8,333)	3,667)	3,667)	8,333)	6,333)	5,667)	5,667)	3,000)	3,667)	4,333)	8,333)	7,667)
	(1,000,	(4,333,	(4,333,	(1,667,	(1,000,	(2,333,	(3,667,	(2,333,	(2,333,	(3,667,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(1,667,	(4,333,	(5,000,
Histamine blockers	3,000,	6,333,	6,333,	3,667,	2,333,	4,333,	5,667,	4,333,	4,333,	5,667,	2,333,	1,000,	3,667,	6,333,	7,000,
	5,000)	8,333)	7,667)	5,667)	4,333)	6,333)	7,667)	6,333)	6,333)	7,667)	4,333)	3,000)	5,667)	8,333)	8,333)
	(2.333.	(5,667,	(1,667,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(6,333,	(4,333,	(1,667,	(3,667,	(4,333,	(1,667,	(6,333,	(5,667,	(5,667,
Proton pump inhihitors	4,333,	7,667,	3,667,	3,000,	1,667,	3,000,	8,333,	6,333,	3,667,	5,667,	6,333,	3,667,	8,333,	7,667,	7,667,
61010	6,333)	9,000)	5,667)	5,000)	3,667)	5,000)	(000'6	8,333)	5,667)	7,667)	8,333)	5,667)	9,000)	9,000)	9,000)
	(5,000,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(4,333,	(2,333,	(1,667,	(2,333,	(5,667,	(5,667,	(1,000,	(1,000,	(3,000,	(2,333,	(5,000,
Prokinetic agents	7,000,	3,000,	1,667,	1,667,	6,333,	4,333,	3,667,	4,333,	7,667,	7,667,	3,000,	3,000,	5,000,	4,333,	7,000,
	9,000)	5,000)	3,667)	3,667)	8,333)	6,333)	5,667)	6,333)	8,333)	9,000)	5,000)	5,000)	7,000)	6,333)	9,000)
rilemvolu holdet	d acticio	vintere e													
	כבת תברואת														
	Cost	Availability	Dose	Frequenc)	y Allergy	y Path	Safety	Efficacy	Age	Other health conditions	GERD stage	Treatment duration	Success rate	Drug-drug interaction	Drug-food interaction
	(0.111,	(0.630,	(0.520,	(0.600,	(0.120,	(0.158,	, (0.481,	(0.280,	(0.280,	(0.185,	(0.120,	(0.176,	(0.111,	(0.481,	(0.407,
Antacids	0.111,	0.852,	0.760,	0.840,	0.200,	0.263,	0.704,	0.520,	0.440,	0.407,	0.120,	0.294,	0.259,	0.704,	0.630,
	0.333)	1,000)	1,000)	1,000)	0.440)	0.579)	0.926)	0.760)	0.680)	0.630)	0.360)	0.647)	0.481)	0.926)	0.852)
	(0.111,	(0.481,	(0.520,	(0.200,	(0.120,	(0.368,	, (0.407,	(0.280,	(0.280,	(0.407,	(0.120,	(0.176,	(0.185,	(0.481,	(0.556,
Histamine blockers	0.333,	0.704,	0.760,	0.440,	0.280,	0.684,	0.630,	0.520,	0.520,	0.630,	0.280,	0.176,	0.407,	0.704,	0.778,
	0.556)	0.926)	0.920)	0.680)	0.520)	1,000)	0.852)	0.760)	0.760)	0.852)	0.520)	0.529)	0.630)	0.926)	0.926)
	(0.259,	(0.630,	(0.200,	(0.120,	(0.120,	(0.158,	, (0.704,	(0.520,	(0.200,	(0.407,	(0.520,	(0.294,	(0.704,	(0.630,	(0.630,
Proton pump inhibitors	0.481,	0.852,	0.440,	0.360,	0.200,	0.474,	0.926,	0.760,	0.440,	0.630,	0.760,	0.647,	0.926,	0.852,	0.852,
2	0.704)	1,000)	0.680)	0.600)	0.440)	0.790)	1,000)	1,000)	0.680)	0.852)	1,000)	1,000)	1,000)	1,000)	1,000)
	(0.556,	(0.111,	(0.120,	(0.120,	(0.520,	(0.368,	, (0.185,	(0.280,	(0.680,	(0.630,	(0.120,	(0.176,	(0.333,	(0.259,	(0.556,
Prokinetic agents	0.778,	0.333,	0.200,	0.200,	0.760,	0.684,	0.407,	0.520,	0.920,	0.852,	0.360,	0.529,	0.556,	0.481,	0.778,
	1,000)	0.556)	0.440)	0.440)	1,000)	1,000)	0.630)	0.760)	1,000)	1,000)	0.600)	0.882)	0.778)	0.704)	1,000)
GERD: Gastroesophag	geal reflux d	isease.													

Table 5. Weighted	normaliz	ed decision ma	ntrix												
	Cost	Availability	Dose	Frequency	Allergy	Path	Safety	Efficacy	Age	Other health conditions	GERD stage	Treatment duration	Success rate	Drug-drug interaction	Drug- food interaction
	(0.007,	(0.042,	(0.035,	(0.040,	(0.008,	(0.011,	(0.032,	(0.019,	(0.019,	(0.012,	(0.008,	(0.012,	(0.007,	(0.032,	(0.027,
<b>Nntacids</b>	0.007,	0.057,	0.051,	0.056,	0.013,	0.018,	0.047,	0.035,	0.029,	0.027,	0.008,	0.020,	0.017,	0.047,	0.042,
	0.022)	0.067)	0.067)	0.067)	0.029)	0.039)	0.062)	0.051)	0.046)	0.042)	0.024)	0.043)	0.032)	0.062)	0.057)
	(0.007,	(0.032,	(0.035,	(0.013,	(0.008,	(0.025,	(0.027,	(0.019,	(0.019,	(0.027,	(0.008,	(0.012,	(0.012,	(0.032,	(0.037,
Histamine Mockers	0.022,	0.047,	0.051,	0.029,	0.019,	0.046,	0.042,	0.035,	0.035,	0.042,	0.019,	0.012,	0.027,	0.047,	0.052,
	0.037)	0.062)	0.062)	0.046)	0.035)	0.067)	0.057)	0.051)	0.051)	0.057)	0.035)	0.035)	0.042)	0.062)	0.062)
	(0.017,	(0.042,	(0.013,	(0.008,	(0.008,	(0.011,	(0.047,	(0.035,	(0.013,	(0.027,	(0.035,	(0.020,	(0.047,	(0.042,	(0.042,
roton pump nhihitors	0.032,	0.057,	0.029,	0.024,	0.013,	0.032,	0.062,	0.051,	0.029,	0.042,	0.051,	0.043,	0.062,	0.057,	0.057,
	0.047)	0.067)	0.046)	0.040)	0.029)	0.053)	0.067)	0.067)	0.046)	0.057)	0.067)	0.067)	0.067)	0.067)	0.067)
	(0.037,	(0.007,	(0.008,	(0.008,	(0.035,	(0.025,	(0.012,	(0.019,	(0.046,	(0.042,	(0.008,	(0.012,	(0.022,	(0.017,	(0.037,
<sup>o</sup> rokinetic agents	0.052,	0.022,	0.013,	0.013,	0.051,	0.046,	0.027,	0.035,	0.062,	0.057,	0.024,	0.035,	0.037,	0.032,	0.052,
	0.067)	0.037)	0.029)	0.029)	0.067)	0.067)	0.042)	0.051)	0.067)	0.067)	0.040)	0.059)	0.052)	0.047)	0.067)
5ERD: Gastroesophag	geal reflux di	isease.													

Cyprus J Med Sci 2024;9(5):346-354

The optimal choice was closest to the FPIS and most distant from the FNIS. The closeness coefficients for each treatment alternative were used to determine their rankings. The treatment option with the greatest closeness coefficient was considered the best.

#### RESULTS

By applying the Fuzzy TOPSIS method, the alternatives are evaluated in terms of various criteria, and the model results are shown step by step as follows:

### Step 2: Form a decision matrix.

Fifteen criteria and 4 alternatives have been evaluated (ranked) using the Fuzzy TOPSIS method. The evaluation was conducted with three decision makers. The matrix below shows the arithmetic means of all of the 3 decision makers, as shown in Table 3.

#### Step 3: Form a normalized decision matrix.

Based on the positive and negative ideal solutions, the normalized decision matrix presented in Table 4 was calculated from equations 1 and 2.

#### Step 4: Weighted normalized decision matrix.

Based on the different weights of each criterion, the weighted normalized decision matrix presented in Table 5 was calculated using equation 3.

# Step 5: Define the fuzzy positive ideal solution (FPIS, $A^*$ ) and the fuzzy negative ideal solution (*FNIS*, $A^-$ ).

The FPIS and FNIS of the alternatives presented in Table 6 were computed from equations 4 and 5.

# Step 6: Calculate the distance between each alternative and the FPIS and the distance between each alternative and the FNIS.

The distances between each alternative and the FPIS and the distances between each alternative and the FNIS were computed from equations 6, 7, and 8, as shown in Table 7.

Table 6. Positive and negative ideal	solutions	
	Positive ideal	Negative ideal
Cost	(0.037, 0.052, 0.067)	(0.007, 0.007, 0.022)
Availability	(0.042, 0.057, 0.067)	(0.007, 0.022, 0.037)
Dose	(0.035, 0.051, 0.067)	(0.008, 0.013, 0.029)
Frequency	(0.040, 0.056, 0.067)	(0.008, 0.013, 0.029)
Allergy	(0.035, 0.051, 0.067)	(0.008, 0.013, 0.029)
Path	(0.025, 0.046, 0.067)	(0.011, 0.018, 0.039)
Safety	(0.047, 0.062, 0.067)	(0.012, 0.027, 0.042)
Efficacy	(0.035, 0.051, 0.067)	(0.019, 0.035, 0.051)
Age	(0.046, 0.062, 0.067)	(0.013, 0.029, 0.046)
Other health conditions	(0.042, 0.057, 0.067)	(0.012, 0.027, 0.042)
GERD stage	(0.035, 0.051, 0.067)	(0.008, 0.008, 0.024)
Treatment duration	(0.020, 0.043, 0.067)	(0.012, 0.012, 0.035)
Success rate	(0.047, 0.062, 0.067)	(0.007, 0.017, 0.032)
Drug-drug interaction	(0.042, 0.057, 0.067)	(0.017, 0.032, 0.047)
Drug-food interaction	(0.042, 0.057, 0.067)	(0.027, 0.042, 0.057)
GERD: Gastroesophageal reflux disease.		

#### Step 7: Compute the closeness coefficient (C<sub>i</sub>) and rank alternatives.

The closeness coefficient and  $C_i$  of each alternative were obtained from equation 9. The optimal candidate is nearest to the FPIS and most distant from the FNIS. The closeness coefficients of each alternative and their ranking order are presented in Table 8. Based on the implemented method's results, it was observed that PPIs are the best treatment for GERD because they had the highest  $C_i$  value of 0.642, as presented in Figure 1. The treatment option with the lowest  $C_i$  value was antacids, which had a C value of 0.33.

### DISCUSSION

Fuzzy TOPSIS, a MCDM approach, was used to assess four treatment alternatives for GERD. After the evaluation of the GERD treatment alternatives by three experts, the ranking showed that PPIs were the number one treatment alternative for GERD, next is prokinetic agents and the least treatment alternative was anticacids. In a study conducted by Gashi et al.<sup>30</sup>, to determine whether or not PPIs helped patients with erosive reflux disease by reducing their symptoms and promoting endoscopic repair. This prospective study included 380 individuals with a history of primary symptoms of erosive reflux. The heartburn system score and regurgitation score were used to assess symptoms before and during PPI treatment throughout the three-month period. Approximately 95% of patients had heartburn, 90% had regurgitation, and 70% had epigastric discomfort before PPI treatment. Pyrosis and regurgitation were quantitatively measured in all patients. Patients treated with PPIs



Figure 1. Graph of closeness coefficient values.

Table 7. Distance values of FPIS	5 and FNIS	
	Distance from positive ideal	Distance from the negative ideal
Antacids	0.303	0.15
Histamine blockers	0.27	0.188
Proton pump inhibitors	0.163	0.292
Prokinetic agents	0.237	0.217
EPIS: Euzzy positive ideal solutions. E	NIS: Fuzzy negative ideal so	lutions.

Table 8. Closeness coefficient values of	f the treatments	
	C <sub>i</sub>	Rank
Antacids	0.33	4
Histamine blockers	0.41	3
Proton pump inhibitors	0.642	1
Prokinetic agents	0.478	2

showed improvements ranging from 90% to 20% in regurgitation, 70% to 10% in epigastric discomfort, and 95% to 25% in pyrosis. Complete recovery from erosive oesophagitis was observed in 71.67% of patients, with minimal progression observed in 1.05%. Patients with erosive reflux disease treated with PPIs exhibited significant improvement in symptoms and mucosal healing three months after therapy initiation.

According to experts, the 15 criteria used in the study, cost, availability, dose, frequency, allergy, path, safety, efficacy, age, other health conditions, GERD stage, treatment duration, success rate, drug-drug interaction, and drug-food interaction, are very important factors when determining which treatment is suitable for people suffering from GERD. These factors should be considered because they influence the outcome of patient treatment. For example, cost ensures that treatment is accessible and sustainable, while availability ensures that treatment begins and continues on schedule. The correct dose and appropriate dosage increase drug effectiveness and patient compliance. Considering allergies and the path through which the medication is taken, patients do not encounter unfavorable responses and can conveniently consume the medication. Allergy and safety factors may also help prevent possible side effects and complications, while efficacy determines the success of the drug in relieving GERD symptoms. The age criterion is also an important criterion to ensure the suitability of the drug for individual patient profiles. On the other hand, considering other health conditions when choosing treatment for GERD is vital for managing drug interactions and side effects. Although the stage of the disease and duration of treatment also affect the effectiveness and success rate of the treatment plan, drug-drug, and drug-food interactions play an important role in maintaining the integrity of the treatment and the general health of the patient. In short, each criterion used in the study and evaluated by experts is very important.

Castell et al.<sup>31</sup>, in their article entitled "Erosive Esophagitis: The Efficacy and Safety of Lansoprazole", a comparison of omeprazole 20 mg, omeprazole 10 mg, omeprazole 5 mg, and placebo was performed with a total of 188 patients with endoscopically confirmed erosive reflux esophagitis who were randomly assigned to receive either lansoprazole 30 mg (n=422), lansoprazole 15 mg (n=218), omeprazole 20 mg (n=431), or placebo (n=213) once daily for 8 weeks. Endoscopic assessments of healing were performed at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks. For lansoprazole 30 mg, the success rates at 2, 4, 6, and 8 weeks were 65.3%, 83.3%, 89.4%, and 90.0%, respectively. All active treatments were more effective than placebo, with lansoprazole 15 mg having a 56.3% success rate, omeprazole 20 mg having an 82.0% success rate, and placebo having a 23.9% success rate.

#### Study Limitations

As with all studies, this study also has limitations. This study was limited to the criteria used in the evaluation of treatment options for GERD. Additionally, the study was limited to experts who evaluated the criteria used in the study.

# CONCLUSION

In this study, the Fuzzy TOPSIS method was implemented to select the optimal treatment modality among different treatment options for GERD. In the existing literature, determining the optimal treatment method for GERD has not yet been considered an MCDM problem. We used 15 criteria to evaluate the 4 treatment alternatives (antacids,

Terry et al. Optimal Treatment Modality for GERD

histamine blockers, PPIs, and prokinetic agents) of GERD using the Fuzzy TOPSIS technique. The evaluation was performed by one gastroenterologist and two final-year PhD students in the pharmacy department. According to the results, it has been observed that PPIs are the best treatment for GERD because they have the highest C<sub>i</sub> value of 0.642, and the treatment alternative with the lowest C<sub>i</sub> value of 0.33 is antacids.

Implementing the Fuzzy TOPSIS method would provide DMs with a useful tool to determine the optimal modality for GERD treatment. This approach would provide a more holistic decision-making process, taking into account multiple criteria when evaluating various treatment options. As a result, it is expected that this study will help clinicians make more informed and scientifically based decisions regarding the treatment of GERD. It is recommended to increase the number of criteria for the implemented Fuzzy TOPSIS method in future studies and to compare this method with other MCDM methods.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- The Fuzzy TOPSIS method was implemented to determine the most appropriate treatment method among various treatment options for GERD.
- Determining the optimal treatment method for GERD, which is an MCDM problem, has never been examined before, and this work is the first to do so.
- Proton pump inhibitors are the best treatment for GERD because they have the highest Ci value of 0.642, and the treatment alternative with the lowest Ci value of 0.33 is antacids.
- This approach would provide clinicians with a more holistic decision-making process by considering multiple criteria when evaluating available treatment options for GERD and is believed to help clinicians make more informed and scientifically based decisions regarding the treatment of GERD.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Near East University Scientific Research Ethics Committee (approval number: 2023/117-1779, date: 26.10.2023).

Informed Consent: Patient consent is not required.

#### Authorship Contributions

Concept: A.F.T., İ.E., N.S., Design: A.F.T., İ.E., N.S., Data Collection and/ or Processing: A.F.T., Analysis and/or Interpretation: A.F.T., İ.E., N.S., Literature Search: A.F.T., İ.E., N.S., Writing: A.F.T., İ.E., N.S.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

 Cleveland Clinic. Chronic Acid Reflux. GERD 2023;13(4): https:// my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/17019-gerd-or-acid-reflux-orheartburn-overview

- Zhang D, Liu S, Li Z, Wang R. Global, regional and national burden of gastroesophageal reflux disease, 1990-2019: update from the GBD 2019 study. Ann Med. 2022; 54(1): 1372-84.
- 3. Maret-Ouda J, Markar SR, Lagergren J. Gastroesophageal reflux disease: a review. JAMA. 2020; 324(24): 2536-47.
- Richter JE, Rubenstein JH. Presentation and Epidemiology of Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease. Gastroenterology. 2018; 154(2): 267-76.
- 5. Katzka DA, Kahrilas PJ. Advances in the diagnosis and management of gastroesophageal reflux disease. BMJ. 2020; 371: m3786.
- 6. Hwang CL, Yoon K. Methods for multiple attribute decision making. Multiple attribute decision making: methods and applications a state-of-the-art survey. Springer Science & Business Media; 1981.p.58-191.
- Ansari TJ, Al-Zahrani FA, Pandey D, Agrawal A. A fuzzy TOPSIS-based analysis toward selection of effective security requirements engineering approach for trustworthy healthcare software development. BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making. 2020; 20: 236.
- al-Sulbi K, Chaurasia PK, Attaallah A, Agrawal A, Pandey D, Verma VR, et al. A fuzzy TOPSIS-based approach for comprehensive evaluation of biomedical waste management: advancing sustainability and decision-making. Sustainability. 2023; 15(16): 12565.
- Demirtaş N, Dalkılıç O. Evaluation of medical diagnosis of prostate cancer based on fuzzy TOPSIS-database interaction. Comp Appl Math. 2023; 42(7): 316.
- 10. Ziemba P, Becker A, Becker J. A consensus measure of expert judgment in the fuzzy TOPSIS method. Symmetry. 2020; 12(2): 204.
- 11. Palczewski K, Sałabun W. The fuzzy TOPSIS applications in the last decade. Procedia Computer Science. 2019; 159: 2294-303.
- 12. Johns Hopkins Medicine. Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease (GERD) Treatment. 2023;13(4). Available from: https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/ health/treatment-tests-and-therapies/gastroesophageal-reflux-diseasegerd-treatment
- Shetty B, Vishwanath MK. An expert opinion on antacids: A review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy. F1000Research. 2022; 11: 1057.
- 14. Parakh RK, Patil NS. Anaesthetic antacids: a review of its pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy. Int J Res Med Sci. 2018; 6(2): 383-93.
- 15. Sharma GC, Sharma A. A Systematic Review based on the Use of Au-and Pt-based Nanoparticles along with H2 Blocker Medicines. Research in Veterinary Science and Medicine. 2022; 2.
- 16. MacFarlane B. Management of gastroesophageal reflux disease in adults: a pharmacist's perspective. Integr Pharm Res Pract. 2018; 7: 41-52.
- 17. Pettit M. Treatment of gastroesophageal reflux disease. Pharm World Sci. 2005; 27: 432-5.
- 18. Strand DS, Kim D, Peura DA. 25 years of proton pump inhibitors: a comprehensive review. Gut Liver. 2017; 11(1): 27-37.
- 19. El Rouby N, Lima JJ, Johnson JA. Proton pump inhibitors: from CYP2C19 pharmacogenetics to precision medicine. Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol. 2018; 14(4): 447-60.
- 20. Modak AS, Klyarytska I, Kriviy V, Tsapyak T, Rabotyagova Y. The effect of proton pump inhibitors on the CYP2C19 enzyme activity evaluated by the pantoprazole-13C breath test in GERD patients: clinical relevance for personalized medicine. J Breath Res. 2016; 10(4): 046017.
- 21. Dean BB, Gano AD Jr, Knight K, Ofman JJ, Fass R. Effectiveness of proton pump inhibitors in nonerosive reflux disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2004; 2(8): 656-64.
- 22. Sanger GJ. Translating 5-HT4 receptor pharmacology. Neurogastroenterol. 2009; 21(12): 1235-8.

- Nikoomaram H, Mohammadi M, Taghipourian MJ, Taghipourian Y. Training performance evaluation of administration sciences instructors by fuzzy MCDM approach. Contemporary Engineering Sciences. 2009; 2(12): 559-75.
- 24. Aruldoss M, Lakshmi TM, Venkatesan VP. A survey on multi criteria decision making methods and its applications. American Journal of Information Systems. 2013; 1(1): 31-43.
- Mustapha MT, Ozsahin DU, Uzun B, Ozsahin I. Application of fuzzy TOPSIS in the sterilization of medical devices. InApplications of multi-criteria decisionmaking theories in healthcare and biomedical engineering, Academic Press; 2021.p.197-216.
- 26. Mustapha MT, Ozsahin DU, Ozsahin I, Uzun B. Breast cancer screening based on supervised learning and multi-criteria decision-making. Diagnostics (Basel). 2022; 12(6): 1326.

- 27. Ezhilarasan N, Vijayalakshmi C. Optimization of Fuzzy programming with TOPSIS Algorithm. Procedia Computer Science. 2020; 172: 473-9.
- Nădăban S, Dzitac S, Dzitac I. Fuzzy TOPSIS: a general view. Procedia computer Science. 2016; 91: 823-31.
- Chen SJ, Hwang CL. Fuzzy multiple attribute decision making methods. InFuzzy multiple attribute decision making: Methods and applications. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1992.p.289-486.
- Gashi Z, Haziri A, Berisha D, Zekaj S, Polloshka A, Bakalli A, et al. Effectiveness of proton pump inhibitors in the treatment of patients with endoscopic esophagitis. Med Arh. 2010; 64(6): 362-4.
- Castell DO, Richter JE, Robinson M, Sontag SJ, Haber MM. Efficacy and safety of lansoprazole in the treatment of erosive reflux esophagitis. The Lansoprazole Group. Am J Gastroenterol. 1996;91(9):1749-57.



# Stroke in Patients with Active COVID-19 Infection: Case Series in a Single Center

# Belin Kamiloğlu<sup>1</sup>, Ferda Selçuk<sup>1,2</sup>, Senem Ertuğrul Mut<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neurology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Electroneurophysiology, European University of Lefke, Vocational School of Health Services, Lefke, North Cyprus <sup>3</sup>Department of Neurology, University of Kyrenia Faculty of Medicine, Kyrenia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: It became evident that severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) not only affects the upper and lower respiratory systems but also all organs expressing angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptors, including the central and peripheral nervous systems. In this retrospective study, we aimed to evaluate the characteristics of stroke patients with active SARS-CoV-2 infection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This retrospective observational study was conducted at a single center, the central state hospital of the North Cyprus, located in Nicosia. We retrospectively analyzed stroke patients who were also diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2 from January 2020 to April 2022. All patients were hospitalized, and a total of 33 patients with laboratory and radiological or clinical confirmation of SARS-CoV-2 infection were included in the study.

**RESULTS:** Among the 33 patients, 63.6% were men, and the mean age was 68.9 (SD ±16.4). 81.8% had an ischemic stroke, 6.1% had an ischemic stroke and hemorrhagic transformation, and 3.0% had both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke and subdural hematoma. Transient ischemic symptoms were observed in 9.1% of patients. Of these patients, 30.3% had hypertension, 24.2% had diabetes, 12.1% had hyperlipidemia, 9.1% had coronary heart disease, and 21.2% had a previous stroke as a comorbidity.

CONCLUSION: In our study, patients had risk factors for stroke, and the severity of SARS-CoV-2 infection was correlated with the severity of clinical symptoms of stroke. In addition, lung involvement during infection.

Keywords: COVID 19, stroke, vaccination

# INTRODUCTION

After the outbreak of the severe acute respiratory syndromecoronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic in December 2019, it became evident that the virus not only affected the upper and lower respiratory systems but also affected all organs expressing angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 receptors, including the central and peripheral nervous systems.<sup>1</sup> Neurological complications, such as Guillain-Barré syndrome, encephalopathy, encephalitis, and stroke, are mostly encountered. As far as we know, respiratory viruses is a potential trigger of stroke,<sup>2,3</sup> yet

it has been found that SARS-CoV-2 infection has a greater risk, especially for ischemic stroke.<sup>4</sup> Here, we report the stroke types, comorbidities, lung involvement, and vaccination status of 33 hospitalized patients with stroke diagnosed with SARS-CoV-2.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective observational study was performed at a single center, the central state hospital of the North Cyprus, located in Nicosia. We retrospectively analyzed stroke patients who were also diagnosed

To cite this article: Kamiloğlu B, Selçuk F, Ertuğrul Mut S. Stroke in Patients with Active COVID-19 Infection: Case Series in a Single Center. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):355-358

ORCID IDs of the authors: B.K. 0000-0002-9922-0411; F.S. 0000-0002-2170-4061; S.E.M. 0000-0001-9984-741X.



Address for Correspondence: Senem Ertugrul Mut **E-mail**: senemertugrul@vahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9984-741X

Received: 14.05.2024 Accepted: 08.07.2024

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. with SARS-CoV-2 from January 2020 to April 2022. All patients were hospitalized. SARS-CoV-2 was confirmed as a positive result on highthroughput sequencing or real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction analysis of throat and nose swap specimens. A total of 33 patients with laboratory and radiological or clinical confirmation of SARS-CoV-2 infection were included in the study. Radiological assessments including a computed tomography (CT) scan, of both chest and brain were performed on all patients, although cranial magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was performed on patients without pacemakers, prosthetic materials, etc. Medical records, radiological reports of chest and brain CT and cranial MRI, data on age, sex, comorbidities [hypertension, diabetes mellitus, cardiac disease, hyperlipidemia, coronary heart disease (CHD), previous stroke etc.], National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS) Bamford scale, Modified Rankin Scale (mRS), admission to intensive care unit (ICU), oxygen treatment requirement, and vaccination status were collected. This study was approved by the Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hopital Ethics Committee (approval number: YTK. 1.01 (Ek 11/2022), date: 25.04.2022). Verbal consent was obtained from all patients or from an accompanying relative.

#### Statistical Analysis

Categorical variables were presented as percentages, and continuous variables as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) or median interquartile range. Comparisons of baseline variables were performed using  $\chi^2$  test for categorical variables. A value of p<0.05 was considered significant. Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences software version 29.

# RESULTS

A total of 33 hospitalized stroke patients with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection were included. Their mean age was 68.9 years (SD  $\pm$ 16.4) the youngest being 31 and the oldest being 93 at the time of stroke. Among the 33 patients, 63.6% (n=21) were men. Among all of the patients, 81.8% (n=27) had an ischemic stroke, 6.1% had an ischemic stroke and hemorrhagic transformation (n=2), and 3.0% had both ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke and subdural hematoma (n=1). Transient ischemic symptoms were observed in 9.1% (n=3) of the patients (Table 1). Of these patients, 30.3% had hypertension, 24.2 % had diabetes, 12.1% had hyperlipidemia, 9.1% had CHD, and 21.2% had a previous stroke as a comorbidity. Stroke severity of each patient is evaluated with NIHSS, the scores are further divided into three subgroups as follows; group 1, with an NIHSS of 0-5, group 2 score of 6-15, and group 3, a score of 16-24. Group 1 involved 63.6% (n=21) of the patients. Chest and brain CT scans were performed on all patients while the MRI was performed only on 78.8% (n=27) as the remaining were either not fit for an MRI scan or had other contraindications. Patients were further divided into subgroups according to their Bamford Scale scores: 24.2% (n=8) had a total anterior circulation stroke, 18.2% (n=6) had partial anterior circulation stroke, 21.2% (n=7) had posterior circulation syndrome, and 15.1% (n=5) had lacunar stroke. The remaining patients either had a transient ischemic attack or a combination of previously mentioned stroke types.

Of all patients, 63.6% (n=21) had thoracal involvement on CT scan. The patients were divided into 3 groups as shown in Graphic 1. 21.2% (n=7) had bilateral minimal ground-glass opacity, whereas 36.4% (n=12) had bilateral diffuse ground-glass opacity. The remaining 21.2% (n=7) only had unilateral involvement on chest CT scan.

As mentioned above, 63.6% of the patients had lung involvement, and 57.6% (n=19) were previously vaccinated. Among the vaccinated, only 36.8% (n=7) needed oxygen treatment and 26.3% (n=5) were admitted to the ICU. Among unvaccinated patients, 57.1% (n=8) required oxygen treatment and were all admitted to the ICU (Graphic 2). Among vaccinated patients, 94.7% (n=18) were discharged from the hospital, there was a 5.3% of exitus while discharge was 71.4% (n=10) and 28.6% of exitus among unvaccinated. A total of 5 patient were discharged as exitus and 4 of them were unvaccinated. These results were obtained using the chi-square test. Among patients with lung involvement, 80% (n=12) were discharged, whereas 88.9% (n=16) among patients with bilateral diffuse lung involvement were all admitted to the ICU; in addition, they had significantly higher mortality rates.

To evaluate disability after stroke, the mRS was used. Patients were divided into 2 subgroups according to their mRS. Group 1 consisted of patients with an mRS of 0-2 and group 2 with mRS 3-6. Only 7.7% (n=1) of patients in group 1 needed ICU, whereas 65% (n=13) in group 2.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics of stroke	e patients
--	------------

	01			
		Vaccinated	Unvaccinated	Total
Number o	of patients	19	14	33
Condor	Female	5	7	12
Gender	Male	14	7	21
	Mean	63.8 y	75.9 y	
	Median	61 y	76 y	
Age	Standard deviation	17.2	12.7	
	Minimum age	31 y	50 y	
	Maximum age	92 y	93 y	
	Ischemic and hemorrhagic transformation	0	2	2
Stroke	Ischemic and hemorrhagic transformation and subdural hematoma	1	0	1
	Ischemic	16	11	27
	Transient ischemic attack	2	1	3
	Sum of strokes	19	14	33







### DISCUSSION

There are reported complications during COVID infection and stroke is one of them.<sup>5</sup> Among several studies, the incidence of ischemic stroke in patients with SARS-CoV-2 was found to be 1.5%, which varied from as low as 0.1% to 6.9% among hospitalized patients.<sup>6</sup> In a recent meta-analysis, patients with severe SARS-CoV-2 infection had a 5-fold increased risk of stroke.7 Li et al.8 found in their study that advanced age, severe SARS-CoV-2 infection, a previous history of diabetes, hypertension, or cerebrovascular disease increase the risk of stroke. Another international retrospective study analyzed that patients with COVID-19 and acute ischemic stroke showed increased stroke severity and in addition 51% of patients with COVID-19 and acute ischemic stroke had severe disability at discharge (mRS score 4 vs. 2, p<0.001), with increased mortality compared with non-COVID controls.9 In a recent systematic review including patients with cerebrovascular events in the context of SARS-CoV-2 infection, COVID-19 patients with ischemic stroke had a median NIHSS score of 15, presenting mostly with large vessel occlusion (79.6%), mainly due to either cryptogenic or cardioembolic strokes (44.7% and 21.9%, respectively).7

It has been found that there are different mechanisms responsible for stroke. Hypercoagulation, which causes thrombosis, can be responsible for stroke. Trombus formation is also explained by endothelial damage and abnormal blood stasis.<sup>10</sup> During severe infection, a cytokine storm is triggered by inflammation, which causes sepsis and coagulopathy. It has been shown that there are elevated levels of D-dimer and fibrinogen. Zhou et al.<sup>11</sup> and Tang et al.<sup>12</sup> demonstrated increased coagulation markers in their study.

In our study, patients also had risk factors for stroke, and in addition, it has been found that the severity of SARS-CoV-2 infection was correlated with the severity of the clinical symptoms of stroke. In particular, lung involvement during infection affects both mortality and stroke severity. We also found that vaccination status affected the severity of the disease and ICU hospitalization. In our study, all unvaccinated patients were admitted to the ICU, and mortality was higher in unvaccinated patients than in vaccinated patients. Another study found similar results to our study, indicating that patients with acute stroke who were vaccinated had lower NIHSS score at discharge and lower mRS after 3 months. Moreover, they also found that unvaccinated patients had an increased rate of hospitalization for SARS-CoV-2 and a higher mortality rate.<sup>13</sup>

#### **Study Limitations**

Although our study has limitations due to the restricted number of patients involved, the findings have been crucial in understanding the association between SARS-CoV-2 infection, vaccination status, and stroke severity.

### CONCLUSION

Our study results indicate that SARS-CoV-2 infection particularly the severe form of the disease, has a negative impact on stroke severity.

#### **MAIN POINTS**

- Severe SARS-CoV-2 infection and lung involvement has worsened the severity of stroke and in addition the disability score at discharge.
- Although the pathogenesis is complex and risk factors play an important role we have found that co -existing SARS CoV-2 infection increased the duration of hospitalization, and as a result increased the mortality rate of stroke patients.
- According to our study we can also comment that vaccination against SARS CoV-2 has a protective effect particularly to the clinical symptoms of stroke and to admission to the ICU which influences the mortality rate.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study was approved by the Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hopital Ethics Committee (approval number: YTK. 1.01 (Ek 11/2022), date: 25.04.2022).

**Informed Consent:** Verbal consent was obtained from all patients or from an accompanying relative.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.K., F.S., Concept: B.K., F.S., Design: B.K., F.S., Data Collection and/or Processing: B.K., F.S., S.E.M., Analysis and/or Interpretation: S.E.M., Literature Search: S.E.M., Writing: S.E.M.

#### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Satarker S, Nampoothiri M. Involvement of the nervous system in COVID-19: The bell should toll in the brain. Life Sci. 2020; 262: 118568.
- Elkind MS, Carty CL, O'Meara ES, Lumley T, Lefkowitz D, Kronmal RA, et al. Hospitalization for infection and risk of acute ischemic stroke: The cardiovascular Health study. Stroke. 2011: 42(7): 1851-6.
- Ellul MA, Benjamin L, Singh B, Lant S, Michael BD, Easton A, et al. Neurological associations of COVID-19. Lancet Neurol. 2020; 19(9): 767-83.
- Merkler AE, Parikh NS, Mir S, Gupta A, Kamel H, Lin E, et al. Risk of Ischemic Stroke in Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) vs Patients with Influenza. JAMA Neurol. 2020; 77(11): 1-7.

- Ashrafi F, Zali A, Ommi D, Salari M, Fatemi A, Arab-Ahmadi M, et al. COVID-19-related strokes in adults below 55 years of age: a case series. Neurol Sci. 2020; 41(8): 1985-9.
- Sagris D, Papanikolaou A, Kvernland A, Korompoki E, Frontera JA, Troxel AB, et al. COVID-19 and ischemic stroke. Eur J Neurol. 2021; 28(11): 3826-36.
- 7. Nannoni S, de Groot R, Bell S, Markus HS. Stroke in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Stroke. 2021; 16(2): 137-49.
- Li Y, Li M, Wang M, Zhou Y, Chang J, Xian Y, et al. Acute cerebrovascular disease following COVID-19: a single center, retrospective, observational study. Stroke Vasc Neurol. 2020; 5(3): 279-84.
- 9. Ntaios G, Michel P, Georgiopoulos G, Guo Y, Li W, Xiong J, et al. Characteristics and Outcomes in Patients With COVID-19 and Acute Ischemic Stroke: The Global COVID-19 Stroke Registry. Stroke. 2020; 51(9): 254-8.

- Lurie JM, Png CYM, Subramaniam S, Chen S, Chapman E, Aboubakr A, et al. Virchow's triad in "silent" deep vein thrombosis. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord. 2019; 7(5): 640-5.
- 11. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020; 395(10229): 1054-62.
- Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, Gong J, Li D, Sun Z. Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. J Thromb Haemost. 2020; 18(5): 1094-9.
- Rizzo PA, Bellavia S, Scala I, Colò F, Broccolini A, Antonica R, et al. COVID-19 Vaccination Is Associated with a Better Outcome in Acute Ischemic Stroke Patients: A Retrospective Observational Study. J Clin. Med. 2022; 11(23): 6878.


# Awareness, Attitudes, and Behaviors of Adults About Vaccination in the North Cyprus

🕲 Deniz Granit Semavi<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Gaukhar Bakhtiyarova<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Mehtap Tınazlı<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Nafiye Direktör Özmen<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Near East University Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus <sup>2</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Epidemics of vaccine-preventable diseases (VPDs) are a growing concern worldwide; they have a significant and pervasive impact on individuals, as well as on public health and healthcare systems and the economy. People of all ages are affected by VPDs. Despite awareness and relatively good vaccination rates (VCR) in childhood, adult VCR are insufficient in our country, as in many countries.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: In this manner, we conducted a comprehensive population-level cohort study to evaluate the awareness, attitudes, and behaviors of a population aged over 18 years of age about adulthood vaccination. This is a cross-sectional, survey-based study that was conducted between July 2023 and September 2023 using a structured questionnaire and was carried out in Nicosia, the North Cyprus. A total of 960 surveys were analyzed, of which 67.92% were female and 32.08% were male.

**RESULTS:** It was determined that there was a statistically significant difference in the rates of adulthood vaccination according to the participants' age groups, gender, place of birth, professions, marital status, health status, and continued medication use (p<0.05). Adulthood VCRs of those aged <25, females, high-school graduates, and single were low, whereas those of Turkish citizens, healthcare workers, people with comorbidities, and who constantly use medication were high. Furthermore, it was statistically significant that knowledge about recommended adulthood vaccination and the protection provided by those vaccinations was high among those working in healthcare services (p < 0.05).

CONCLUSION: The awareness level regarding adulthood vaccinations is insufficient. With vaccination, the incidence and mortality of VPDs in adults can be reduced and even reached the point of elimination, as observed for some childhood diseases. Reasons for non-vaccination should be addressed, and effective measures should be determined and taken to overcome these obstacles.

Keywords: Adult, vaccine, vaccination, awareness, North Cyprus

# INTRODUCTION

A vaccine is a suspension of weakened viruses, bacteria, or their antigenic fragments that is given to the body primarily to prevent diseases by conferring active and passive immunity.<sup>1</sup>

Immunization with vaccines is one of the best health investments, saving millions of lives each year. It is the main defense against serious, preventable, and sometimes fatal, contagious diseases. It is safe and cost effective.2-5

People of all ages are affected by vaccine-preventable diseases (VPDs);6 however, most vaccination policies target infants and children.<sup>3</sup> More than 100 million children worldwide are vaccinated each year; despite this awareness and relatively good vaccination rates in childhood, adult vaccination rates (VCR) are insufficient.<sup>3-9</sup>

Outbreaks of VPDs are a worldwide growing concern; they have a marked and widespread impact on public health as well as on individuals and thus on healthcare systems and the economy.<sup>10,11</sup> Globalization causes

To cite this article: Granit Semavi D, Bakhtiyarova G, Tınazlı M, Direktör Özmen N. Awareness, Attitudes, and Behaviors of Adults About Vaccination in the North Cyprus. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):359-365

ORCID IDs of the authors: D.G.S. 0000-0001-8614-6323; G.B. 0009-0000-6038-9263; M.T. 0000-0002-7858-0696; N.D.Ö. 0000-0003-0219-2395.



Address for Correspondence: Deniz Granit Semavi E-mail: deniz.granit@med.neu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8614-6323

Received: 05.03.2024 Accepted: 23.07.2024

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. the quicker spread of infectious diseases because of the rapid mobility of people across borders.<sup>5</sup> Life expectancy increases logarithmically,<sup>9</sup> as morbidities increase with aging, and adults become more susceptible to infectious diseases; complications and mortality also increase with age too.<sup>6,7,12</sup> The immunity provided by childhood vaccination decreases (immunoscence). We should also take into account low vaccination coverage and the possibility of incomplete vaccination programs in childhood. There is a clear need for developing and implementing protective strategies<sup>13</sup> for aging. The coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has highlighted that preventive measures should be lifelong.<sup>6</sup>

The benefits of vaccination exceed those for those who are vaccinated to those who cannot (because of immune deficiencies, age or contraindications, etc.) by reducing the chance of physical contact between infected and vulnerable (herd immunity).<sup>2,14</sup> Furthermore, vaccination not only decreases transmission but also reduces the number of deaths, hospitalizations, incidence among risky groups of the population, functional losses, disabilities, antimicrobial resistance, socioeconomic issues, and the labor force.

Studies generally focus on adults aged over 65 years. Even if it is not enough, VCRs over 65 years have improved; however, younger adults who are at risk remain low. In our country, as in many others, most adults have not been vaccinated against adult VPDs.<sup>6</sup> It is important to understand the reasons for low uptake and barriers to effective vaccination, and awareness of the need for adult vaccination should be raised to make it a part of routine care.

In this manner, we conducted a comprehensive, population-level cohort study to evaluate the awareness, attitudes, and behaviors of the population aged over 18 years about adulthood vaccination. The secondary objective was to assess the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on vaccination awareness and rates.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

This was a cross-sectional, survey-based study that was conducted between July 2023 and September 2023 using a structured questionnaire aiming to determine vaccination coverage, knowledge, and behaviors regarding adulthood vaccination. The referent population included healthcare professionals (doctors, dentists, nurses) and adults aged >18 years.

The questionnaire consisting of 27 questions was distributed both as an online questionnaire and a printed version; participants were carefully instructed to complete it only once. The self-report questionnaire was administered using Google Forms and disseminated using instant messaging apps (e.g., Whatsapp, Viber), social media (e.g., Facebook, Instagram), and institutional emails to doctors, nurses, and dentists currently working in the Turkish Republic of North Cyprus (TRNC). A printed version of the questionnaire was offered to patients admitted to Near East University Hospital as outpatients to the Department of Internal Medicine. The questionnaire was a self-administered questionnaire that captured information under the following sections: 1) demographic characteristics, 2) knowledge regarding adulthood vaccinations, routinely recommended vaccines in the guidelines before and after the COVID-19 pandemic, beliefs about vaccination, 3) vaccination status, and reasons for choosing to get vaccination or not.

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Scientific Research Ethics Committee of Near East University (approval number: YDU/2022/108-1663, date: 30.11.2022). Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The Statistical Package for the Social Sciences 26.0 software was used to statistically analyze the data obtained in this study. The distribution of participants according to their sociodemographic characteristics, general health and smoking status, information, awareness, and attitudes about adulthood vaccination were determined by frequency analysis. The chi-square test<sup>2</sup> was used for the univariate analysis of the effect of each factor on the vaccination status of the participants. Descriptive statistics were generated for each question in the survey. The confidence intervals with a p value of less than 0.05 were considered for inclusion in the multivariable logistic regression model.

## RESULTS

A total of 960 surveys were analyzed in our study. 652 (67.92%) of the participants were female, and 308 (32.08%) were male. In the 960 surveys, the socio-demographic characteristics of the participants (Table 1), their distribution according to their health status and smoking status (Table 2), the distribution of some characteristics regarding information on adult vaccines are shown (Table 3), and Table 4 shows the participants included in the study. Pearson X<sup>2</sup> test results are given to compare the adult vaccination status according to the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants. It was determined that there was a statistically significant difference between the rates of vaccination in adulthood according to the participants' age groups, gender, place of birth, profession, marital status, health status, and continuous medication use (p<0.05). It was observed that the adult vaccination rates of those aged 25 years and under, women, high school graduates, and single individuals were low. Turkish citizens, healthcare workers, people with chronic diseases, and people who constantly use medication had high adult vaccination rates.

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the participants										
	Number (n)	Percentage (%)								
Gender										
Female	652	67.92								
Male	308	32.08								
Place of birth										
TRNC*	597	62.19								
TR**	304	31.67								
Others	59	6.15								
Education										
Primary	43	4.48								
High-school	144	15.00								
University	773	80.52								
Marital status										
Single	314	32.71								
Married	604	62.92								
Widow	42	4.38								

In Figure 1, participants' awareness about adult vaccines and vaccine protection is compared according to their professions. According to our study, it was statistically significant that knowledge about recommended adulthood vaccination and the protection provided by those vaccinations was found to be higher for those who work in healthcare services (p<0.05).

# DISCUSSION

In this study, we aimed to reveal the awareness, attitudes, and behaviors of adults living in TRNCs regarding adult vaccination. This is the first time such a study has been conducted in the general population living in the study area. As in other studies conducted for the same purpose

Table 1. Continued										
	Number (n)	Percentage (%)								
Having children										
Yes	569	59.27								
No	391	40.73								
Working status										
Yes	692	72.08								
No	268	27.92								
Profession										
Not working	202	21.04								
Student	100	10.42								
Dentist	16	1.67								
Doctor	94	9.79								
Nurse	97	10.10								
Other healthcare workers	98	10.21								
Other professions	353	36.77								
Insurance status	·									
Yes	918	95.62								
No	42	4.38								
*TRNC: Turkish Republic of North Cyprus, **TR: Turkish Republic										

Table 2. General health conditions and smoking status of participants Number (n) Percentage (%) Chronic systemic disease 268 27.92 Yes 692 72.08 No **Regular medication** Yes 339 35.31 621 No 64.69 **Regular check-ups** Yes 463 48.23 No 497 51.77 Any contraindications for vaccination Yes 20 2.08 88.02 No 845 Don't know 95 9.90 Smoking 277 28.85 Yes No 683 71.15

IndextInterfactBindenSecond <td< th=""><th>Table 3. Participants' characteristics regardi</th><th>ng adulthood</th><th>vaccinations</th></td<>	Table 3. Participants' characteristics regardi	ng adulthood	vaccinations	
Information about adulthood vaccinationVersion of the second		Number (n)	Percentage (%)	
Have information4426.000Donot have the necessary information5.36Time to get information about adulthood vacuution8.000After pandemics3678.03Source of information about adulthood vacuution5.26Source of information about adulthood vacuution5.26Source of information about adulthood vacuution5.26Social media1053.26Professional knowledge1053.26Friend3003.26Toruce of the about t	Information about adulthood vaccination			
Denot have the necessary information5183.9.33.678.10.33.678.10.33.7.23.7.23.7.33.7.33.7.33.8.33.7.33.8.33.7.33.8.33.7.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.33.9.33.8.3 <th col<="" td=""><td>Have information</td><td>442</td><td>46.04</td></th>	<td>Have information</td> <td>442</td> <td>46.04</td>	Have information	442	46.04
Time to get information about adulthood vacciBefore pandemics3678.03Alter pandemics7516.97Source of information about adulthood vacci152.26Social media23.022.37Social media152.602Fordessional knowledge152.602Friend173.853.85Try173.853.85Fordessional knowledge90.043.85Total control90.043.85Total control90.043.85Total control90.043.02Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)90.63Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)1.351.35Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)1.351.35Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)1.351.35Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)1.351.35Vacination status after 19 years (non-CVVII)1.351.35Partial S0.130.241.35Fording network (non-CVCII)1.362.36Preumonia (pneumococus)30.67Preumonia (pneumocucus)30.67Preumonia (pneumocucus)30.67No33.33No and control statis in terms of accur to the statis (non-CVCII)1.35Preumonia (pneumocucus)30.32No and control statis in terms of accur to the statis (non-CVCII)1.35No and cont statis in terms of accur to	Do not have the necessary information	518	53.96	
Before pandemics38.0After pandemics7516.97Source of information about adulthood vaccurret (n=442)Doctor23.1052.26Social media10523.76Professional knowledge11526.02Friend357.92Tv38.57.92Family92.04Dottor173.85Family99.04Portecination93.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)91.35Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)1.351.35Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)1.351.35Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)1.351.35Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)4.473.30No are1091.353.34Postige received after the age of 19 (excet - VCVID (n=4-V-VT))1.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excet - VCVID (n=4-V-VT))3.34Piquing 100 a vinco1.333.34Piquing 100 a vinco1.333.34Piquing 100 a vinco3.301.11Mana papillom avinco3.301.11Mana papillom avinco3.301.11Mana papillom avinco3.303.34Pineumonia (pneumococus)3.613.33No idea3.503.50No idea3.503.50No idea3.503.50Pineting vaccine protection1.50No idea3.503.51 </td <td>Time to get information about adulthood vacc</td> <td>ination (n=442)</td> <td></td>	Time to get information about adulthood vacc	ination (n=442)		
Alter pandemics7516.97Source of information about adulthood vacce52.26Social media10552.37Social media10552.02Prefessional knowledge1550.22Friend32.007038.5Ty20.0020.0020.00Vactination20.0030.00COVD-19 vaccination20.0030.00Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)46.88Yacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.77Yacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)46.88No40.0041.77No face after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID)46.88Yacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.77Yatana (Sace after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID)46.98No face after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID)42.99Yatana (Sace after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID))42.99Patainis An any (Sace after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID))42.99Human papilloma virus32.0043.91No face after the face after the get of 19 (arrow (non-COVID))42.90Nagles-mumps-rubella32.0043.91Nagles-mumps-rubella32.0043.91National (Sace after the face after t	Before pandemics	367	83.03	
Source of information about adulthood vacicuitor (n=442)"Doctor23152.26Social media10523.76Social media11526.02Friend357.92Tv173.85Family93.85OVID-19 vaccination203.02Vacionation status after 19 years (non-COVID)46.88Yes45046.88No40141.77No fue de factor for general de factor for gene	After pandemics	75	16.97	
Doctor23152.26Social media1052.3.76Social media1152.6.02Professional knowledge1152.6.02TV357.923.85Family90.40DVD19 vaccination93.85TV93.853.85No913.853.85Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVI)Yes46.88Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVI)1.133.81Yes40141.773.81No aux10941.833.81No sure1096.6443.81Fluinfluenza1934.289Hepatiti S1733.84Hepatiti SA213.33Pneumonia (pneumococus)313.84Mainagpilloma virus235.11Meales-mumps-rubella357.78Muman papilloma virus313.12No3.833.83No3.833.83No3.833.83No3.833.83No3.833.83No3.833.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3.943.94No3	Source of information about adulthood vaccin	ation (n=442)*		
ArrianArrianArrianSocial media10523.76Professional knowledge11526.02Friend357.92TV173.85Family92.04Determine93.02COVID-19 vaccinationVaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)46.88No40141.77No sare40141.77No sare10913.3Notacine colspan="2">Vorticities (Non-COVID)Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excet Fort VDV) (net-StructTetanus2966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A203.31Pneumonia (pneumococus)357.78Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meingits (meningococus)313.61No323.33No idea323.33No idea323.33No idea323.33Pariandi (Singening Accinet Tot Singening A	Doctor	231	52.26	
JohaJohaProfessional knowledge101350Professional knowledge3507.92TV1703.85Family92.04DVD-19 vaccination93.02CVUD-19 vaccination203.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)40.033.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.773.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.773.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID) (not-Section Secti	Social media	105	23.76	
FriendFriendFriendFriendFriend357.92Friend3.853.85Family9.043.85CMUD-19 vaccination20.93.02No29.003.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)45.0046.88No40141.77Not sure10911.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excent TUVID) (n=T10.9Fleinfluenza19342.89Fleinfluenza19342.89Hepatitis A213.33Pieumonia (pneumococus)313.64Muman papilloma virus235.11Meniagtis (meningococus)310.67Munan papilloma virus321.11Meningtis (netingococus)310.67No3.833.63No3.833.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.633.63No3.63 <td>Professional knowledge</td> <td>115</td> <td>26.02</td>	Professional knowledge	115	26.02	
InteriorJobJobTV17.023.85Family90.04COVID-19 vaccinationYes9319.698No293.02Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.07Yes45046.88No10911.35Outcome status after 19 years (non-COVID (net-STYes10911.35Notarian status after 19 years (non-COVID (net-STYes296.644No sure296.644Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B1733.844Hepatitis A209.33Pneumonia (pneumococus)357.78Muman papilloma virus231.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Shingles (varicella-coster)363.33No33.63No353.63No idea36.923.63Partis In terms of vaccime to3.63No idea3.633.63No idea3.633.63No idea3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63No idea3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63Part of side effects3.633.63 <t< td=""><td>Friend</td><td>35</td><td>7 92</td></t<>	Friend	35	7 92	
Initial17.03.33Family9.100.00COVID-19 vacination931096.98No203.02Vacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)42.08Vacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)41.77Yes401041.77No1091.35Notaure1091.35Vactines received after the age of 19 (excet > UVID (n=************************************	TV/	17	3.85	
rannyjoinjoinCOVID-19 vacinationCOVID-19 vacinationNo293.02No293.02Vacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)45.0346.88No40141.77No and40141.77Notsure1091.35Vactines received after the age of 19 (excert FUTU) (nervet FUTU)1.35Patanus2966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A235.11Muana papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67No30.67Singles (varicella-zoster)100.22No35.03.83No idea35.03.83No idea35.03.83Do not consider themsely cost and single3.04No idea1.323.12Paranto functione protection1.52Searos for not getting vacinates1.52Paration bable size affects3.04No inden1.52No indendende protectione size and	Family	0	2.04	
Yes93196.98No93196.98No93030.20Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)45.0046.88No40141.77Not sure10911.35Vaccinas received after the age of 19 (excet)Vottom 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	COVID 10 vaccination	9	2.04	
Tes95190,99No2930.2No29.030.2Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)40.041.77No sure010.011.35Notsure010.010.0Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excet)VUDI)10.0Vactines received after the age of 19 (excet)VUDI)42.00Flu (influenza)19342.0036.44Hepatitis A1738.84.49.33Hepatitis A235.1110.00Pneumonia (pneumococcus)30.6711.00Masles-mumps-rubella30.6711.00Measles-mumps-rubella30.6711.00No36.03.1110.0010.00Noidea36.03.0110.00Noidea36.03.0210.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00Noidea36.03.0310.00No for consider trisk in terms of vacuum consider trisk in terms of vacuum consider trisk in terms of vacuum consider trisk in terms of vacuum consider tr	Voc	021	00.00	
NO293.02Vacination status after 19 years (non-COVID)Yes450.046.88No401.041.77No fare109.011.35Vactines received after the age of 19 (excet)50.06.64Flanus299.06.646.64Fluinfluenza)193.08.44Hepatitis B173.08.44Hepatitis A23.07.78Pneumonia (pneumococus)37.78Munan papilloma virus23.01.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Mingles (varicella-zoster)12.00.22Yes23.78.33No36.03.33No daca35.03.69No36.03.69No daca12.01.50Parenofisier functionator12.03.69No daca3.693.69No daca13.03.69No daca13.01.50Parenofischer functionator13.0Parenofischer functionationationationationationationationa	Tes Na	20	2.02	
vaccuration status after 19 years (non-COVID)Yes45046.88No41.7711.35No sure10911.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excent - V-VID) (n=4×1)42.08Flauns29.0066.44Fluinfluenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17383.44Hepatitis A209.33Pneumonia (pneumococus)317.78Muan papilloma virus235.11Meales-mumps-rubella30.67Mingles (varicella-zoster)21.000.22No3633.83No data3633.83No data35.003.83No data29.003.93No data36.003.93Partial Social for the strict metror of vaccure vertextextextextextextextextextextextextext	NO	29	5.02	
Yes45046.88No40141.77No tsure10911.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excent)	Vaccination status after 19 years (non-COVID)			
No40141.77Not sure10911.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (exceet VUVD) (n=45)500Tetanus29966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A29.33Pneumonia (pneumococcus)357.78Muman papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Singles (varicella-zoster)10.22Ves23724.69No36838.33No idea36838.33No idea2973.94Du not consider themsel vaccinated23.94Pear of side effects313.5Pont functione protection133.5Patially know2973.94No information213.5Patially know213.13Patially know213.13Portective213.13Portective213.13Portective213.13Portective213.13Portective213.14Portective3.133.13Portective3.133.13Portective3.133.13Portective3.143.13Portective3.133.13Portective3.143.13Portective3.143.13Portective3.143.14<	Yes	450	46.88	
Not sure10911.35Vaccines received after the age of 19 (exceet VUVI) (n=45)Tetanus29966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A29.33Pneumonia (pneumococus)357.78Munan papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Meningitis (meningococus)30.67Singles (varicella-zoster)30.67Yes2378.83No2363.83No idea3683.83No idea3613.94Du not consider thems of vaccine TUE3.94Parant getting vaccinated3.94Reasons for not getting vaccinated3.93Parant sit interms of vaccine TUE3.94No idea3.93No idea3.93Parant sit effects3.94Du not consider themselves at risk3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94Parant sit effects3.94 <t< td=""><td>No</td><td>401</td><td>41.77</td></t<>	No	401	41.77	
Vaccines received after the age of 19 (excett FUVI) (n=45)Tetanus29966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A29.33Pneumonia (pneumococus)357.78Maales-mumps-rubella235.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Singles (varicella-zoster)30.22Yes23724.69No36838.33No idea3536.93Paratof funderge funders36.933.33No idea31.13.94Do not consider themsel funders31.33.53Fear of side effects633.53Do not consider themsel funder13.23.54Patially funder funders13.23.13Have information13.23.13Patially know272.81Patially know272.81Patially protective proved by excert3.3Protetive2.723.13Patially protective3.13Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.14Patially protective3.13P	Not sure	109	11.35	
Tetanus29966.44Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A209.33Pneumonia (pneumococcus)357.78Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Singles (varicella-zoster)10.22 <b>Considering oneself at risk in terms of vacu</b> 210.22No2374.693.03No diala3633.33No diala353.63No diala353.63Donot consider the method scotter123.63Pear of side effects303.63On ot believe invaccine protection133.63Di not consider the protection213.13Pear of side effects213.13Out of time213.13Havinformation213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.13Protention213.23Proten	Vaccines received after the age of 19 (except for	or COVID) (n=450	D)	
Flu (influenza)19342.89Hepatitis B17338.44Hepatitis A429.33Henumonia (pneumococcus)357.78Muman papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella30.67Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22 <b>Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccu</b>	Tetanus	299	66.44	
Hepatitis B1738.44Hepatitis A429.33Henamonia (pneumococcus)357.78Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22 <b>Considering oneself at risk in terms of vacu</b> 2170.22Yes23724.69No36336.30No idea36336.30 <b>Reasons for net getting vacuinated</b> 3123.63Pari of side effects2973.64Do not consider themselves at risk1323.13Pare of side effects633.63Do not consider themselves at risk3123.13Pare of side effects273.13De not possible side effects3.133.13Patienting matching protection153.13Patienting formation213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matching protection213.13Patientify matchin	Flu (influenza)	193	42.89	
Hepatitis A429.33Pneumonia (pneumococcus)357.78Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccu	Hepatitis B	173	38.44	
Pneumonia (pneumococcus)357.78Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccur	Hepatitis A	42	9.33	
Human papilloma virus235.11Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccu	Pneumonia (pneumococcus)	35	7.78	
Measles-mumps-rubella51.11Meningtis (meningococus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22 <b>Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccu</b>	Human papilloma virus	23	5.11	
Meningitis (meningococcus)30.67Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccu	Measles-mumps-rubella	5	1.11	
Shingles (varicella-zoster)10.22Considering oneself at risk in terms of vacci-Yes23724.69No36838.33No idea35136.98Reasons for not getting vaccinated29730.94Parado f knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk1323.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection153.13Believing that harm outweighs benefits2103.13Out of time2103.13Have information2102.18Partially know2172.88No information2772.81Protective272.81Protective21.463.13Protective21.463.13No information21.723.13No information21.623.13Protective21.833.13No information21.633.13Protective31.23.25No information31.23.25No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5No information31.33.5N	Meningitis (meningococcus)	3	0.67	
Yes23724.69No36838.33No idea35536.98Reasons for not getting vaccinated29730.94Lack of knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Have information2102.188Partially know272.885No information2772.885Protective272.81Protective272.81Standard and the protection provided by vacci2.146Protective2.1282.126No information2.122.50No tipotective3123.5No tope3.33.3No idea4.294.69	Shingles (varicella-zoster)	1	0.22	
Yes23724.69No36838.33No idea36836.98Reasons for not getting vaccinated35536.98Reasons for not getting vaccinated29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time2103.13Have information21021.88Partially know2772.885No information2772.815Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime21.46Protective20621.46Partially protective3123.50Not protective3133.51No idea4294.69	Considering oneself at risk in terms of vaccine	preventable dis	eases	
No36838.33No idea35536.98Reasons for not getting vaccinated29730.94Lack of knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time2103.13Information about possible side effects of vaccine1.88Partially know2772.885No information2772.885Ideas about the protection provided by vaccine1.46Protective20621.46Partially protective3123.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Yes	237	24.69	
No idea35536.98Reasons for not getting vaccinatedReasons for not getting vaccinated29730.94Lack of knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vacuum11.88Partially know21021.88No information2772.815Ideas about the protection provided by vacuum21.46Partially protective20621.46Partially protective3123.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	No	368	38.33	
Reasons for not getting vaccinatedLack of knowledge29730.94Lack of knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vacuum21021.88Partially know2772.815No information2772.885Ideas about the protection provided by vacuum21.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	No idea	355	36.98	
Lack of knowledge29730.94Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vaccimeHave information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime12Protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Reasons for not getting vaccinated		<u> </u>	
Do not consider themselves at risk13213.75Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vaccime122.88Have information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime1221.46Partially protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Lack of knowledge	297	30.94	
Fear of side effects636.56Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vaccineHave information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccine21.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Do not consider themselves at risk	132	13.75	
Do not believe in vaccine protection151.56Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vacureHave information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vacureVProtective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Fear of side effects	63	6.56	
Believing that harm outweighs benefits272.81Out of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vaccime21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime21.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Do not believe in vaccine protection	15	1.56	
Dut of timeDutDutOut of time303.13Information about possible side effects of vaccime21021.88Have information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime21.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Believing that harm outweighs benefits	27	2.81	
Information about possible side effects of vaccimeHave information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccime20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Out of time	30	3.13	
Have information21021.88Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vaccimumProtective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Information about possible side effects of vaca	ines		
Partially know21021.00Partially know47349.27No information27728.85Ideas about the protection provided by vacci-20621.46Protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Have information	210	21.88	
Protective20621.46Partially protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50No idea42944.69	Partially know	473	49.27	
Ideas about the protection provided by vaccimum20.63Protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	No information	277	28.85	
Protective20621.46Partially protective31232.50Not protective131.35No idea42944.69	Ideas about the protection provided by vession	-//	20.05	
Partially protective 206 21.46   Not protective 312 32.50   Not protective 13 1.35   No idea 429 44.69	Protective	206	21.46	
Partially protective 312 32.50   Not protective 13 1.35   No idea 429 44.69	Protective	200	21.40	
Not protective 13 1.35   No idea 429 44.69	Partially protective	312	32.50	
No idea 429 44.69	Not protective	13	1.35	
	No idea	429	44.69	
More than one answer can be given. TV: Television, COVID-19: Coronavirus	More than one answer can be given. TV: Television,	COVID-19: Corona	avirus	

Table 4. Comparison of adult vacc	cination status accord	ing to participa	ants' sociodem	ographic charac	teristics						
	Adulthood vaccination										
	Yes		No		Don't re	member	N2				
	n	%	n	%	n	%	X-	р			
Age group			I		!	!					
25 years and younger	51	29.48	95	54.91	27	15.61					
26-35 years	91	41.18	88	39.82	42	19.00					
36-45 years	119	51.07	95	40.77	19	8.15	54,136	0.001*			
46-55 years	114	55.07	79	38.16	14	6.76					
56 years and older	75	59.52	44	34.92	7	5.56					
Gender	·										
Female	290	44.48	293	44.94	69	10.58	0.427	0.015*			
Male	160	51.95	108	35.06	40	12.99	8,437	0.015			
Place of birth											
TRNC	259	43.38	273	45.73	65	10.89					
TR	164	53.95	105	34.54	35	11.51	11,878	0.018*			
Others	27	45.76	23	38.98	9	15.25					
Education Level	·										
Primary school	18	41.86	21	48.84	4	9.30					
High-school	53	36.81	72	50.00	19	13.19	8,271	0.082			
University	379	49.03	308	39.84	86	11.13					
Profession	· ·										
Non-healthcare	285	39.09	351	48.15	93	12.76	72.074	0.001*			
Healthcare	165	71.43	50	21.65	16	6.93	/3,8/4	0.001			
Marital status						·					
Single	116	36.94	151	48.09	47	14.97					
Married	316	52.32	232	38.41	56	9.27	21,453	0.001*			
Widowed	18	42.86	18	42.86	6	14.29					
Chronic disease	· ·										
Yes	145	54.10	94	35.07	29	10.82	0.220	0.046*			
No	305	44.08	307	44.36	80	11.56	8,230	0.016			
Regular medication	·										
Yes	183	53.98	120	35.40	36	10.62	10.001	0.00.4*			
No	267	43.00	281	45.25	73	11.76	10,991	0.004			
*P<0.05. TRNC: Turkish Republic of Nort	h Cyprus, TR: Turkish Rep	ublic.					· · ·				



Figure 1. Comparison of participants' knowledge about adult vaccines and vaccine protection according to profession (a, b) p<0.05.

in various countries, adult VCRs were not found satisfactory. In a study published by Uthoff et al.<sup>14</sup> in 2023, annual influenza vaccination rates were far from the recommended rates, and the rates for pneumococcal, Herpes Zoster, and other available vaccines were even lower. In this study, we found that 96.98% of the participants received the COVID-19 vaccine, 46.88% received another vaccine other than COVID after age 19, 66.44% received tetanus, 42.89% received influenza, and 38.44% received hepatitis B vaccine. The pneumococcal vaccination rate was very low and ranked 5<sup>th</sup> (7.78%).

Only ¼ of the participants in our study considered themselves at risk for diseases requiring adult vaccination. A total of 21.46% of people had an opinion about the protection of adult vaccines. Adult VCR was found to be high in risk groups such as those working in the healthcare field, those with chronic diseases, and those who constantly use medication, as expected. However, although awareness of adult vaccination rate was not at the desired level. Thus, in their study among healthcare professionals in 2019, Evren et al.<sup>13</sup> found that although the level of knowledge about influenza and pneumococcal vaccines was high, vaccination rates were low.

Vaccination is the most effective and safe preventive health service for preventing infectious diseases, and it is reported that VPD are becoming more common in adults, with an increase in both relative and real cases. The main reasons for this are explained by the decrease in immunity to vaccines over time, the lack of recommended booster vaccine doses in adults, and the existence of people who were incompletely vaccinated or never vaccinated during childhood. In addition, susceptibility to infectious diseases increases with the weakening of the immune system because of both aging and the increase in chronic diseases in adults.<sup>15</sup> However, interest in adult vaccinations and vaccination rates is guite low. E.g. none of the participants in Aşık et al.'s16 study received all adult vaccinations. Only 59% have received any adult vaccination at some point in their life. In North Cyprus, according to our study, 46.8% of people have received an adult vaccine other than the COVID vaccine, where the application rates of childhood vaccines are very high both in Türkiye and in our country.17 Likewise, while the rates of childhood vaccinations are very high in Western countries, those in adults are quite low for reasons such as knowledge gaps, fear of side effects, concerns about their effectiveness, and the perception of not being in the risk group.18,19

According to our study, the most common reasons for the low rates of adult vaccinations can be listed as the rates of those who had information about side effects and vaccine protection were low (21.8-21.4%), and only 24.6% of our participants considered themselves at risk for diseases that can be prevented by adult vaccination. Although the adult vaccination rates of people with a chronic disease who constantly take medications and healthcare workers were higher than those of others, they were generally low. In many countries, adult vaccination is inadequately administered, similar to our results. It has been reported that even in developed countries, the VCRs for adults are low. However, immunization services must be continued in adulthood because adults are highly exposed to VPD in their working and social environments. In a study conducted on adults and elderly people aged over 18 years in Türkiye, it was found that 65% of the participants were susceptible to diphtheria, 569 were susceptible to tetanus, and 90% were susceptible to whooping cough. It was reported that 78% of the study participants needed a tetanus vaccine, 90% a whooping cough vaccine, and 96% a

diphtheria vaccine.<sup>20</sup> In our study, less than half of the participants had received another vaccine other than COVID-19 after the age of 19 years, and we found that 66.44% of them had had tetanus.

As is is known, flu can lead to common and serious diseases and even serious complications such as secondary bacterial pneumonia. Additionally, flu vaccination plays an indirect role in preventing invasive pneumococcal infection, which tends to occur during flu season.<sup>21</sup> However, among healthcare professionals, the rate of flu vaccination is not at the desired level. The flu vaccination rate among all participants was 42.8%.<sup>13</sup>

According to the CDC survey, 20% of people aged 65 years and older had received a flu vaccine and never received a pneumococcal vaccine. Some European countries have reported approximately 50% coverage for pneumococcal vaccination in high-risk populations. Most countries do not even report these rates. Some studies have shown that the most important obstacle to vaccination is that most high-risk patients are not even aware of it. This study also showed that advice from healthcare professionals is the most important factor for being vaccinated.<sup>22</sup>

Therefore, healthcare providers play a critical role in informing patients about vaccination.<sup>23</sup> Several studies have shown that the provision of vaccines by healthcare professionals is an independent predictor of pneumococcal and influenza vaccine uptake in the elderly.<sup>24</sup> These data demonstrate that the education of healthcare professionals indirectly refers to the education of society. The vaccination rate of healthcare workers in the United States is over 75%, but in many European countries it is below 30%.<sup>25</sup>

Vaccination has been an important issue among both the public and healthcare professionals since March 2020, when the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization.<sup>26</sup> TRNC is a defection-dependent republic with a population of 350,000, located in the Eastern Mediterranean. After the first case of COVID-19 was identified in March 2020, a combination of precautions taken on time by the country's council of ministers depending on science board decisions helped TRNC successfully control the first wave of the pandemic, and the country became COVID-19-free for about 2.5 months.<sup>29</sup> During the period when we planned our study, our participants' awareness, knowledge, and attitudes about the disease were quite good, thanks to the early and reliable information provided by both social media and healthcare professionals about COVID-19 infection. In our study, it was determined that 96.98% of the participants were vaccinated against COVID-19, whereas the percentage of participants who knew about adulthood vaccinations was 83.03% before the pandemic. Similar rates of COVID-19 have been reported in studies from other countries. The general level of knowledge about both the symptoms of the disease and ways to prevent it is quite high, and awareness and vaccination rates were found to be even higher, especially among hospital employees.<sup>7, 27, 28</sup>

Most of those who received adult vaccinations were men between the ages of 36-45. Adult vaccination rates were found to be high for those who were T.R. nationals, had higher education levels, were constantly taking medications, and were working in healthcare services.

### Study Limitations

There are some limitations to our study: firstly, most of the participants were reached through an online survey; most of them were living and working in the city center. We did not have the opportunity to reach people with different educational and social statuses in rural areas. Therefore, it may not be appropriate to generalize the results to the entire population. Second, only awareness and attitudes about adult vaccination were investigated. Application and methods to prevent diseases were not examined. Third, since the period in which our study was conducted was during the COVID-19 epidemic, all attention was focused on the epidemic; other adulthood vaccines or preventable diseases were more in the background. The study results may have differed if it was conducted before pandemic.

## CONCLUSION

Adulthood immunization is a current and important issue all over the world. We tried to show that adulthood vaccination awareness among the adults living in TRNC is not enough, similar to many countries, even in healthcare facilities, and is not taken into account as needed. In our study, we demonstrated that education is crucial for awareness and continuation. In order to be protected from preventable diseases, it is necessary to develop immunization programs with an understanding of lifelong immunization, activate public resources to finance this service, and provide regular active training to raise awareness among healthcare professionals and the public. Moreover, the issue of vaccine hesitancy and even vaccine rejection, which is increasing all over the world, should be handled carefully, and protecting public health should be a highlevel goal. With vaccination, the incidence and mortality of preventable diseases in adults can be reduced, and these diseases can be brought to the point of elimination, as in some childhood diseases. Reasons for non-vaccination should be addressed, and effective measures should be determined and taken to overcome these identified obstacles.

## MAIN POINTS

- Increase of awareness attract attention to the importance of vaccination among adults.
- Vaccination may provide a decrease in the incidence and mortality of VPDs in adults as in some childhood diseases.
- Addresing the reasons for non-vaccination help to overcome the obstacles thus leading to an increase in the vaccination rates.

#### **ETHICS**

**Ethics Committee Approval:** Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Scientific Research Ethics Committee of Near East University (approval number: YDU/2022/108-1663, date: 30.11.2022).

**Informed Consent:** Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

#### **Authorship Contributions**

Surgical and Medical Practices: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Concept: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Design: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Data Collection and/ or Processing: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Analysis and/or Interpretation: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Literature Search: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö., Writing: D.G.S., G.B., M.T., N.D.Ö.

### DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Bekis Bozkurt H. An Overview of Vaccine Rejection and Review of Literature. Kafkas J Med Sci. 2018; 8(1): 71-6.
- Eiden AL, Barratt J, Nyaku MK. A review of factors influencing vaccination policies and programs for older adults globally. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2023; 19(1): 2157164.
- Eiden AL, Barratt J, Nyaku MK. Drivers of and barriers to routine adult vaccination: A systematic literature review. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2022; 18(6): 2127290.
- Prieto-Campo Á, García-Álvarez RM, López-Durán A, Roque F, Herdeiro MT, Figueiras A, et al. Understanding Primary Care Physician Vaccination Behaviour: A Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2022; 19(21): 13872.
- Ozisik L, Tanriover MD, Rigby S, Unal S; European Federation of Internal Medicine ADVICE Working Group. ADVICE for a healthier life: Adult Vaccination Campaign in Europe. Eur J Intern Med. 2016; 33: 14-20.
- Uzuner A, Arabacı Ş, Yüceel Aİ, Kocatürk AC, Kaynar E, Khan A. Erişkinlerin Erişkin Aşıları Hakkındaki Bilgi, Tutum ve Davranışları. TJFMPC. 2018; 12(3): 215-25.
- Redondo Margüello E, Trilla A, Munguira ILB, López-Herce AJ, Cotarelo Suárez M. Knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and barriers of healthcare professionals and adults ≥ 65 years about vaccine-preventable diseases in Spain: the ADult Vaccination drIverS and barriErs (ADVISE) study. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2022; 18(1): 2025007.
- Ates Bulut E, Badak SO, Aksoy H, Fadiloglu A, Isik AT. The Awareness and Attitude of Physicians to Older Adult Routine Vaccination Scheme. Clin Interv Aging. 2022; 17: 1581-8.
- Davarcı PZ, Ekuklu G, Özder Taş F, Bolaç E, Çelikkalp Ü, Yorulmaz F. Vaccination Status of Employees at Trakya University Health Center for Medical Research & Practice (Hospital) and Edirne Sultan 1. Murat State Hospital with Vaccines Recommended for Health Workers. Acta Med Nicomedia. 2023; 6(3): 327-33.
- Kolobova I, Nyaku MK, Karakusevic A, Bridge D, Fotheringham I, O'Brien M. Vaccine uptake and barriers to vaccination among at-risk adult populations in the US. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2022; 18(5): 2055422.
- 11. Woodward M, Ramasubramanian V, Kamarulzaman A, Tantawichien T, Wang M, Song JY, et al. Addressing Unmet Needs in Vaccination for Older Adults in the Asia Pacific: Insights from the COVID-19 Pandemic. Clin Interv Aging. 2023; 18: 869-80.
- Vora A, Di Pasquale A, Kolhapure S, Agrawal A, Agrawal S. The need for vaccination in adults with chronic (noncommunicable) diseases in India - lessons from around the world. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2022; 18(5): 2052544.
- Evren H, Evren EÜ, Özcem Bardak S, Özer Yazgan Z, Argun Barış S, Yıldız F. The Knowledge Level of Hospital Staff about Influenza and Pneumococcal Vaccination. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2019; 4(3): 220-4.
- 14. Uthoff SAK, Zinkevich A, Franiel D, Below M, Splieth H, Iwen J, et al. A complex intervention on vaccination uptake among older adults (≥ 60 years) in Germany a study protocol with a mixed methods design. BMC Prim Care. 2023; 24: 148.
- 15. Türkiye Enfeksiyon Hastalıkları Ve Klinik Mikrobiyoloji Uzmanlık Derneği Erişkinbağışıklamaçalışmagrubu Erişkin Bağışıklama Rehberi, 2019.
- Aşık Z, Çakmak T, Bilgili P. Knowledge, attitudes, and behaviours of adults about adult vaccines. Türk Aile Hek Derg. 2013; 17(3): 113-8.
- Başara BB, Güler C, Eryılmaz Z, Tentür GK, Pulgat F. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı Sağlık İstatistikleri Yıllığı 2011. Sağlık araştırmaları Genel Müdürlüğü. Ankara. T.C. Sağlık Bakanlığı; 2012.

- Bellia C, Setbon M, Zylberman P, Flahault A. Healthcare worker compliance with seasonal and pandemic influenza vaccination. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2013; 7(Suppl 2): 97-104.
- Barbadoro P, Marigliano A, Di Tondo E, Chiatti C, Di Stanislao F, D'Errico MM, et al. Determinants of influenza vaccination uptake among Italian healthcare workers. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2013; 9: 911-6.
- 20. Tanriover MD, Soyler C, Ascioglu S, Cankurtaran M, Unal S. Low seroprevalence of diphtheria, tetanus and pertussis in ambulatory adult patients: the need for lifelong vaccination. Eur J Intern Med. 2014; 25(6): 528-32.
- Gilchrist SA, Nanni A, Levine O. Benefits and Effectiveness of Administering Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine with Seasonal Influenza Vaccine: An Approach for Policymakers. Am J Public Health. 2012; 102(4): 596-605
- Song JY, Cheong HJ, Heo JY, Noh JY, Seo YB, Kim IS, et al. Outpatient-Based Pneumococcal Vaccine Campaign and Survey of Perceptions about Pneumococcal Vaccination in Patients and Doctors. Yonsei Med J. 2013; 54(2): 469-75.
- 23. Schneeberg A, Bettinger JA, McNeil S, Ward BJ, Dionne M, Cooper C, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and behaviours of older adults about pneumococcal immunization, a Public Health Agency of Canada/ Canadian Institutes of Health Research Influenza Research Network (PCIRN) investigation. BMC Public Health. 2014; 14: 442.

- Nichol KL, Mac Donald R, Hauge M. Factors associated with influenza and pneumococcal vaccination behavior among high-risk adults. J Gen Intern Med. 1996; 11(11): 673-7.
- Black CL, Yue X, Ball SW, Donahue SM, Izrael D, de Perio MA, et al. Influenza vaccination coverage among healthcare personnel - United States, 2014-15 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015; 64(36): 993-9.
- 26. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Situation Report– 51. World Health Organization 2020. Available at: https://www.who. int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/ situation-reports/20200311-sitrep-51covid-19.pdf?sfvrsn= 1ba62e57\_10
- Argun Barış S, Ünal Evren E, Evren H, Şahinoğlu E, Selvi G, Boyacı H, et al. Awareness and Knowledge of COVID-19 Among Health Care Workers in Early Phase of COVID-19 Pandemic. Turk Thorac J. 2022; 23(1): 38-44.
- Shaikhain TA, Al-Husayni FA, Alhejaili EA, Al-Harbi MN, Bogari AA, Baghlaf BA, et al. COVID-19-related knowledge and practices among health care workers in Saudi Arabia: cross-sectional questionnaire study. JMIR Form Res. 2021; 5(1): e21220.
- 29. Sultanoglu N, Baddal B, Suer K, Sanlidag T. Current situation of COVID-19 in Northern Cyprus. East Mediterr Health J. 2020; 26(6): 641-5.

# **RESEARCH ARTICLE**

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2024-44 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):366-374



# Effects of Preoperative Information Methods on Anxiety in Patients Scheduled for Impacted Third Molar Surgery

# 🕲 Mehmet Emre Yurttutan<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Mert Özlü<sup>1</sup>, 🕲 Elif Polat Balkan<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye <sup>2</sup>Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology, Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry, Ankara, Türkiye

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Extraction of impacted I3M teeth is the most common surgical procedure and causes the greatest anxiety in patients. The aim of this study was to measure the effect of verbal, live action, and animated video information on a patient's anxiety level before impacted 13M tooth extraction. The null hypothesis of this study was that there was a decrease in the anxiety levels of patients who were informed of the procedure by watching an animated video.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: The study had prospective cross-sectional design. The study was conducted at the department of oral and maxillofacial surgery. A total of 90 patients who met the inclusion criteria were divided into three groups. Patient anxiety was measured at three different timepoints: pre-information (T0), post-information (T1), and post-operation (T2) using the Modified Dental Anxiety Scale (MDAS), Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS-A), APAIS-B, APAIS-C, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-1 (STAI-1), STAI-2, and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) tests. In addition, the age and gender of the participants were recorded.

**RESULTS:** When the T0, T1, and T2 timepoint values were examined between the groups, significant differences were observed in the MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, APAIS-C, and HADS-D values. For T1, MDAS, APAIS-B, and APAIS-C values, the anxiety levels of the group watching an animated video were significantly lower than those of the group watching a live action video.

CONCLUSION: Although it was determined in the study that the three different types of information led to a decrease in the general anxiety level of patients, the superiority of the animated video in reducing the pre-operation anxiety level should be taken into consideration.

Keywords: Impacted third surgery, anxiety, animated video

# INTRODUCTION

Dental anxiety (DA) occurs during dental treatments and is defined as tension, stress, anxiety, or anger and frustration experienced by the patient.<sup>1,2</sup> The factors that cause DA include local anesthesia, pain, fear of rotating instruments, and sounds that the patient hears when on the dentist's chair. Impacted mandibular third molar (I3M) surgery, which is one of the most common surgical procedures in dentistry, has been reported to be the most worrying procedure in patients<sup>3</sup>. I3M extraction is associated with pain, swelling, and trismus, apart

from the general complications associated with dental treatment. The patient's anticipation of these problems can cause a high level of anxiety before undergoing I3M extraction.<sup>4,5</sup> In addition, DA can also be caused as a result of previous dental experiences.<sup>6</sup> In particular, acute anxiety can cause various physiological (nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, urinary frequency, etc) and behavioral disorders. Extraction of the I3Ms in patients with DA can be difficult not only for patients but also for surgeons. It has been observed that the duration of the operation is significantly longer, the rate of facial swelling is higher, and the pain is higher in patients with DA.1,7-9

To cite this article: Yurttutan ME, Özlü M, Polat Balkan E. Effects of Preoperative Information Methods on Anxiety in Patients Scheduled for Impacted Third Molar Surgery. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):366-374

ORCID IDs of the authors: M.E.Y. 0000-0001-9796-5738; M.Ö. 0000-0002-5923-9345; E.P.B. 0000-0001-9952-0548.



Address for Correspondence: Elif Polat Balkan E-mail: dtelifpolat@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-9952-0548

Received: 21.05.2024 Accepted: 06.08.2024

PEN ACCESS

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. Dentists might use a visual analog scale or other specific scales, such as the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), the Modified Dental Anxiety Scale (MDAS), or the Intermittent Anxiety Response Scale, to identify anxious patients.<sup>10,11</sup> Conversely, informative videos are widely used to explain surgical procedures. Although the effect of preoperative information techniques on anxiety related to impacted I3M surgery has been investigated in some studies, there is no consensus on the most effective method for reducing DA.<sup>12-15</sup>

In the literature, there are no studies that investigated the effect of informing patients with an animated video of the extraction procedure before I3M tooth extraction and their anxiety level. The aim of this study was to measure the effect of verbal, live-action videos, and animated video information about the procedure on patient anxiety level before impacted I3M tooth extraction. The null hypothesis of this study was that there is no differences between the anxiety levels of patients who were informed about different procedures.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design and Ethical Considerations**

The Declaration of Helsinki was adopted for this study, and the Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry Local Ethics Committee approved this retrospective study (approval number: 36290600/20, date: 08.03.2018). This study included 90 patients who underwent third molar extraction under local anesthesia between September and November 2018 at the Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry, Department of Oral, Dental, and Maxillofacial Surgery. Patients were informed about the study and procedure, and a written informed consent form was provided by the preoperative evaluation clinic. If the patient had additional questions, they were also included in the study.

Power analysis using G\*Power was conducted for a study involving repeated measurements (with a repetition of 3) in animated, verbal, and video-based groups (with a total of 3 groups), where data were collected. The foundational analysis in this study relies on repeated measures analysis of variance, with an effect size of 0.30, an  $\alpha$  value of 0.05, and a power value (1- $\beta$ ) of 0.80 considered in the power analysis. The total sample size was 75. Therefore, it is recommended to recruit a minimum of 25 participants from each group.

The Spielberger State Anxiety Inventory-State version (STAI-S), Hospital Anxiety (HADS-A) and Depression Scale (HADS-D), MDAS, and Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS) are widely used to assess patient DA and were used in this study. Patient anxiety was measured at three different timepoints: pre-information (T0), post-information (T1), and post-operation (T2) using the MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, APAIS-C, STAI-1, STAI-2, and HADS tests. In addition, the age and gender of the participants were recorded.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: adults aged 18-40 years, with American Society of Anesthesiologists physical condition scores of I and II, absence of any systemic disease, and those who do not regularly use medications.

The exclusion criteria were an inability to read and understand Turkish, significant impairment in vision or hearing, an existing psychiatric disorder, age under 18 years, previous surgical dental treatment, and watching an informative video on this subject.

Each patient was examined by the same physician who performed the surgical intervention. Patients were divided into three groups:

Group 1: Patients who were verbally informed about I3M extraction before surgery.

Group 2: Patients who were shown a live action video of impacted I3M extraction before surgery.

Group 3: Patients who were shown an animated video about impacted I3M extraction before surgery.

Prior to the surgical intervention, participants in each group received live video, verbal, and animated information separately from the same experienced physician in the operating room. The total duration of these sessions was 10 minutes. Patients were randomly assigned to groups 1, 2, and 3 using an online random allocation software (www. randomization.com). Information was provided to the patients upon completion of the questionnaires. All patients in the waiting room received the MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, APAIS-C, STAI-1, STAI-2, and HADS questionnaires 60 minutes before surgery. The demographic data section (age and gender) of the form was completed by the patients. After the patients were informed of the different information techniques, the same questionnaires were completed by the patients again.

Surgery was performed by the same physician using the standard technique, and the patient was under local anesthesia without premedication or sedation. In all cases, an envelope was incised, and the mucoperiosteal flap was removed. Impaction of the teeth is related to class II positions B of the Pell & Gregory classification, and the duration of the operation is 15 minutes. A bone incision was made at 40,000 rpm, irrigation was performed using surgical markets and drills, and the impacted tooth was extracted. After controlling the bleeding, the flap was closed with a 3.0 black silk suture. The live and animated videos portrayed every moment of the surgical procedure, from suturing opening to suturing closure, accompanied by sounds specific to the operation. Patients refilled the MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, APAIS-C, STAI-1, STAI-2, HADS-A, and HADS-D questionnaires in the waiting room 20 minutes after surgery. Questionnaires were filled out by the patients in the same room and at the same table as before surgery. Patients were postoperatively prescribed 1000 mg of amoxicillin and clavulanic acid and 25 mg of dexketoprofen. They were also instructed to use mouthwash with 0.2% chlorhexidine after 1 day and for 1 week. An ice pack was applied to the operation area for at least 60 minutes after the operation. After 1 week, the patients were called for control.

#### **Modified Dental Anxiety Scale**

The MDAS was developed by Humphris et al.<sup>16</sup> by incorporating an injection-related question into Corah's Dental Anxiety Scale. This scale employs a five-point Likert-type scale with five options, yielding total scores ranging from 5 to 25.<sup>17,18</sup>

#### Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale

In 1996, Moerman et al.<sup>19</sup> developed the APAIS, which is used to assess preoperative anxiety. This test categorizes anxiety into three sources: anxiety about anesthesia (APAIS-A), anxiety about lack of information (APAIS-B), and anxiety about surgery (APAIS-C). The APAIS consists of six statements related to these sources to evaluate anxiety. To standardize the questionnaire, each statement was assigned a numerical value based on a five-point Likert scale indicating severity, ranging from 1 to 5 (1=none, 2=mild, 3=moderate, 4=severe, and 5=extreme severity). Anesthesia anxiety was determined by summing the scores of questions 1 and 2, surgical anxiety by questions 4 and 5, and overall anxiety by all six questions. Questions 3 and 6 assessed the desire for information regarding anesthesia and surgery, respectively. Scores on the APAIS range from 6 (lowest) to 30 (highest).<sup>19</sup>

### **Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale**

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) is a four-point Likert-type scale developed by Zigmond and Snaith<sup>20</sup> to assess the risk of anxiety and depression in patients, as well as to measure the severity and changes in these conditions. The HADS comprises a total of 14 questions, where odd-numbered questions evaluate anxiety and even-numbered questions evaluate depression. The scale is divided into two subscales: anxiety (HAD-A) and depression (HAD-D). Based on a study conducted in Turkey, the cut-off score for the anxiety subscale was 10/11, while that for the depression subscale was 7/8. Therefore, patients who scored above these thresholds were identified as at risk. Scores on both subscales ranged from 0 (lowest) to 21 (highest). HADS is often preferred because it focuses on psychological symptoms rather than physical symptoms associated with anxiety and depression.<sup>20</sup>

### Speilberger State Anxiety Inventory

The STAI-S is extensively employed in anxiety research, although it is not specifically designed for DA. This inventory consists of two scales, each comprising 20 items that assess state and trait anxiety levels. STAI-trait (STAI-1) measures a patient's underlying or enduring anxiety level, while STAI-state (STAI-2) gages their current anxiety level. Each of the 20 items was rated on a four-point scale. Scores on the STAI range from 20 to 80, with interpretations typically categorized as follows: scores of 20 to 37 indicate no or low anxiety, scores of 38 to 44 indicate moderate anxiety, and scores of 45 to 80 indicate high anxiety levels.<sup>22,23</sup>

## Statistical Analysis

The data collected in this study were analyzed using SPSS 25.0 software. Descriptive statistics, including mean, standard deviation, minimum, median, and maximum, were employed to summarize the data. Additionally, the Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess the normality of the data distribution. The assumption of homogeneity of variance was tested using the Levene's test. For comparisons involving more than two dependent groups with normally distributed data, repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) was conducted. For data that did not exhibit normal distribution, Friedman's analysis was performed instead. Bonferroni's analysis was performed following any statistically significant differences between measurements. The significance level was set at p<0.05 and p<0.01. While gathering data, the researchers conducted one-on-one interviews. We only recorded the scores without collecting sub-questions; therefore, we could not assess reliability. However, in the studies where we obtained the scales, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient was high. Effect sizes (Eta-squared,  $\eta^2$ ) indicating the proportion of variance in dependent variables explained by each independent variable (survey method) are reported in Tables 1-5. Eta-squared values were interpreted using Cohen's guidelines, where values of 0.02, 0.13, and 0.26 or above correspond to small, medium, and large effect sizes, respectively. These effect sizes were calculated to assess the impact of each survey method on anxiety measures to ensure transparency and reliability of the study findings.

# RESULTS

Out of the 127 patients initially assessed, 37 did not meet the inclusion criteria, leaving 90 who met the criteria and consented to participate. Among them, 22 had a prior surgical dental treatment history, and 11 declined to complete the postoperative questionnaires. Consequently, the study included 90 patients (20 females and 10 males, aged 18 to 40 years). The patient recruitment process is depicted in the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials flowchart (Figure 1).

There were no statistically significant differences between groups in terms of mean age (p=0.621; Table 1), and the distribution of males and females was similar across groups (p=0.105; Table 2).

Evaluation of anxiety levels at T0, T1, and T2 timepoints for patients receiving verbal information (group 1) revealed that T2 APAIS-B values were significantly lower than T0 APAIS-B values. Additionally, T2 STAI-I values were significantly lower than T1 STAI-I values (p<0.05; Table 3).

For patients who were informed through live action video (group 2), evaluation of anxiety levels at the T0, T1, and T2 time points revealed that the T2 MDAS values were lower than the T0 and T1 MDAS values. Moreover, T2 APAIS-B values were significantly lower than T1 APAIS-B values (Table 4).

Analysis of anxiety levels at T0, T1, and T2 for patients informed through animated videos (group 3) revealed that T2 APAIS-A values were lower than T0 APAIS-A values (Table 5).

Comparing T0, T1, and T2 anxiety levels across all groups (Table 6) revealed differences in MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, APAIS-C, and HADS-D scores. Specifically, T1 MDAS values were significantly lower in patients



**Figure 1.** The patient recruitment process is explained in the consolidated standards of reporting trials flowchart.

who were informed through animated videos than in those who were informed through live action videos. Additionally, APAIS-A values at T1 were significantly lower in patients informed through animated and live action videos than in those informed verbally. T1 APAIS-B and APAIS-C

values were significantly lower in the animated video group than in the live action video group. Lastly, T1 HADS-D values were significantly lower in the animated video group than in the verbal information group.

Table 1. Distribution of age by group														
Age			ANOVA test	n	Effect size									
	n	Min.	Median	Max.	Mean	SD	F	p Effect size						
Group 1	30	18	24	33	24.17	3.82								
Group 3	30	18	23	31	23.43	3.48	2.31	0.105	0.050					
Group 2	30	18	25	32	25.43	3.64								
*p<0.05 Min · Minimum Ma	°n<0.05 Min · Minimum Max · Maximum SD· Standard deviation													

Table 2. Gender distribution by group											
	Group 1		Group 2		Group 3		Chi coupro tost		Effect size		
n		%	n	%	n	%		Chi-square test	þ	Effect size	
Candar	Male	10	33.3	7	23.3	10	33.3	V <sup>2</sup> -0.052	0.621	0.000	
Female		20	66.7	23	76.7	20	66.7	X <sup>-</sup> -0.952	0.621	0.008	
*p<0.05.								^		-	

		n	Min.	Median	Max.	Mean	SD	Test	р	Effect size	Bonferroni	р
	Т0	30	5	14	22	13.4	4.14					
MDAS	T1	30	5	14	22	13.3	4.37	F=1.858	0.180	0.060		
	T2	30	5	14	21	12.53	4.06					
	Т0	30	3	5	9	5.23	1.96					
APAIS-A	T1	30	2	5	8	5.2	1.92	X <sup>2</sup> =0.844	0.656	0.014		
	T2	30	2	5	10	4.97	1.99					
	Т0	30	3	5	10	5.9	2.14					
APAIS-B	T1	30	2	5	10	5.73	2.36	X <sup>2</sup> =12.36	0.002*	0.206	T2 <t0< td=""><td>0.002</td></t0<>	0.002
	T2	30	2	5	10	5.27	2.24				12<11	0.015
	то	30	2	4	9	4.8	1.83					
APAIS-C	T1	30	2	4	10	4.87	2.11	X <sup>2</sup> =0.553	0.758	0.009		
	T2	30	2	4	10	4.73	2.03					
	то	30	32	45.5	51	45.03	4.56			89 0.041		
STAI-2	T1	30	39	45	66	45.67	4.46	X <sup>2</sup> =2.48	0.289			
	T2	30	39	45	62	45.53	4.13					
	Т0	30	27	41	50	39.6	6.35					
STAI-1	T1	30	20	42	50	40.07	7.30	X <sup>2</sup> =8.985	0.011*	0.150	T2 <t1< td=""><td>0.002*</td></t1<>	0.002*
	T2	30	20	41	46	38.43	6.80					
	Т0	30	3	7	17	7.43	3.52					
HADS-A	T1	30	0	7	18	7.77	4.25	F=1.119	0.333	0.037		
	T2	30	0	7	12	6.67	3.25					
	ТО	30	3	6	12	7.23	2.96					
HADS-D	T1	30	0	7	13	6.93	3.69	F=0.589	0.500	0.020		
	T2	30	0	7	20	6.7	4.29					

F: Analysis of variance, X<sup>2</sup>: Friedman test, \*p<0.05, Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, SD: Standard deviation, MDAS: Modified Dental Anxiety Scale, APAIS: Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale, STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

Table 4. Com	parative	analyse	es of surve	eys conducted	l after pa	tients were	informed a	bout the surgica	l procedure u	ising live action	video	
		n	Min.	Median	Max.	Mean	SD	Test	р	Effect size	Bonferroni	р
MDAG	Т0	30	6	12.5	22	12.97	3.68				7270	0*
MDAS	T1	30	6	15	24	14.73	4.26	F=14,261	0.001*	0.330	12<10 T2 <t1< td=""><td>0</td></t1<>	0
	T2	30	6	12	19	11.87	2.99				12 ~ 1 1	0
	Т0	30	2	3	8	3.87	1.61					
APAIS-A	T1	30	2	4	10	3.97	1.87	X <sup>2</sup> =2,000	0.368	0.033		
	T2	30	2	4	7	3.7	1.32					
	Т0	30	2	6	10	5.77	1.92					*
APAIS-B	T1	30	2	6	10	6.6	2.04	F=12,719	0.000*	0.305	12<10	0.011"
	T2	30	2	5	10	4.93	1.86				12<11	0
	Т0	30	2	5	8	5.27	1.48					
APAIS-C	T1	30	2	6	10	5.7	1.8	F=2,933	0.086	0.092		
	T2	30	2	5	8	5.1	1.52					
	Т0	30	3	47	56	47.1	4.25			0.096		
STAI-2	T1	30	40	46	56	46.03	3.66	F=3,066	0.057			
	T2	30	40	46	56	46.03	3.85					
	Т0	30	29	40	53	39.83	4.52					
STAI-1	T1	30	32	40	55	40.8	4.81	X <sup>2</sup> =3,352	0.187	0.056		
	T2	30	32	39	51	39.9	3.06					
	Т0	30	2	7.5	16	7.6	3.29					
HADS-A	T1	30	2	8	13	8.17	3.22	X <sup>2</sup> =1,581	0.454	0.026		
Т	T2	30	1	8	13	7.7	2.76					
	т0	30	1	5.5	10	5.47	2.56					
HADS-D	T1	30	1	6	13	5.8	2.73	X <sup>2</sup> =5,531	0.063	0.092		
T2	T2	30	1	5	12	5.23	2.62					

F: Analysis of variance, X<sup>2</sup>; Friedman test, \*p<0.05, Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, SD: Standard deviation, MDAS: Modified Dental Anxiety Scale, APAIS: Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale, STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

## DISCUSSION

Anxiety experienced before impacted I3Ms is a common clinical problem that leads to many consequences, such as prolonged processing time, increased postoperative pain, slowed recovery, and even postponed treatment.<sup>2</sup> Managing patients' preoperative anxiety remains a major challenge in maxillofacial surgery, regardless of newly developed surgical and pharmacological techniques.<sup>24</sup> Various scales have been developed to assess all aspects of DA. It has been reported that filling out these scales before treatment does not have a negative effect on the fear and anxiety level of the patients.<sup>16</sup>

To ensure the reliability of clinical trial data, one or more scales were used to evaluate DA. Schuurs and Hoogstraten<sup>25</sup> compared six different scales and found that the scales were not sufficient to evaluate their findings. Patient anxiety before surgery may be caused by the hospital environment, anesthesia, surgical procedure, postoperative pain anxiety, or previous dentist experiences. Multiple scales are needed to measure DA in all aspects. In this study, four different scales were used to better analyze the source of DA and the obtained results. The MDAS, APAIS, STAI, and HADS scales were preferred for this study because they were understandable, easy to use, and suitable for statistical studies.

In many studies, it has been observed that informing patients of different techniques can reduce their anxiety levels.<sup>12</sup> However, other studies have shown that the level of anxiety increases depending on the surgical technique.<sup>26</sup> Other studies have measured the anxiety levels of patients after receiving verbal information.<sup>14,27</sup> In this study, there was no significant decrease in patient anxiety level according to the pre-information (T0) and post-information (T1) scales for those who received verbal information. Only after the operation did a significant decrease in the APAIS-B and STA-I scale scores. This significant decrease may be due to patients' satisfaction with the information given and their trust in the doctor. In the literature, many studies have measured patient anxiety caused by watching informative videos about the surgical procedure.<sup>2,12,14,22,23,27,28</sup> Although there are studies reporting that watching informative videos before surgery reduces anxiety in patients,<sup>12</sup> others have reported that watching videos does increases<sup>2,14</sup> the level of anxiety. Kazancioglu et al.<sup>2</sup> reported that in their study of 300 patients who applied to the clinic for I3M tooth extraction, the level of anxiety increased in patients who were shown videos before the operation. In this study, patients who were informed by watching videos had significantly lower postoperative (T2) MDAS and APAIS-B scale scores. There was no significant difference between the TO and T1 time points. The contradictory results of the studies might have

Table 5. Com	Table 5. comparison of surveys conducted after patients were mornied about the surgical procedure using animated video													
		n	Min.	Median	Max.	Mean	SD	Test	р	Effect size	Bonferroni	р		
	Т0	30	5	12	21	11.9	3.95							
MDAS	T1	30	6	11.5	20	11.57	3.71	X <sup>2</sup> =1,326	0.515	0.022				
	T2	30	5	11	18	10.67	3.91							
	Т0	30	2	3	9	3.73	1.68	X <sup>2</sup> =8,291						
APAIS-A	T1	30	2	3	8	3.4	1.75		0.016*	0.138	T2 <t0< td=""><td>0.05*</td></t0<>	0.05*		
	T2	30	2	2	6	2.93	1.36							
	Т0	30	2	5	10	4.53	2.03							
APAIS-B	T1	30	2	5	8	4.77	1.65	X <sup>2</sup> =1,373	0.503	0.023				
	T2	30	2	4	10	4.13	2.11							
	Т0	30	2	4.5	9	4.47	1.96							
APAIS-C	T1	30	2	4	10	4.63	1.99	X <sup>2</sup> =2,469	0.291	0.041				
	T2	30	2	4	10	4	2.24							
	Т0	30	32	44.5	57	44.93	5.63							
STAI-2	T1	30	36	45.5	80	46.83	7.92	X <sup>2</sup> =1,564	0.458	0.062				
	T2	30	31	43.5	55	44.33	5.39	-						
	Т0	30	28	38	51	38.37	5.88							
STAI-1	T1	30	32	38	80	39.8	8.85	X <sup>2</sup> =3,784	0.151	0.063				
	T2	30	31	42	75	41.77	8.74							
	Т0	30	0	7	19	6.87	3.76							
HADS-A	T1	30	2	7	15	6.5	2.69	X <sup>2</sup> =1,312	0.519	0.022				
1	T2	30	0	6	13	6.03	3.3							
	Т0	30	0	4.5	10	4.8	2.38							
HADS-D T1 T2	T1	30	0	5	9	4.53	2.53	F=1,249	0.290	0.041				
	30	0	4.5	15	5.23	3.77								

F: Analysis of variance, X<sup>2</sup>: Friedman test, \*p<0.05, Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, SD: Standard deviation, MDAS: Modified Dental Anxiety Scale, APAIS: Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale, STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

varied depending on the viewing content and cultural structure of the population. Although the images and sounds are explanatory and comforting for some patients, they can also be disturbing for others. Conversely, patients might have already watched online videos about the surgical procedure, some of which could have presented misleading content.29

In this study, the low anxiety levels observed in the postoperative tests (T2) could be attributed to the fact that the operation was completed. Although verbal and video information was found not to affect preoperative anxiety levels, reduced postoperative anxiety levels suggest that it may be useful for reducing DA in future dental procedures.

To date, there are only few published reports supporting the use of 2D cartoon animations to inform patients about different surgical aspects. Tou et al.<sup>30</sup> showed animated videos to patients before bowel surgery and reported a decrease in anxiety levels. The null hypothesis of this study was that animated videos led to a greater decrease in anxiety levels than verbal and live action video content. Low anxiety levels were found in the postoperative tests (T2), which is an expected result due to the fact that the operation had been completed. An important finding of this study concerns the differences between the values in the post-information (T1) tests. Accordingly, the T1 MDAS, APAIS-A, APAIS-B, and APAIS-C

values of patients who watched the animated video were significantly lower than the T1 values of the other groups. In addition, the T1 HADS-D values of patients who were shown live action and animated videos were lower than those who were verbally informed. This study showed that animated videos were more successful in reducing preoperative anxiety than other methods. In the animated video, blood and tools did not look as invasive as they did in the live action video, which allowed the patient to see images that the patient could not imagine from the verbal information. The moment when patients and surgeons have the most problems is when the operation takes place; thus, the method of informing the patient with an animated video should be carefully evaluated. Finally, the development of animated videos can influence and improve the dialog between patients and physicians.

Sancak and Akal<sup>15</sup> evaluated the effect of different preoperative verbal and written information on DA using different scales and observed that written information reduced postoperative anxiety scores. In this study, the fact that the written information was not evaluated can be considered a limitation of the study.15

Animated videos can be a useful technique to reduce DA. This study can be expanded to reduce the level of DA before different surgical techniques and to help determine the variability of animated videos

Table 6.	ble 6. Comparison of the types of surveys conducted in the groups												
		Group	n	Min.	Median	Max.	Mean	SD	Test	р	Effect size	Bonferroni	р
		1	30	5	14	22	13.4	4.14					
	Т0	2	30	6	12.5	22	12.97	3.68	F=1,158	0.319	0.026		
		3	30	5	12	21	11.9	3.95					
		1	30	5	14	22	13.3	4.37					
MDAS	T1	2	30	6	15	24	14.73	4.26	F=4,436	0.015*	0.093	G3 <g2< td=""><td>0.011</td></g2<>	0.011
		3	30	6	11.5	20	11.57	3.71					
		1	30	5	14	21	12.53	4.06					
	T2	2	30	6	12	19	11.87	2.99	X <sup>2</sup> =3,532	0.171	0.018		
		3	30	5	11	18	10.67	3.91					
		1	30	3	5	9	5.23	1.96				6264	
	Т0	2	30	2	3	8	3.87	1.61	X <sup>2</sup> =11,489	0.003*	0.109	63<61	0.023*
		3	30	2	3	9	3.73	1.68				02 < 01	
		1	30	2	5	8	5.2	1.92				62 -61	
APAIS-A	T1	2	30	2	4	10	3.97	1.87	X <sup>2</sup> =15,155	0*	0.151	62<61	0.010*
		3	30	2	3	8	3.4	1.75				02 -01	
		1	30	2	5	10	4.97	1.99				(2-(1	
	T2	2	30	2	4	7	3.7	1.32	X <sup>2</sup> =20,336	0*	0.210	63<61	0.000*
		3	30	2	2	6	2.93	1.36					
		1	30	3	5	10	5.9	2.14					
	Т0	2	30	2	6	10	5.77	1.92	X <sup>2</sup> =7,674	0.022*	0.065	G3 <g2< td=""><td></td></g2<>	
		3	30	2	5	10	4.53	2.03					
		1	30	2	5	10	5.73	2.36					
APAIS-B	T1	2	30	2	6	10	6.6	2.04	F=6,057	0.003*	0.122	G3 <g2< td=""><td>0.002*</td></g2<>	0.002*
		3	30	2	5	8	4.77	1.65					
		1	30	2	5	10	5.27	2.24					
	T2	2	30	2	5	10	4.93	1.86	X <sup>2</sup> =5.43	0.066	0.039		
		3	30	2	4	10	4.13	2.11					
		1	30	2	4	9	4.8	1.83					
	Т0	2	30	2	5	8	5.27	1.48	X <sup>2</sup> =4,882	0.087	0.033		
		3	30	2	4.5	9	4.47	1.96					
		1	30	2	4	10	4.87	2.11	_				
APAIS-C	T1	2	30	2	6	10	5.7	1.8	X <sup>2</sup> =6,527	0.038*	0.052	G3 <g2< td=""><td>0.015*</td></g2<>	0.015*
		3	30	2	4	10	4.63	1.99					
		1	30	2	4	10	4.73	2.03	_				
	T2	2	30	2	5	8	5.1	1.52	X <sup>2</sup> =8,298	0.016*	0.072	G3 <g2< td=""><td>0.010*</td></g2<>	0.010*
		3	30	2	4	10	4	2.24					
	TO	1	30	32	45.5	51	45.03	4.56	10.0.100	0.201	0.012		
	10	2	30	39	4/	56	47.1	4.25	X²=3,182	0.204	0.013		
STAI-2		3	30	32	44.5	5/	44.93	5.63					
	TC	1	30	39	45	66	45.67	4.46	N2 0 5 10	0.761			
	11	2	30	40	46	56	46.03	3.66	X-=0.546	0.761	0.002		
	3	3	30	36	45.5	80	46.83	7.92					

F: Analysis of variance, X<sup>2</sup>: Friedman test, \*p<0.05, Min.: Minimum, Max.: Maximum, SD: Standard deviation, MDAS: Modified Dental Anxiety Scale, APAIS: Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale, STAI: State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

for age- and sex-specific anxiety. With the development of technology and the increase in screen use from an early age, the effect of animated videos on DA in children requires further study.

#### Study Limitations

In this study, the patient population was limited to individuals aged 18-40 years, as those with any previous dental surgery experience were excluded from the study. As previously reported, earlier dental experiences can affect the anxiety level of patients.<sup>31</sup> Although dental surgery might not be performed, patients can experience a fear of anesthesia and rotary instruments during other dental procedures. This fear might have caused differences in the answers to the scales, especially about anesthesia, which is a limitation of the study.

## CONCLUSION

Although it was determined in the study that three different types of information led to a decrease in the general anxiety level of patients, the superiority of animated videos in reducing anxiety levels before an operation should be taken into consideration. Testing this method with different operations and techniques could help reduce DA in patients.

## MAIN POINTS

- Animated videos can be a useful technique to reduce dental anxiety (DA).
- The development of animated videos can influence and improve the dialogue between patients and doctors.
- With the development of technology and the increase in screen use from an early age, the effect of animated videos on DA in children requires further study.

## ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** the Ankara University Faculty of Dentistry Local Ethics Committee approved this retrospective study (approval number: 36290600/20, date: 08.03.2018).

**Informed Consent:** Patients were informed about the study and procedure, and a written informed consent form was provided by the preoperative evaluation clinic.

#### Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Concept: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Design: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Data Collection and/or Processing: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Analysis and/or Interpretation: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Literature Search: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B., Writing: M.E.Y., M.Ö., E.P.B.

## DISCLOSURES

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

**Financial Disclosure:** The authors declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

 Yusa H, Onizawa K, Hori M, Takeda S, Takeda H, Fukushima S, et al. Anxiety measurements in university students undergoing third molar extraction. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2004; 98(1): 23-7.

- 2. Kazancioglu HO, Tek M, Ezirganli S, Demirtas N. Does watching a video on third molar surgery increase patients' anxiety level? Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2015; 119(3): 272-7.
- Sirin Y, Humphris G, Sencan S, Firat D. What is the most fearful intervention in ambulatory oral surgery? Analysis of an outpatient clinic. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012; 41(10): 1284-90.
- Coulthard P, Bailey E, Esposito M, Furness S, Renton TF, Worthington HV. Surgical techniques for the removal of mandibular wisdom teeth. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014; 29(7): CD004345.
- Gordon D, Heimberg RG, Tellez M, Ismail AI. A critical review of approaches to the treatment of dental anxiety in adults. J Anxiety Disord. 2013; 27(4): 365-78.
- Muglali M, Komerik N. Factors related to patients' anxiety before and after oral surgery. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2008; 66(5): 870-7.
- 7. Elter JR, Strauss RP, Beck JD. Assessing dental anxiety, dental care use and oral status in older adults. J Am Dent Assoc. 1997; 128(5): 591-7.
- Humphris GM, Freeman R, Campbell J, Tuutti H, D'Souza V. Further evidence for the reliability and validity of the Modified Dental Anxiety Scale. Int Dent J. 2000; 50(6): 367-70.
- 9. Ong CKS, Seymour RA, Tan JMH. Sedation with midazolam leads to reduced pain after dental surgery. Anesth Analg. 2004; 98(5): 1289-93.
- Humphris GM, Morrison T, Lindsay SJ. The Modified Dental Anxiety Scale: validation and United Kingdom norms. Community Dent Health. 1995; 12(3): 143-50.
- Mendola P, O'Shea RM, Zielezny MA, Thines TJ, Corah NL. Validity and reliability of the interval scale of anxiety response. Anesth Prog. 1987; 34(6): 202-6.
- Toledano-Serrabona J, Sánchez-Torres A, Camps-Font O, Figueiredo R, Gay-Escoda C, Valmaseda-Castellón E. Effect of an Informative Video on Anxiety and Hemodynamic Parameters in Patients Requiring Mandibular Third Molar Extraction: A Randomized Clinical Trial. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2020; 78(11): 1933-41.
- Choi S-H, Won J-H, Cha J-Y, Hwang C-J. Effect of Audiovisual Treatment Information on Relieving Anxiety in Patients Undergoing Impacted Mandibular Third Molar Removal. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2015; 73(11): 2087-92.
- Omezli MM, Torul D, Kahveci K. Does Watching Videos Increase the Perioperative Anxiety in Patients Undergoing Third Molar Surgery? A Randomized Trial. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2020; 78(2): 216.
- Sancak KT, Akal ÜK. Effect of Verbal and Written Information and Previous Surgical Experience on Anxiety During Third Molar Extraction. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2019; 77(9): 1769.
- Humphris GM, Clarke HMM, Freeman R. Does completing a dental anxiety questionnaire increase anxiety? A randomised controlled trial with adults in general dental practice. Br Dent J. 2006; 201(1): 33-5.
- Tunc EP, Firat D, Onur OD, Sar V. Reliability and validity of the Modified Dental Anxiety Scale (MDAS) in a Turkish population. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 2005; 33(5): 357-62.
- Ilgüy D, Ilgüy M, Dinçer S, Bayirli G. Reliability and validity of the Modified Dental Anxiety Scale in Turkish patients. J Int Med Res. 2005; 33(2): 252-9.
- Moerman N, van Dam FS, Muller MJ, Oosting H. The Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS). Anesth Analg. 1996; 82(3): 445-51.
- 20. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand. 1983; 67(6): 361-70.
- Spielberger CD, Gonzalez-Reigosa F, Martinez-Urrutia A, Natalicio LF, Natalicio DS. Development of the Spanish edition of the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Interamerican Journal of Psychology. 1971; 5(3-4): 145-58.

- Jlala HA, French JL, Foxall GL, Hardman JG, Bedforth NM. Effect of preoperative multimedia information on perioperative anxiety in patients undergoing procedures under regional anaesthesia. Br J Anaesth. 2010; 104(3): 369-74.
- 23. Ruffinengo C, Versino E, Renga G. Effectiveness of an informative video on reducing anxiety levels in patients undergoing elective coronarography: an RCT. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs. 2009; 8(1): 57-61.
- Brasileiro BF, de Bragança RMF, Van Sickels JE. An evaluation of patients' knowledge about perioperative information for third molar removal. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2012; 70(1): 12-8.
- Schuurs AH, Hoogstraten J. Appraisal of dental anxiety and fear questionnaires: a review. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol. 1993; 21(6): 329-39.
- Arasa LA, Figueiredo R, Castellón EV, Escoda CG. Patient anxiety and surgical difficulty in impacted lower third molar extractions: a prospective cohort study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2014; 43(9): 1131-6.
- 27. Akomolafe AG, Fatusi OA, Folayan MO, Mosaku KS, Adejobi AF, Njokanma AR. Relationship Between Types of Information, Dental Anxiety, and

Postoperative Pain Following Third Molar Surgery: A Randomized Study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2023; 81(3): 329-36.

- Laskin DM, Priest JH, Alfaqih S, Carrico CK. Does Viewing a Third Molar Informed Consent Video Decrease Patients' Anxiety? J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2018; 76(12): 2515-7.
- Abukaraky A, Hamdan A-A, Ameera M-N, Nasief M, Hassona Y. Quality of YouTube TM videos on dental implants. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2018; 23(4): 463-8.
- Tou S, Tou W, Mah D, Karatassas A, Hewett P. Effect of preoperative twodimensional animation information on perioperative anxiety and knowledge retention in patients undergoing bowel surgery: a randomized pilot study. Colorectal Dis. 2013; 15(5): 256-65.
- Tanidir AN, Atac MS, Karacelebi E. Information given by multimedia: influence on anxiety about extraction of impacted wisdom teeth. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg. 2016; 54(6): 652-7.

DOI: 10.4274/cjms.2024.2024-47 Cyprus | Med Sci 2024;9(5):375-379



# Efficacy and Safety of Sacral Neuromodulation in Patients with Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction: A Five-Year **Experience in North Cyprus**

# Necmi Bayraktar

Department of Urology, Dr. Burhan Nalbantoğlu State Hospital, Nicosia, North Cyprus

# Abstract

BACKGROUND/AIMS: Sacral neuromodulation (SNM) therapy is a well-tolerated treatment modality for voiding dysfunctions. The aim of this study was to evaluate the efficacy and safety of SNM in patients with voiding dysfunction in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC) and to share our current experience.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: This retrospective study included a cohort of 39 patients who received SNM treatment between April 2018 and December 2023. Patients diagnosed with urinary retention and bladder overactivity were included in the study. History of the disease and etiologies, urinalysis, residual voiding volume, voiding diaries, global response assessment scale, and complications in response to treatment were analyzed.

**RESULTS:** The study included 39 participants (27 females and 12 males, with a mean age of 60.2±10.9 years. Overall, the treatment success rate was 65.7%. The average duration for implanting leads was 40.8±7.9 minutes. There were no reported cases of infection. However, electrode migration occurred in 2.8% of cases, and device-related pain occurred in 10.3%. The post-void residual volume in patients with urinary retention decreased from >200 mL to <100 mL following treatment. The typical number of urinary incontinence episodes among patients with OAB was  $5\pm 2$  per day, which significantly decreased to  $2.6\pm 1.27$  per day following treatment.

CONCLUSION: SNM is a reliable and safe treatment method for patients who are suitable for this treatment. In TRNC, the necessary infrastructure and technical support are available to treat and monitor patients and manage potential complications. However, to achieve higher success rates and more robustly analyzed treatment outcomes, multicenter randomized trials and studies with larger sample sizes are required.

Keywords: Lower urinary tract symptoms, overactive bladder syndrome, sacral neuromodulation, urinary retention, voiding dysfunction

# INTRODUCTION

Sacral neuromodulation (SNM) is an innovative treatment for lower urinary and bowel dysfunction that differs from conventional therapies.<sup>1,2</sup> This minimally invasive treatment involves electrical stimulation of the sacral nerves to restore pelvic organ function. This treatment modality has been successfully applied in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC) in the last 5 years, and a patient cohort has been established.

The development of SNM can be traced back to the early 1980s. Tanagho and Schmidt's<sup>3</sup> groundbreaking contributions laid the foundation for this field, showcasing the therapeutic potential of electrical stimulation of sacral nerve roots in treating urinary incontinence. The same stimuli affect neural pathways that govern fundamental processes, including urinary and fecal retention, and have demonstrated efficacy in treating dysfunctional conditions. Nevertheless, the precise mechanism of action underlying SNM remains uncertain despite conjecture and speculation.

To cite this article: Bayraktar N. Efficacy and Safety of Sacral Neuromodulation in Patients with Lower Urinary Tract Dysfunction: A Five-Year Experience in North Cyprus. Cyprus J Med Sci. 2024;9(5):375-379

ORCID IDs of the authors: N.B. 0000-0001-6449-9216.



Address for Correspondence: Necmi Bayraktar E-mail: nbavraktar@ciu.edu.tr ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-6449-9216

Received: 16.05.2024 Accepted: 09.08.2024

Copyright<sup>©</sup> 2024 The Author. Published by Galenos Publishing House on behalf of Cyprus Turkish Medical Association. This is an open access article under the Creative Commons AttributionNonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) License. In contrast, rather than directly stimulating the detrusor or urethral sphincter for motor purposes, it is posited to influence spinal cord reflexes and cerebral involvement by modulating afferent signaling. The widely accepted theory suggests that SNM blocks or disrupts afferent input to the sacral spinal cord, thereby inhibiting detrusor overactivity and ultimately relieving urinary frequency and urgency symptoms. Since then, technological advances and clinical research have focused on expanding the efficacy and applications of this method.

### Experience in the North Cyprus

SNM therapy has been sanctioned by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) since 1997, and over two hundred thousand patients have been implanted with it.4 SNM is a treatment modality that has been used for more than 375,000 patients worldwide. Healthcare advancements in TRNC are commensurate to those in the Republic of Türkiye. Reimbursement approval for SNM was granted to Türkiye's healthcare system in 2007. During the years 2007-2013, there was a transitional period for reimbursement, but the path was subsequently cleared for this treatment approach.<sup>5</sup> In 2016, a local distributor and a medical company providing technical support began operations in the field of SNM in the TRNC, resulting in the establishment of appropriate conditions. Consequently, the first SNM for bladder overactivity was performed in 2018. Subsequently, it was applied in tens of cases of TRNC in the field of urology due to overactive bladder (OAB) and urinary retention, and in the field of general surgery, it was used once in the treatment of fecal incontinence.

Our research focused on patients receiving minimally invasive SNM for urologic problems in TRNC. The aim of our study was to evaluate the efficacy and reliability of SNM in patients with voiding dysfunction and to investigate their concordance with the literature.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Study Design

This retrospective study included a cohort of 39 patients who received SNM therapy between April 2018 and December 2023 in North Cyprus. The patients were diagnosed with urinary retention and OAB. The study collected a range of information, including a detailed history of the disease, urinalysis, post-voiding residual urine, voiding diary, specific evaluations (such as the OAB symptom score, number of urinary incontinence, number of pads, number of catheterizations, and residual urine amount measured by the catheter), global response assessment scale, and etiologies of all patients.

\*Urodynamics study results were not included in the dataset.

\*Urodynamic evaluation may help identify and direct therapeutic interventions for patients with OAB and urinary retention. Nevertheless, it is not typically advised before SNM. In our series, urodynamic assessments were not conducted in all patients; thus, their outcomes were not considered in the study.

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

Patients without sex discrimination or an age limit were included in the study. The presence of neurogenic disorders or diabetes mellitus did not hinder patient participation. Only patients aged 18 years were excluded. During patient selection, patients with mental and psychological

disorders who might have follow-up problems were not offered SNM treatment. For male patients, the exclusion criteria included concurrent or known benign prostatic hyperplasia, as well as active or inactive urinary tract calculi in both sexes. Furthermore, the presence of either functional or anatomical urethral stricture, which represents intravesical obstruction in both males and females, was considered sufficient for the exclusion of participants from the study.

## Ethical Considerations

Patients were informed of the surgical procedure and provided consent forms prior to treatment initiation. This study adhered to the ethical guidelines established by the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital (approval number: 20/24).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the characteristic features. Categorical data were expressed as numbers (n) and percentages, whereas quantitative data were presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Categorical variables were compared using the chi-square test between groups if the groups were independent. For all statistical analyses, a p-value 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data analysis was performed using SPSS Windows, version 28.0.

### **Treatment and Follow-up Protocols**

All patients received SNM treatment in two phases, with an Interstim<sup>™</sup> II. Before 2021, the tined lead electrode was not MRI-compatible. In the first stage, the treatment effect was evaluated using an external pulse-generating device. The initial test phase was performed using prophylactic antibiotics under sedation and in the prone position. The position and covering of the patient are such that the anus and bilateral feet are clearly visible and observable. For entry, the appropriate entry point is marked bilaterally under 90-degree fluoroscopic guidance. After the most important stage for navigation is achieved, local anesthesia is provided using prilocaine for the marked points (A path is followed in accordance with the H technique described by Matzel).<sup>6</sup> Fluoroscopy (C-Arm) was performed at an angle of 180°, and the access needle was inserted into sacral 3 foramen under sagittal imaging at an angle of 60°. Subsequently, the muscles around the anus were observed to contract simultaneously during plantar flexion or flexion of the thumb on the same side, following external electrical stimulation. In the event of an undesirable response or omission of input, the input point is altered, and the optimal response is pursued. We strived to provide responses below 2 mA in magnitude. After ensuring the location of the needle, the guidewire was sent. Subsequently, the tract was dilated and a 4-pole electrode was inserted. The initial phase, known as the test period, extends over a duration-2-3 weeks. In cases in which patients exhibited a benefit of 50% or more during this phase, the permanent implantation phase commenced. The following implantable pulse generator (IPG) implantation, patients were regularly monitored through clinical evaluations. The occurrence of wound infection, pain at the wound site, reflected pain, electrode migration, and shifts in the benefit rate have all been documented. Therefore, adjustments or complexities that may arise in subsequent appointments could necessitate therapeutic interventions, program alterations, or IPG removal.

## RESULTS

The study included 27 female and 12 male patients. The average age was  $60.2\pm10.9$  years, with the youngest patient being 33 years old and the oldest being 86 years old. The mean body mass index (BMI) of the participants was  $26.96\pm3.1$ . Seven patients received treatment for urinary retention and 32 for an OAB. In 31 patients, the underlying etiology was idiopathic, whereas in eight patients, it was neurological (three patients with multiple sclerosis, four patients with spinal cord trauma, and one multiple spinal disc hernia operation). The distribution of leads was 26 on the right side and 13 on the left. The average time for lead placement was  $40.8\pm7.9$  minutes, and the first stage assessment was conducted  $16.7\pm3.2$  days after placement. Table 1 summarizes the patient characteristics according to indication.

Three patients underwent tined-lead electrode removal due to unsuccessful treatment outcomes. Of the patients who underwent lead electrode removal in the first stage, two had neurologic etiology, and one had idiopathic etiology. In 2 patients with neurogenic etiology, urinary retention was indicated, whereas the other patient received SNM treatment for OAB. The remaining 36 patients were treated with permanent IPG. While monitoring these patients, several complications arose, including battery failure in one patient (2.8%) and restless leg syndrome in another patient, at a rate of 2.8%. Furthermore, four patients experienced pain and discomfort at the time of IPG implantation. The IPG of the patient with battery failure was replaced with local anesthesia. The revised program for patients with restless legs syndrome resolved these complications. Two patients who experienced pain at the IPG site underwent IPG removal. Before treatment initiation, seven individuals diagnosed with OAB exhibited a recurrent history of urinary tract infections. Five of the patients no longer experienced recurrent tract infections after treatment. The remaining two patients are currently receiving antibiotic suppression therapy. The mean number of urinary incontinence episodes in patients with OAB was  $5\pm 2$  per day, which decreased to  $2.6\pm 1.27$  per day following treatment. This decrease was statistically significant. According to our data, among patients with urinary retention, two individuals had a postvoid residual volume of >200 mL, while two others had a 150-200 mL volume. All patients showed significant improvement after treatment, with a post-void residual volume of 100 mL. No patient required clean intermittent catheterization before or after surgery. One patient who rarely experienced stress incontinence was cured.

The overall success rate was 65.7% for all patients who underwent SNM and were followed up. Of the patients who were followed up and treated with IPG, 30 had OAB and 4 had urinary retention at baseline. The treatment success rates were 65.8% and 65.25% for patients with OAB and urinary retention, respectively. There were no statistically significant differences in the success rates between the diagnoses of OAB and urinary retention. A significant difference (p<0.05) was observed in the comparison of the global response assessment before and after treatment between the OAB and urinary retention groups. In the evaluation of the 39 patients included in the study, age (0.07) and indication (0.37) had a significant effect on treatment outcomes, as determined by the linear regression test. Our model indicates that the indications for surgery and age play significant roles in predicting postoperative outcomes, whereas sex, BMI, and etiology did not show a significant effect in our patient cohort.

One patient required battery replacement throughout the monitoring period because of battery depletion at 42 months. One female patient (the youngest among them) turned off her IPG due to pregnancy. The following delivery, she reported no OAB symptoms and continued to be monitored while in the off position.

## DISCUSSION

SNM therapy has been approved by the FDA for the treatment of refractory OAB syndrome and urinary retention.<sup>7,8</sup> Additionally, it has been used for off-label purposes, such as chronic pelvic pain and sexual dysfunction.<sup>8,9</sup> SNM therapy is not a conventional treatment method, and as a result, it is both intriguing and controversial for physicians and patients alike. Despite potential complications, SNM therapy is generally well tolerated and has promising success rates compared with medical and surgical treatments. In line with international guidelines, SNM therapy has been used as a third-line treatment for resistant dysfunctional voiding in the TRNC since 2018. Our patient series showed that OAB accounted for 82.1% of the cases and urinary retention accounted for 17.9%. The patient selection tended to follow a ratio of approximately 4:1 for OAB and urinary retention.

The fact that the durability of SNM treatment was extended to 60 months indicates that it is advantageous in terms of cost-effectiveness.<sup>2</sup> In our research, the inability to conduct a 60-month follow-up period

Table 1. Patient characteristics according to indications										
Overactive bladder syndrome		Urinary retention								
Variable	Value	Variable	Value							
Total number of patients										
Sex, n (%)										
- Male	8 (25%)	- Male	4 (57.1%)							
- Female	24 (75%)	- Female	3 (42.8%)							
Age (years)	59.4	Age (years)	60							
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	26.8	BMI (kg/m2)	27.7							
Etiology, n (%)										
- Idiopathic	27 (84.3%)	- Idiopathic	5 (71.4%)							
- Neurogenic	5 (15.6%)	- Neurogenic	2 (28.5%)							
Follow-up (months)	29 (6-51)	Follow-up (months)	24 (4-35)							
BMI: Body mass index.										

precluded us from conducting this assessment. Nonetheless, battery replacement was required in one patient (2.9%) during the follow-up period, which lasted for 42 months. Pretreatment anxiety often includes the need for repeated surgical interventions. The integration of long-lasting batteries and wireless charging technologies into these devices will increase their cost-effectiveness and reduce patient anxiety.

In the treatment of OAB, the improvement in symptoms from SNM reported in case series and randomized trials ranges from 64% to 88%.<sup>10</sup> In our study, the improvement in OAB was 65.8%, which is consistent with the findings reported in the literature. However, although recovery rates of 45-50% have been reported for urinary retention,<sup>11</sup> a higher rate of 65.25% was found in our study. The rationale for this conclusion can be defended by the careful selection of indications to identify subgroups. Nevertheless, in our view, the reason lies in the fact that our series consisted of only four patients, leading to a random outcome. It is worth mentioning that most patients who did not show improvement experienced urinary retention.

Infection at the site of IPG is noted in the literature, with a rate ranging between 8-11%.<sup>12,13</sup> The overall complication rate was 17.9%. Pain at the IPG site was 12.8%, whereas infection at the IPG site was not observed. This may be explained by the perioperative use of prophylactic antibiotics and their maintenance during the postoperative period. Technically, no different methods are used during IPG site preparation and IPG implantation.

Tined lead electrode dislocation or migration varies between 12% and 16% in the literature. In this study, tined lead electrode migration requiring revision was observed in only one patient (2.9%). Following a successful revision, the patient who developed complications was still receiving SNM treatment and benefited from this treatment (Figures 1,2). We believe that the disparity with the existing research can be primarily attributed to the small sample size of patients and the use of only tined lead electrodes.

The necessity for revisions during SNM treatment for patients, particularly in extensive series, occurs because of several factors. However, despite its effectiveness, safety, and well-tolerated nature, the need for revisions remains high.<sup>14,15</sup> In our series, revision rates were somewhat lower. The assessment suggests that the rigidity of patient selection and the comparatively shallow depth of patient selection diminish the necessity for revision. Consequently, as the number of our patients increases and our indications broaden, the number of individuals who may require revision may also increase. Hence, the divergence of our findings from the literature, particularly concerning complications, can be attributed to our restricted sample and the criteria employed in patient selection.

#### Study Limitations

This study has some limitations that should be considered. First, the retrospective study design may have influenced the results. Second, the small sample size and lack of homogeneity among the participants were factors that could affect the outcomes. Moreover, the absence of long-term follow-up and insufficient in-depth patient selection are additional limitations of the present study. The need for larger multicenter studies to further investigate the results and compare them with those of other studies is also highlighted.



**Figure 1.** Migration of tined lead electrode. Note: The migration of the tined lead electrode (indicated by the blue arrow) can be visually monitored along with the fluoroscopic image of the newly implanted lead electrode (identified by the black arrow).



**Figure 2.** 3D computed tomography images of SNM. Note: 3D computed tomography image showing the appearance following successful lead electrode revision (white).

SNM: Sacral neuromodulation

## CONCLUSION

Based on our findings, we conclude that SNM is safe and effective for suitable patients. The necessary infrastructure and technical support required to treat, monitor, and manage potential complications in patients are currently available, and TRNC's success rate for urinary retention is close to the success rate in OAB syndrome, according to our patient series. Undoubtedly, multicenter studies that incorporate control groups and larger sample sizes are necessary to achieve higher success rates and more robust analyses of treatment outcomes.

#### MAIN POINTS

- Efficacy and safety: Sacral neuromodulation (SNM) has been evaluated as an effective and safe treatment modality for patients with voiding dysfunction in the North Cyprus. The results demonstrate high success rates for managing both urinary retention and overactive bladder, with an overall effectiveness rate of 65.7%.
- Implementation and follow-up: SNM therapy consists of a two-step process: Initially, the effectiveness of the treatment is assessed with the help of an external pulse generator, followed by permanent implantation in patients who show a positive response. Regular follow-up appointments and proper technique programing primarily influence treatment success and the management of complications.
- Infrastructure and technical support: The necessary infrastructure and technical support for SNM are well established in the North Cyprus, facilitating the application of this treatment.
- Recommendations and future research: This study not only represents the first instance of collecting data from patients with voiding dysfunction in the North Cyprus, but it also contributes to the development of future research and patient groups. Furthermore, broadening the scope of the study's indications and conducting joint multicenter research could increase the number of patients who could benefit from these efforts.

#### ETHICS

**Ethics Committee Approval:** This study adhered to the ethical guidelines established by the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of Dr. Burhan Nalbantoglu State Hospital (approval number: 20/24).

**Informed Consent:** Patients were informed of the surgical procedure and provided consent forms prior to treatment initiation.

#### DISCLOSURES

**Financial Disclosure:** The author declared that this study had received no financial support.

## REFERENCES

- Patton V, Wiklendt L, Arkwright JW, Lubowski DZ, Dinning PG. The effect of sacral nerve stimulation on distal colonic motility in patients with faecal incontinence. Br J Surg. 2013; 100(7): 959-68.
- Siegel S, Noblett K, Mangel J, Bennett J, Griebling TL, Sutherland SE, et al. Five-year followup results of a prospective, multicenter study of patients with overactive bladder treated with sacral neuromodulation. J Urol. 2018; 199(1): 229-36.
- 3. Tanagho EA, Schmidt RA. Electrical stimulation in the clinical management of the neurogenic bladder. J Urol. 1988; 140(6): 1331-9.
- Noblett K. Neuromodulation and female pelvic disorders. Curr Opin Urol. 2016; 26(4): 321-7.
- Umut Kütükoğlu M, Altuntaş T, Şahin B, Onur AR. Sacral neuromodulation treatment for urinary voiding dysfunctions: results of treatment with the largest single-center series in a tertiary referral center in Turkey. Turk J Med Sci. 2023; 53(1): 211-7.
- Matzel KE, Chartier-Kastler E, Knowles CH, Lehur PA, Muñoz-Duyos A, Ratto C, et al. Sacral neuromodulation: standardized electrode placement technique. Neuromodulation. 2017; 20(8): 816-24.
- Siegel SW, Moeller SE. Sacral Neuromodulation Intervtim for the Treatment of Overactive Bladder. Female Urology E-Book: Text with DVD. 2008: 266.
- Laviana A, Jellison F, Kim JH. Sacral neuromodulation for refractory overactive bladder, interstitial cystitis, and painful bladder syndrome. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2014; 25(1): 33-46.
- Greig J, Mak Q, Furrer MA, Sahai A, Raison N. Sacral neuromodulation in the management of chronic pelvic pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurourol Urodyn. 2023; 42(4): 822-36.
- Banakhar MA, Al-Shaiji T, Hassouna M. Sacral neuromodulation and refractory overactive bladder: an emerging tool for an old problem. Ther Adv Urol. 2012; 4(4): 179-85.
- 11. Jairam R, Marcelissen T, van Koeveringe G, van Kerrebroeck P. Optimal lead positioning in sacral neuromodulation: which factors are related to treatment outcome? Neuromodulation. 2017; 20(8): 830-5.
- Kavvadias T, Huebner M, Brucker SY, Reisenauer C. Management of devicerelated complications after sacral neuromodulation for lower urinary tract disorders in women: a single center experience. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2017; 295(4): 951-7.
- 13. Wexner SD, Hull T, Edden Y, Coller JA, Devroede G, McCallum R, et al. Infection rates in a large investigational trial of sacral nerve stimulation for fecal incontinence. J Gastrointest Surg. 2010; 14(7): 1081-9.
- 14. Gandhi S, Gajewski JB, Koziarz A, Almutairi S, Ali A, Cox A. Long-term outcomes of sacral neuromodulation for lower urinary tract dysfunction: A 23-year experience. Neurourol Urodyn. 2021; 40(1): 461-9.
- Tilborghs S, De Wachter S. Sacral neuromodulation for the treatment of overactive bladder: systematic review and future prospects. Expert Rev Med Devices. 2022; 19(2): 161-87.